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Financial Summary

R

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF fBS 2 miExR
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=+—ALFE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZZEoFF ZE-NEF ZE-N\F 2T —+F ZT—RF
RMB’ 000
AREFTT
Revenue WA 212,260 356,828 760,103 729,624 509,732
Gross profit =7 96,479 222,633 599,450 461,098 270,450
(Loss)/profit from operations e (BR),SEH (500,233) (467,692) 150,988 172,448 (42,541)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRETS BRI (E51R),
S (471,908)  (473,754) 523,555  (873,098) (966,744)
(Loss)/profit for the year FEF(ER) R (470,906) (494,451) 526,227  (911,138) (934,539)
Total comprehensive expense FEANEERX B
for the year (601,579) (453,972) (126,385) (919,199) (927,373)
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF A& HB BN K
FINANCIAL POSITION
Year ended December 31,
HE+-_A=+—HI=FE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
TECEF ZE-NEF ZE-N\F ZT—+F ZT—RF
RMB’ 000
AREFTT
Assets EE
Non-current assets IERBEE 429,583 391,714 134,616 78,627 100,832
Current assets MENVE B 2,012,451 2,662,441 3,526,320 1,118,732 3,787,940
Total assets BEBER 2,442,034 3,054,155 3,660,936 1,197,359 3,888,772
Equity and liabilities EEkAE
Equity attributable to the equity ~— ANATIEZSIEHR
shareholders of the Company FEfh 2,311,864 2,914,631 3,451,521 (4,395,620) (640,081)
Total equity AR 2,314,754 2,918,203 3,455,648 (4,395,620) (640,081)
Non-current liabilities EMBEE 2,643 12,371 61 5,253,072 4,206,417
Current liabilities wRBBE 124,637 123,581 205,227 339,907 322,436
Total liabilities BERE 127,280 135952 205,288 5,592,979 4,528,853
Total equity and liabilities EmkBEETE 2,442,034 3,054,155 3,660,936 1,197,359 3,888,772
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of BabyTree Group (the
“Company’), | am pleased to present the annual report of the Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended December 31,
2020.

B ERHAR

RAABREEEHER (X2 EFe([E
E®)) ASUBRRERMAZ|MAR R REN B
AR AE@DEBEE-E_TF+-A=1+—
HIEFEZFERE -

KEY OPERATIONAL DATA FTEREEHIE
Year ended December 31, Year on year
BZE+-A=1t—HLEE change (%)
2020 2019 Elsd
—E-F —T-NF HE)(%)

(in millions)

(B &)
Average total MAUs T AIEREF A 91.2 139.3 (34.5)
— mobile apps @ —BEERETe 229 24.5 6.5)
- PC and WAP —PCim X WAPH 68.3 114.8 (40.5)

(%)
Second-day retention rate @ RABFERS 50.7 48.4 2.3
Notes: BfRE -

(1) “MAU” is the acronym for “monthly active user”, calculated by counting the (1) [AGEBRAF |IWETHE - MBI EHEE A HRE

number of active users during the calendar month in question. The number of
MAUSs of our mobile apps is tracked and calculated by Umeng (/= 83), a third-
party data tracking service provided by Beijing Ruixunlingtong Technology Co.,
Ltd bR AT BRI AR 2 7). The number of our PC and WAP MAUSs is
tracked and calculated by us internally, using the number of unique cookies (a
commonly used tracking code) recorded by the Internet browsers that access
such website at least once during the calendar month.

) “Mobile Apps” refers to BabyTree Parenting and other apps.

(©)] “Second-day retention rate” refers to the percentage of active users on
BabyTree Parenting that remained active users in the second day. The number
of second-day retention rate is tracked and calculated by QuestMobile, a third-
party data tracking service provided by Beijing Guishi Information Technology
Limited (3t R & +15 SRHAER A R)).

4) Represents the difference between the second-day retention rate in 2020 and
the second-day retention rate in 2019.

BAPHWHBERE - RMBHEAREFHNAE
BRPHEHRRKBEERHAEBRRAERAFIE
S = 77 BURIRMURTS ) R Bt T E - FAPIRIPC
B AMWAPE A % B P 208 MR BB E R
AEMZE D5 MZ AW — R E SRR B AR
# B8 Bcookies (— & A RHEACHS ) O BB IR ML 2
E -

@ [BBEBEFIREEHZ2EREGBIYEMARE
o

@ [XEBGX|EEEHZENIRBFRAH
MAETRAFPONES - XABEFXRHFTH
QuestMobile Rt 25T+ QuestMobile &1L R E
EERHRER R AHRHR E =5 HUERUEARTS -

AN _TEFRABGXE_T-NFRER
GFERZZE-

FEHRE 2020 | HHEHKE
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

KEY FINANCIAL DATA

TRMHEE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1t—HLEE

Year on year
change (%)

2020 2019 [FILt
—z-% —2-ni 2 %)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%EF T ARBT T
Revenue WA 212,260 356,828 (40.5)
— Advertising —EBE 188,295 320,040 41.2)
— E-commerce — B 19,895 22,214 (10.4)
— Direct sales —EHiH 17,087 13,967 22.3
— Marketplace —¥5 2,808 8,247 (66.0)
— Others —Hh 4,070 14,574 (72.1)
Gross profit EF 96,479 222,633 (56.7)
Gross margin ERR 45.5% 62.4% (16.9)
Loss for the year FEEE N/A
(470,906) (494,451) TEA
BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (¥BEERREE

With 2020 being a year of volatility worldwide, commercial and
advertising industries witnessed tremendous downward pressure last
year. Fortunately, the national economy regained its momentum since
the second half of 2020. Meanwhile, as one of the industry leaders,
2020 turned out to be a significant year of transition for BabyTree as we
traverse these difficult times with the clear goal of “Deep-plowing and
Careful-cultivation in the Maternity and Child (“M&C”) Industry.”

Building on our dedication and efforts throughout the year, we continued
to maintain our leading position as one of the largest and most active
M&C-focused online community platforms in China by MAUs in 2020.
We further explored and undertook a number of initiatives to maintain
continual growth of our business. Set out below are the highlights of our
business in 2020 and our business outlook ahead.

Annual Report 2020 | BabyTree Group
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBESE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Holistic Traffic Ecology Layout

In the general environment where Internet users are increasingly
fragmentized and users’ attention is becoming more dispersed, the
competition for traffic import is becoming increasingly fierce, and
holistic traffic layout has become the general trend. The Company
has been adhering to the philosophy of “BabyTree is where the
users are”, and continuously pushing forward the holistic import
scene layout to deepen the enhancement of content and products,
thereby improving operational efficiency.

According to the demographic statistics issued by the Ministry of
Public Security, there were approximately 10.04 million newborn
babies in China in 2020. In 2020, in line with our Group’s overall
development strategy, we continued our dedication to brand
promotion and construction, striving to further enhance brand
recognition and credibility among our users and in the industry.

As a result of the declining birth rate in China and our strategic
plan to focus on our mobile apps development, we inevitably
experienced a decrease in our average total MAUs from 139.3
million in 2019 to 91.2 million in 2020. However, we were
encouraged by the fact that the interception rate of BabyTree
Parenting among families with newborn babies increased from
44% in 2019 to 64% in 2020, and our position in the industry had
grown steadily. BabyTree Parenting, our core-monetization mobile
app, attained positive results. The average MAUs for BabyTree
Parenting increased from 18.9 million in 2019 to 19.9 million in
2020, representing a growth of 5.3% and the market share of
BabyTree Parenting has been continuously increasing.

EKEEREE@m)

fREEREERE
EEMERPSRER NS - BFIE
TEBOIBMORRET MEALKKRES
BBHZ - 2EREMREEKAKRERR
i o ’\ﬂﬁA”EX?—rfFﬁ?’EW% B8
HEBEINRE  HEEBHZHEALS
=ME /K{KWG*HEDDH’U%?& CIRFHE
R o

RIBALZZRZZEHFOABNG  —F=
ZFEFHAOB1004BERFER - R
ToTHF ﬁﬁ$%lm¥ﬁﬁﬁﬁwv
BMEET TR mBERERERNE -
TE— RS ﬁ&%ﬁ&7¥$%m%
%%Fﬁﬁﬂo

BRFBIEAERTERE - mERMETFER
BEEAEFOEEIE - RMHFY
Hiﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%@%ﬂﬂt%f@ﬁa:ifﬂi
1393 EB THRE-T-FTFMI1.28
& o R FEMABIEFENE - BEH
ﬁgﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁm#ﬁﬁ%m_ifn
FM44% - IBAZ ZZ =T FH64% -
FMAIBTEIER - MR OERBEE ﬁ%
EFEEf2ERELIERE BEH 2
BEMTHAERAPH-_Z—NFK18.9
AEERS3%ET _FTFHI1998 S -
EEHBEENTISHEFELA -
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Holistic Traffic Ecology Layout (Continued)

As part of our holistic approach, we also achieved unprecedented
results on other social media platforms and continued to
broaden our reach to users by making available professional
M&C knowledge and information on platforms such as Douyin,
Kuaishou and WeChat to promote our brand and products
effectively. We have consistently applied our successful approach
to acquiring new users in a cost-effective manner, enhancing user
stickiness and extensively cultivating community activities, such
as our WeChat ecosystem of “Chatting Groups + Mini-Programs”
in the hope that our app products and social community traffic
can mutually benefit each other in the form of enhanced product
retention rate and effective traffic direction to social community.
As of the end of February 2021, we had more than 2,200 WeChat
Groups with over 450,000 members from 23 cities, out of which
over 35% of our members are from four first-tier cities in China.
We expect the number will continue to increase.

While we continue to extend our reach to external traffic, we also
explore opportunities to further diversify our business portfolio.
Through persistent efforts to explore community ecology, we aim
to extend our service products such as the provision of maternity
care and postnatal care center and high-quality traditional
e-commerce products, promote the level of activity and enhance
our capabilities of monetization.

Annual Report 2020 | BabyTree Group
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBESE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Holistic Traffic Ecology Layout (Continued)

Most Trusted Brand in the M&C Industry

With our 14 years’ journey of venture, we have established a
leading position as a household brand in the M&C industry in
China and the Asia Pacific region. Meanwhile, we have devoted
tremendous efforts to serving the essential needs of China’s young
families. According to a report by Nielsen in August 2020, among
the mainstream M&C or parenting apps, BabyTree Parenting
topped the list in terms of brand awareness (including top-of-
mind awareness), usability, popularity as well as recommendation
rate among the interviewees. In addition, according to a report
by BigData Research, in March 2021, as the ratio of Generation
Z mothers increases significantly, BabyTree Parenting surpasses
other competitors by a great margin in terms of brand awareness
with 93.3% of the interviewees recognizing our brand.

New Phase of Brand Upgrade

We consider brand warmth to be particularly important in the M&C
industry. For our philanthropy, in addition to our initiative of “Poverty
Reduction through Healthcare by Country Doctors” (#f 488 4 f#
FE#LE), we have launched our charity documentaries each year
since 2018, tracing changes in the living and health conditions
of mothers and children in Yongsheng County in order to draw
people’s attention to the reality of indigent areas in China and to
involve them in the cause of poverty alleviation.

In early 2021, the five-time Olympic gold medalist and the “queen
of diving”, Ms. Wu Minxia became our “Chief Parenting Officer,”
which we believe will further enhance our brand recognition
in the industry. Ms. Wu Minxia will be involved in our content
creation across several sectors including parenting, life and health,
sharing with new generation mothers the joy of raising children by
showcasing her charisma as a celebrity athlete, her professional
fitness knowledge and her personal experience of raising children.
In the second half of 2020, we also cooperated with renowned
pediatricians, including Dr. Cui Yutao. Dr Cui Yutao and her team
have, in the fourth quarter of 2020, as special parenting expert,
hosted sessions on our platform sharing scientific parenting
knowledge and tips on handling difficult situations as parents,
leading the way into the era of scientific parenting with young
parents in China.

EKEEREE@m)
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Generation Z product optimization and innovation

Our ability to keep pace with product innovation has been one of
our core advantages since the launch of BabyTree. As we continue
our 14 years’ journey of venture, a growing number of Generation
Z users began to form part of the maternal demographic. We
discovered that new generation parents have different parenting
styles, parenting behavior and parental spending as they value
individual expressions and search for diversity in terms of products.
In order to embrace new generation parents to the community, we
implemented a series of optimization and upgrade over BabyTree
Parenting so as to deliver value to new generation users, to solidify
our market position, and to further carry out holistic user traffic
layout.

Personalized in-app experience

We understand the different needs of users across the maternal
demographic, and underwent updates on our interface to enhance
user experience and retention rate. For example, our new designs
on video thumbnails enhance interaction between users. As
of December 31, 2020, over 10% of our users used our newly
introduced video thumbnail features. We have also launched
module in relation to pregnancy preparation to prolong our user
cycle as our effort to better serve the needs of the Generation
Z group. In addition, given the increasing involvement of raising
children by Generation Z fathers, we launched BabyTree Parenting
— Father Edition.

Annual Report 2020 | BabyTree Group
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Generation Z product optimization and innovation
(Continued)

Content Upgrade

With a view to continually enriching content and knowledge
collection of the entire platform, parenting content is presented
to our users in various forms and professional content covering
stages from pregnancy preparation to childcare is available on the
platform.

Our content upgrade includes presenting scientific and vivid
knowledge content as a light read to our users. We have also
added features such as recommended readings on the homepage
which rapidly build trust between users and the platform. In
addition, we have enhanced user experience in our Q&A function
by utilizing big data algorithms to ensure questions raised
by users are responded to expeditiously and offering expert
online consultation. At the same time, we have also introduced
livestreaming feature for experts to answer questions. With a series
of enhanced content and function in place, we received five times
more questions from our users and we recorded a 95% success
rate of responding to users’ questions within ten minutes. We
managed to respond to nearly 40,000 questions within 24 hours
on average, which in turn enabled us to achieve higher average
using time per user.

EKEEREE@m)
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Generation Z product optimization and innovation
(Continued)

Optimized in-app tools

We continually optimize tools available on BabyTree Parenting by
adding innovative features to cater to our users’ various needs. For
example, we newly designed and developed a nursery rhyme and
story tool, “Bao Bao Ting” (B & 2), which offers massive amount
of audios content resources by collaborating with Himalaya Media
Inc. and we achieved average playing time of over 30 minutes two
months after its launch.

Besides our unique in-app tools, we wish to satisfy young families’
needs for high-quality services based on our status as entry point
for family traffic. We therefore launched pregnancy and post-
delivery service features within our apps, aimed at providing
convenience to families and empowering a wider range of service
providers.

Launch of livestreaming function

We hope to empower the holistic traffic ecology with BabyTree
Parenting as the core through livestreaming. We launched our
M&C-specialty livestreaming channel, providing all-day webinars
and Q&A sessions by M&C experts. Approximately 5% of our users
watched our livestreaming daily on average. Apart from building
our own livestreaming channel, we also relied on other short
video platforms including WeChat and Douyin to drive community
interactions, to promote sales of M&C products, to broaden the
boundary of foreign traffic by way of content livestreaming, so
as to enhance the recognition of our advertising and marketing
schemes.

10  Annual Report 2020 | BabyTree Group
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Generation Z product optimization and innovation
(Continued)

Continuous efforts to enhance platform and mobile app
functions

The characteristics of M&C industry comprise new user base,
new traffic as well as new scenarios. We possess the capabilities
to provide comprehensive solutions based on our algorithms and
big data to accommodate the diversified needs of M&C users,
seamlessly connecting each stage of pregnancy preparation, mid-
pregnancy and post-delivery. We are able to address knowledge
fragmentation through smart aggregation of content. Through
in-depth user behavior analysis, we can explore the potential
needs of users more efficiently and carry out intelligent content
distribution.

Utilizing Cloud Technology. Our cloud platform is built to achieve
flexibility and stability to handle irregular traffic changes. We can
dynamically scale up or down our bandwidth and data resources
accordingly within a short period. In addition, our cloud technology
helps us effectively enhance our ability for data recovery and
reduce our response time to system failure, ensuring the
sustainability of our business operations.

Enhancing recommendation features. We utilize our advanced
large-scale graph model to strengthen recommendations based on
interpersonal relationships within our community, thus significantly
improving the accuracy of recommendations and user experience.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the visit depth of
increased from 10.8% to 17.7%, the information flow retention
on front page increased by 25%, and the click rate of the relevant
recommendations increased from 26.4% to 38.7%, respectively.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBESE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Generation Z product optimization and innovation
(Continued)

Continuous efforts to enhance platform and mobile app
functions (Continued)

Optimizing search function. Through overhauling our search
algorithm, we are able to structurize and systemize fragmented
knowledge based on user intention and knowledge graph. We
launched direct access card displayed as the top search result,
significantly improving the relevancy and quality of search results.
Accordingly, our customer satisfaction increased by 30% during
the year ended December 31, 2020.

Improving performance-based advertising. The upgrade of
performance-based advertising enables personalized and real-time
recommendation through search results, information flow as well
as other scenarios. It significantly enhances our traffic monetization
efficiency. The upgraded personalized advertising algorithm is
equipped with the ability to provide multi-scenario advertising
personalized real-time recommendations comprising search
engine, information flow, context, etc., which greatly improves
the efficiency of platform traffic monetization. As of December 31,
2020, our click rate has increased by more than 100%, enabling
customers to receive a considerable amount of quality leads,
thereby achieving a tri-partite win-win situation for our platform,
users and customers.

Driven by our technology-focused strategy, we will continuously
upgrade our operation and maintenance system architecture
to achieve multi-cloud system deployment. As for our users,
leveraging our algorithm upgrade, going forward, we will
continuously promote content generation and dissemination,
exploration of community topic as well as community activity level.
As for our business side, we plan to establish intra-city business
operation platform, effectively connecting client-service personnel
and sales personnel to achieve higher efficiency of operational
efficiency.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued) EBOEREE @

Focused Monetization Channels

Advertising

For the year ended December 31, 2020, we adopted a more
proactive business strategy in the second half of the year and
spent continuous efforts to expand our advertiser base and
business opportunities, yet the impact on revenue for the year from
advertising business in the first half of the year led to the decrease
of approximately 41.2% as compared to the corresponding period
in 2019 mainly due to the following: (i) the drastic decrease in
marketing budget of our advertisers, especially overseas brands
due to the impact of novel coronavirus pneumonia (“COVID-19”)
pandemic in the first half of the year and the gradual shift from
brand advertisement to performance-based advertisement; and
(i) in particular, the COVID-19 pandemic has negatively affected
the macroeconomic and led to intensified competition within the
advertising industry. We have therefore aggressively promoted
self-serve advertising service, which together with traditional
advertising service have become our duo-engine advertising
business model.

In response to the increasing competition in advertising business
and the decline in the overall macro-economic environment in
China, we implemented the following improvement strategies for
our advertising business, and we successfully achieved a better
performance in the second half of the year, our overall revenue
from advertising amounted to RMB110.701 million, represented an
increase of 42.7% as compared to the first half of the year.

Optimizing self-serve advertising service. For the year ended
December 31, 2020, revenue from self-serve advertising
service increased by 136.3% to RMB35.852 million and the
number of advertisers soared by 361% to 712 compared to
the corresponding period in 2019. During the same period, our
advertising click rate doubled, with the value per click increasing
by 73%. Due to the stable and solid parenting app user traffic,
our self-serve advertising revenue recorded an explosive increase
of 413% during 2021’s Chinese New Year compared to the
corresponding period last year.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBESE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Focused Monetization Channels (Continued)

Advertising (Continued)

We believe that self-serve advertising model will become an
important catalyst for the segment in 2021 and the future.
Through combination of our proprietary algorithms and big data
analytics, we enable targeted advertising placement, which helps
our advertisers fully utilize our industry-leading user traffic. Our
services based on leading technology can accurately identify the
period of pregnancy, location and interests of our users, and allow
our advertisers to place advertisement in multiple forms. Our self-
serve advertising service has attracted advertisers from various
categories such as maternity care services, fully covering M&C
products and slimming services. In addition, we will proactively
explore the feasibility in exerting maximum synergy with potential
e-commerce merchants in the first half of 2021.

Expanding domestic and M&C-related client base. As a result
of our effective advertising strategy in the second half of 2020,
we have secured cooperation with 124 new advertising brands,
including 65 new domestic brands. For the year ended December
31, 2020, the revenue generated from the new advertisers
amounted to approximately 49% of our revenue from advertising
business. We are committed to seizing the opportunities brought
about by the fast growth of domestic infant formula industry and
seeking strategic cooperation with reputable domestic brands
to further expand our domestic target client base. During the
second half of 2020, we further cooperated with new advertisers
from various industries such as Cadillac and GAC Toyota, which
have placed advertisement on our platform and we are glad to
see the robust recovery of our business in the second half as
compared with the first half of the year. In 2021, we will continue
to explore other M&C-related advertisers and reputable brands
with cooperation potential to expand our client base.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBESE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

3. Focused Monetization Channels (Continued)
Advertising (Continued)

Zero-to-one innovative interaction initiative. In 2020, we have
initiated multiple joint events with a domestic infant formula brand,
Junlebao (E%4%8). Through H5 mini-program, we provide hands-
on experience to mothers in creating exclusive infant formula
for their children, thereby facilitating brand recognition among

mothers.

Riding on the livestreaming trends for Generation Z. During the
second half of 2020, through the combination of “authority +
affinity” by coupling experts with KOLs' during our streaming
sessions for L'Occitane, a leading brand with a large Generation
Z user base, we are able to effectively facilitate sales and achieve

closed loop of brand awareness.

E-commerce

Despite a decrease in the number of new-born babies in 2020,
the per capita family consumption on infants increased to over
RMB5,000, recording a robust growth of 11.9% according to
BigData Research. For the year ended December 31, 2020,
revenue from self-operated e-commerce amounted to RMB19.90
million. As our cooperation with strategic shareholder did not
deliver results as expected, we are now reverting back the platform
to self-operated model. As the most trusted brand in M&C field
with high user traffic, we possess strong capabilities to accurately
identify customers’ needs and provide them with high-quality
services and products. We will implement syncretic e-commerce
strategies below to further upgrade our e-commerce business:

1 Acronym for “key opinion leaders”, the users of an Internet product who are
accepted or trusted by other users of the Internet product and can significantly

influence their decisions.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Focused Monetization Channels (Continued)

E-commerce (Continued)

M&C First Order. Through cooperation with reputable brands
within the M&C industry, we aim to provide infant formula, baby
diaper as well as other post-delivery products for new parents.
Through construction of scenario marketing, which is the frontier
for M&C brands to communicate with their clients, we are able to
help address the hassle of being new parents. Our must-have list
for first order understand the needs of and significantly improve
shopping experience for our users, which effectively increases
repurchase rate and help us penetrate every stage of family
consumption. During early 2021, we smoothly launched our first
cooperation with brands.

C2M? products. Having considered the proven track record in our
C2M products, we relaunched our C2M business in early 2021
and offer a more comprehensive M&C product portfolio. We have
set up a robust business team to work on the brand Roogee as
the starting point of our relaunched C2M business. We will deepen
our cooperation with Tmall to better satisfy the needs of our users,
make preparation for our C2M products, and enhance brand
awareness and gain the trust of our buyers to achieve higher
conversion rate on Tmall-related platform.

Enhancing self-operated e-commerce system. We have
reconstructed our self-operated e-commerce model leveraging our
high-quality user base. We will still continually strive to diversify our
offering that appeal to our users such as cosmetics and apparel
for expecting mothers, supplements and household items. During
the same period, stock-keeping units (SKUs) offered on our
e-commerce platform grew by 62.5%.

Acronym for “consumer to manufacturer”, a business model with intermediate
links between consumers and manufacturers, such as inventory, logistics, sales
and distribution, omitted to save cost.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBESE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Focused Monetization Channels (Continued)

E-commerce (Continued)

In 2020, BabyTree marketplace user’s repurchase rate reached
40.3%, and as BabyTree marketplace focuses more on product
recommendation, we optimize the interface of our marketplace
to directly introduce product selling points and prices so as to
highlight our users’ interests. We also provide users with cost-
effective shopping experience by facilitating the connection
between e-commerce and self-service advertising system to form
a closed-loop marketing chain.

Diversifying marketing channels. Leveraging our own content
advantages and product selection capabilities, we are able to
effectively utilize external traffic from other social media platforms.
In our cooperation with Douyin to host “Autumn M&C Hoarding
Festival” (£ Tk [E &), we are able to sell over 26,000
packages of HUGGIES diaper within five minutes and 500,000
children toothbrushes within 3 minutes. We also launched “Magic
Tool Day” (##&n) on double eleven day, selling must-have items
to new mothers, with a focus on low-price and practical use
product categories.

Through our distribution mechanism by social media community
on WeChat, we integrate community resources and collaborate
with major customers in terms of advertising, such as the
implementation of brand projects of advertisers such as Yikexin ({7
AT, Yili (FF]) and Abbott (35%). Based on the social relationship
chain, we will continue to strengthen the WeChat community that
centers on mother users to reach related target users and enhance
marketing efficiency.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Our Financial Resources and Outlook

Our cash and other liquid financial resources amounted to
approximately RMB1.73 billion as of December 31, 2020. Amid
the challenging business environment, our sufficient cash reserve
and liquid financial resources have provided solid support for us to
continuously maintain our leading position, upgrade our products,
implement innovative initiatives for our advertising and e-commerce
businesses, and retain and incentivize our core personnel. As a
leader in the M&C industry with robust financial resources and
with the leadership of the Board and the strategic committee
of the Board, we strive to strengthen our core competitiveness,
determine our development plans, improve our procedures for
making material investment decisions and identify investment
opportunities and acquisition projects to supplement our products
offerings and generate synergy with our existing business.

Conclusion

The year 2020 was a transitional year for BabyTree as a trusted
M&C brand. During the year, we adhered to our mission and
continued to optimize our products and services to maintain our
leading position. We remain to be solidly confident in BabyTree’s
core competitiveness and believe that we are able to sail through
adversities. We will firmly grasp our long-established and strong
fundamentals, including our stellar reputation and leading user
traffic, in order to re-energize our focused business segments.

The COVID-19 pandemic spread across the world last year, which
inevitably affected the business of BabyTree in the first half of the
year. Fortunately, our core business teams strived to press ahead
against adversities in the face of tough challenges. Starting from
the second half of last year, we have been striving for innovation,
and we were pleased to see recovery in our two core monetization
businesses. In the future, we will focus on Generation Z families
to grow our business. Meanwhile, we believe that our duo-engine
business model powered by our advertising business and M&C
e-commerce business will become the new source of momentum
for achieving strategic goals aimed at Generation Z families.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBESE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Conclusion (Continued)

Despite the challenges we encountered in 2020, we strive to
devote our efforts to implementing measures proactively in pursuit
of product optimization, broadening our reach of users, technology
upgrades and marketing channel diversification. In the future, we
will further solidify our leading advantages in the M&C industry and
continue to create value to our users and our investors.

On behalf of everyone at BabyTree Group, | would like to express
our sincere gratitude to all of our users. | would also like to thank
all our employees and management team for demonstrating
BabyTree’s core values in every day’s work, and executing the
Group’s strategy with professionalism, integrity and dedication.
| am also thankful for the continued support and trust from
our Shareholders and stakeholders. We will strive to provide
consolidated high-quality services and products to better serve
various needs of young families.

WANG Huainan
Chairman

Hong Kong
March 30, 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

== =434 13 2
B IEJE nq-nﬂﬂ &IJ *ﬁ'
Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=+—HLEE

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFT
Revenue WA 212,260 356,828
Cost of revenue D ®N (115,781) (134,195)
Gross Profit EF 96,479 222 633
Other revenue Hilg A 35,137 20,898
Other net loss H g8 558 (36,302) (35,268)
Selling and marketing expenses HE R AT (285,568) (297,846)
General and administration expenses —MRITEFAX (258,336) (266,668)
Research and development expenses e (51,643) (111,441)
Loss from operations ReEEE (500,233) (467,692)
Net finance income BRI F R 5,049 32,230

Fair value change on investments measured AR 7 BB 2 H# 8t A& HB2EH
at fair value through profit or loss KENRNREBEED 26,327 (25,880)
Share of losses of associates FE(EE & N ESE (3,051) (12,412)
Loss before taxation BRELATE 1B (471,908) (473,754)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frisfiike, (Fx) 1,002 (20,697)
Loss for the year FERE (470,906) (494,451)

Attributable to: EER

Equity shareholders of the Company RATERRR (470,262) (493,896)
Non-controlling interests FEIE SIS (644) (555)
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

REVENUE

Our total revenue decreased by 40.5% to RMB212.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020, compared to RMB356.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to a decrease in revenue from
advertising, e-commerce and others. The following table sets forth our
revenue by segment for the years indicated:

A

HREE - NAF+-_A=Z1+—HLEFEHN
BPAANRES6.8EBET - BFIRBET
ZEF+ A=+ —HBHIEFENBEKARD
405%EANREE2123FET - TEHNKER

BE - EREREMAOBRAIRD o TREHINAHA

NEREZDH

PRI EVULA

Year ended December 31,

BE+=-RA=1+—HLEE

2020 2019
o i —E-NEF

% of total % of total
Amount revenues Amount revenues
LEEEL DN (=GR ON
&8 WEDL G BB

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETTT
Advertising BE 188,295 88.7% 320,040 89.7%
E-commerce ERE 19,895 9.4% 22,214 6.2%
— Direct sales —HiH 17,087 8.1% 13,967 3.9%
— Marketplace EE 2,808 1.3% 8,247 2.3%
Others Htt 4,070 1.9% 14,574 41%
Total et 212,260 100% 356,828 100%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWEDN

REVENUE (continued)

Advertising

Revenue from advertising business decreased by 41.2% to RMB188.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to RMB320.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to (i)
advertising placement with major clients continued to decrease as
budgets of our major overseas advertising clients further tightened; and (i)
the competition of the advertising business became increasingly intense
as a result of the continued decline of the macro-economic environment
in China.

E-commerce

Revenue from e-commerce business decreased by 10.4% to RMB19.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to RMB22.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily because
the performance of the e-commerce cooperation with our strategic
shareholder did not meet our expectation and we are in the process of
restoring our e-commerce platform to the self-operating model.

Others

Revenue from other businesses decreased by 72.1% to RMB4.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to RMB14.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily because (i) there are
more market entrants with similar business model and our content
monetization business is facing more competition and (ii) there is less
demand for M&C-related content due to a decrease in birth rate in
China.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

COST OF REVENUE

Our cost of revenue decreased by 13.7% to RMB115.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2020, compared to RMB134.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to a decrease in cost of
revenue associated with our advertising business which was in line with
the decrease in revenue from that business segment. The following table
sets forth our cost of revenue by segment for the periods indicated:

EREA

EERAEBRBE_ZT-NAF+-A=+—H
FEFEMNARKI1B42BE TR D I1B7T%EH
E_T_TEF A=+ —HIEFEHARK
1168A&ET  NEERNEESEKBBN
BRI (BEREZEB D BE AR D —
B o TREJINPIRHREIR D 5 & 75 8 & K
7N

Year ended December 31,

BE+=-RA=1+—HLEE

2020 2019
o i —E-NEF

% of % of
total cost total cost
Amount of revenue Amount of revenue
B R A IEHEERAR
&8 HWEDL k- oERald

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREBFIT
Advertising ES 98,126 84.8% 103,665 77.2%
E-commerce B 16,646 14.4% 28,190 21.0%
Others Ef 1,009 0.8% 2,340 1.8%
Total ast 115,781 100% 134,195 100%
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

GROSS PROFIT/(GROSS LOSS) AND GROSS
PROFIT/(GROSS LOSS) MARGIN

As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit decreased by 56.7% to
RMB96.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to
RMB222.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. Our gross
profit margin decreased from 62.4% for the year ended December 31,
2019 to 45.5% for the year ended December 31, 2020. The following
table sets forth our gross profit and gross profit margin by segment for
the years indicated:

EX(BR)RERN(BR)X

BRERRE - RPOEFMNERBEZ SN
FTH_A=T—BLEFENARKE2226ES
TR 7% EHE_T_TF+_RA=+—
HIEFEMARKISSEET - HMWEF X
m@z—%—ﬂiwL—ﬂ —t—RHILEEXN
62.4%RPEEE —EF+-ZRA=+—H
IFFEH45.5% o Ti%%zﬁuﬁéﬁﬁmir;ﬁzﬁa =
EDMEF REFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLHFE

2020 2019

— 7 — ﬂi —j‘LfE‘E
Gross profit/
Gross profit Gross profit/ (gross loss)
Gross profit margin (gross loss) margin
£ EH,
ER EYES (£8) (FR)=E
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

ARET T ARETTT
Advertising EE 90,169 47.9% 216,375 67.6%
E-commerce e 3,249 16.3% (5,976) (26.9%)
Others Hib 3,061 75.2% 12,234 83.9%
Total e 96,479 45.5% 222,633 62.4%
OTHER REVENUE Hblr A

Our other revenue increased by 68.1% to RMB35.1 million for the year HFIHEMKRAERBE —T - F+ A

ended December 31, 2020, compared to RMB20.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to an increase in investment
income on financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWEDN

OTHER NET LOSS

Our other net loss primarily consists of loss allowance on prepayment.
Our other net loss increased by 2.9% to RMB36.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020, compared to RMB35.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to an increase in loss
allowance on prepayment to a Taiwanese company.

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

Our selling and marketing expenses decreased by 4.1% to RMB285.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to RMB297.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily because (i)
a decrease in staff cost as a result of human resources optimization,
and partially offset by (ii) an increase in marketing expenditure to
further increase our market share. Selling and marketing expenses
as a percentage of revenue increased to 134.5% for the year ended
December 31, 2020 from 83.5% for the year ended December 31,
2019.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Our general and administration expenses decreased by 3.1% to
RMB258.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared
to RMB266.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily
due to (i) a decrease in professional service fees and (i) a decrease in
staff cost as a result of human resources optimization. General and
administration expenses as a percentage of revenue increased to
121.7% for the year ended December 31, 2020 from 74.7% for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Qur research and development expenses decreased by 53.7% to
RMB51.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to
RMB111.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due
to a decrease in staff cost as a result of human resources optimization.
Research and development expenses as a percentage of revenue
decreased to 24.3% for the year ended December 31, 2020 from 31.2%
for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DM

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

As a result of the foregoing, we incurred loss from operations of
RMB500.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to
RMB467.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.

NET FINANCE INCOME

Our finance income primarily comprises interest income from deposits in
banks and other financial institutions. Our net finance income decreased
to RMB5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to
RMB32.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. Such decrease
was primarily due to the net effect of a decrease in the interest income
from deposits in banks and other financial institutions and an increase in
interests expense for short term borrowings.

FAIR VALUE CHANGE ON INVESTMENTS
MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

We recorded a fair value profit on investments measured at fair value
through profit or loss of RMB26.3 million for the year ended December
31, 2020, while we recorded a fair value loss on investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss of RMB25.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019.

SHARE OF LOSSES OF ASSOCIATES

Our share of losses of associates decreased to RMB3.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2020, compared to RMB12.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019.

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

We recorded income tax credit of RMB1.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020, and recorded income tax expense of RMB20.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily because income
tax was recognised in 2019 for the lack of sufficient taxable income
in the foreseeable future to utilize the carry-forward tax losses and
deductible temporary differences.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DM

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded loss attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB470.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020, compared to RMB493.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Our total assets decreased from RMB3,054.2 million as of December
31, 2019 to RMB2,442.0 million as of December 31, 2020. Our total
liabilities decreased from RMB136.0 million as of December 31, 2019 to
RMB127.3 million as of December 31, 2020. Liabilities-to-assets ratio
slightly increased from 4.5% as of December 31, 2019 to 5.2% as of
December 31, 2020.

The current ratio (being the ratio of total current assets to the total
current liabilities) was 16.1 as of December 31, 2020, compared to 21.5
as of December 31, 2019.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING

Our cash and other liquid financial resources (comprising (i) cash and
bank balances including cash on hand and bank deposits and (ii)
short-term wealth management products and short-term bonds we
bought), decreased from RMB2,008.2 million as of December 31, 2019
to RMB1,730.1 million as of December 31, 2020, primarily due to a
decrease in cash from our operation.

As of December 31, 2020 we did not have any outstanding borrowings.
Accordingly, no gearing ratio is presented.
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EEENWEDN

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Our capital expenditures, consisting of payments for the purchase of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, were incurred
mainly for servers, computers and office equipment. Our capital
expenditures were RMB21.5 million as of December 31, 2020,
compared to RMB5.1 million as of December 31, 2019.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

We had cash at banks denominated in foreign currencies, which
exposed us to foreign exchange risk. We do not use any derivative
contracts to hedge against its exposure to foreign exchange risk. We
manage currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates and will take prudent measures to minimize the currency
translation risk.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2020, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we did not conduct any
material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of December 31, 2020, we had not pledged any of our assets.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended December 31, 2020 (for the year ended December 31,
2019: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Thursday, June 10, 2021.
A notice convening the AGM and all other relevant documents will be
published and dispatched to the shareholders of the Company in the
manner required by the Listing Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining the members’ eligibility to attend and
vote at the AGM, the Company’s register of members will be closed
from Friday, June 4, 2021 to Thursday, June 10, 2021, both dates
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In
order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, unregistered holders
of shares of the Company shall ensure that all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, June 3, 2021.

COMPANY INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on February 9,
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability, and the shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on November 27, 2018.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2020, we had 518 full-time employees, substantially
all of whom were based in China, primarily in Beijing and Shanghai,
with the rest based in Wuhan, Guangzhou, Hangzhou, Xiamen and
Ningbo. Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and
motivate qualified personnel. The remuneration package for our
employees generally includes salary and bonuses. We determine
employee remuneration based on factors such as qualifications and
years of experience. Employees also receive welfare benefits, including
medical care, retirement benefits, occupational injury insurance and
other miscellaneous items. We make contributions to mandatory social
security funds for our employees to provide for retirement, medical,
work-related injury, maternity and unemployment benefits.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set
out as follows:

OUR DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. XU Chong (%), aged 45, was appointed as an executive
Director on June 11, 2018. He was also appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee on November 27, 2018 and a member of the
Strategic Committee on January 20, 2021. He joined the Group as the
chief financial officer in October 2014. Mr. Xu currently serves as director
in a number of companies in which our Company has equity interests,
including certain subsidiaries of our Company. Mr. Xu is primarily
responsible for strategic development, financial operations management
and capital operations.

Mr. Xu has over 18 years of experience in corporate finance and
financial management. He served as a manager at BOC International
Holdings Limited from July 2001 to August 2003, the chief financial
officer at SinoMedia Holding Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 0623) from June 2004 to February 2006 and a
vice president of Asia region at Cazenove Capital Management Limited
from March 2006 to July 2007, where he was primarily responsible for
corporate finance. He re-joined SinoMedia Holding Limited in July 2007
and served as the chief financial officer until May 2010. Mr. Xu served
as the chief financial officer and vice president at Huakang Insurance
Brokerage Company Limited (FEERRALIE AR A 7)) from March
2011 to July 2011. He worked as a financial advisor and then the chief
financial officer at Shanghai Zhaogangwang Information Technology
Corporation Limited (/& #4815 S RHE A B R 2 7)) from June 2012
to June 2014. Since August 26, 2020, Mr. Xu has been an independent
non-executive director of Joy Spreader Interactive Technology. Ltd (£
=5#HRAT) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since September 23, 2020, stock code: 6988).

Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor’s degree in laws from Nanjing University
in July 1998 and a master’s degree in laws from Renmin University of
China in July 2001.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. PAN Zhiyong (& E), aged 44, was appointed as an executive
Director, the chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief
Executive Officer”) and a member of the Strategic Committee on
January 20, 2021. He served as the president of the Company from
August 2020 to January 20, 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, from April 2001 to July 2005, Mr. Pan joined
China Mobile Group Zhejiang Co., Ltd. (FE#ZEREEENTIERA
7)) as the secretary to the general manager. From August 2005 to May
2011, Mr. Pan joined China Mobile Group Guangdong Company Limited
(FEBEBEEEER AR A F) serving various positions including
vice general manager of marketing and operations and general manager
of the mobile devices center. From June 2011 to February 2014, Mr.
Pan worked at China Mobile Group Device Co., Ltd. (B &hi@=
EE K mAR AT as the general manager of its branch company in
Guangdong, China. From March 2014 to October 2015, he served as
the vice president of 360 Security Technology Co., Ltd. (Z/XEZ &
B A R A R]) (@ company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock code: 601360). From November 2015 to January 2018, he joined
Alibaba Group Holding Limited (8] 2 5 2 & E12 (% 5 R A 7)) (@ company
listed on New York Stock Exchange, ticker symbol: BABA, and the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 9988) as senior director, and as vice
president of Tmall (X5&) and as general manager of the mobile phone
business unit (F-#% =5 3£ 2F). From March 2018 to August 2019, he joined
RENEEERHRER

‘A |]) and served as the vice president of KE Holdings Inc. (a company

Tianjin Xiaowu Information Technology Co., Ltd. (

listed on New York Stock Exchange, stock code: BEKE). From August
2019 to March 2020, he served as the president of the maternal infant
and family group of Fosun International Limited (1€ 2 B AR AR) (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0656). Since March
2020, Mr. Pan has been the co-chairman of the board of directors of
Baihe Jiayuan Network Group Co., Ltd. (A& E& MK EBRNDAER
~d]). Since January 2021, he has been the global partner of Fosun
International Limited.

Mr. Pan obtained a master’s degree in arts from Zhejiang University
in March 2001. He also obtained a master’s degree in business
administration (international) from The University of Hong Kong in
November 2008.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Huainan (£ 1£#), aged 55, was appointed as a Director on
February 9, 2018 and was re-designated as an executive Director and
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) on June 11, 2018. He was also
appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee on November 27, 2018. He was the
Chief Executive Officer of our Company from January 2007 to January
2021. He was re-designated from an executive Director to a non-
executive Director and was appointed as the chairman of the Strategic
Committee on January 20, 2021. Mr. Wang currently serves as director
in a number of companies in which the Company has equity interests,
including certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wang founded
the Group in January 2007. Mr. Wang is primarily responsible for the
Company’s overall strategy formulation.

Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Wang had many years of experience in
the fields of marketing and administrative management. From 1996 to
2001, he served as a brand manager at The Procter & Gamble Company
(a company listed on New York Stock Exchange, ticker symbol: PG),
where he was primarily responsible for brand building, promotion and
marketing. From 2001 to 2005, he served as a senior marketing director
at Yahoo! Inc. (a company formerly listed on NASDAQ, ticker symbol:
YHOO) and as the chief executive officer at 1pai.com.cn (—3849), a joint
venture established by Yahoo! Inc. and SINA Corp. From 2005 to 2006,
he served as the chief marketing officer, Asia at Google LLC.

Mr. Wang graduated from Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree
in English in July 1988. He also obtained a master’s degree in sociology
from Columbia University in October 1989 and a master’s degree in
business administration from Georgetown University in July 1996.

Annual Report 2020 | BabyTree Group

KAMWES @)

FHITES

FEmLE 555 RZZE—N\F_ANBE
ZARRESFINR - NFAA+—BHAEA
BITEEREFEFFUEE] - BRIV T
—NE+—FA-t++tBEEZEARLZEZEST
ERHFMEESNE - FR2ZEZTLF—HZE
T —F—AAARRITHREH - BRZZ
T F AT RHERITERRAERIENTE
= WEZERAEKES®ERE - BAl - &
ERARNFRERZNLZRAT - BFEAQF
WETHEAR  EZIESE - TAER-_ZTZT
+tFE—REIRALER - TAEEZTEAEARA]
HOEEBEBIRE HIAT o

REINAEB A - FRETESHERITHRER
AEREBZFLEH —NWNWAFEZTT—
£+ 18 A The Procter & Gamble Company ( —
RRAOBARZ S ETHAR - RO
PG) T REEE  HREEABEREER  #
EBREiE —ET—FEZ_TTHEF - KET
Yahoo! Inc. (— KRR ETER LM AR -
B REE - YHOO) My A & 88 AR B I 1B 1T —
848 (Yahoo! Inc. B3R A RIR LG & A A])
MITHREH - —ETRAFE_TTF - FR
Google LLCYEE TR MTHIGMEES -

FEER-NNNFLARERBERBERL
ABRTEBM - HAR—NANFE+ ARSI R
LB REH@BREBM RN —NARFLA
BISEAMASIEER SR L2 -



Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. QIAN Shunjiang (£JIE5T), aged 56, was appointed as a non-
executive Director and a member of the Strategic Committee on January
20, 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, from July 1986 to September 1989, Mr. Qian
was a teacher at Shanghai University of Finance and Economics. From
September 1989 to April 1996, he served as the financial manager of
Shanghai Johnson Co., Ltd. (L& #EBR A E]). From May 1996 to
February 1998, he served as the financial manager of Orient Overseas
Container Line (China) Co., Ltd. (RJ7/84NEEMIE (FR) BIRAF).
From March 1998 to April 2004, he served as the financial director
of Johnson & Johnson (China) Investment Co., Ltd. (384 (FFE) &
BARAR]). From May 2004 to August 2006, he served as deputy
chief accountant and head of finance department of China Worldbest
Group Co., Ltd. (FEIZEREE B R A R]). From September 2006 to
December 2008, he served as vice president and chief financial officer
BRABAETINA
fR7Aa]). From February 2009 to May 2010, he served as vice president

of Lianlian Yintong Electronic Payment Co., Ltd. (3

and chief financial officer of Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group)
Co., Ltd. (E/B1E 2B 4L () R(HER A A]) (a2 company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600196, and the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 2196). From June 2010 to April 2012, Mr. Qian
served as consultant of New Journey International Hospital Management
Company Limited (#7212 BIFR E P B2 HFR 2 7)). From May 2012 to
May 2013, Mr. Qian served as deputy chief financial officer of Shanghai
Fosun High Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. (F/81E 25k (£E) B
BR /A F]). From June 2013 to March 2020, he served as vice president
and chief accountant of Nanjing Nangang Iron & Steel United Co., Ltd.
(I R MM 285 B IR A 7). He has also been a director of Nanjing
Iron & Steel Co., Ltd. (F RIMELALD BR A 7)) (@ company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600282) since December 2013.
Since April 2020, he joined Fosun International Limited (16 2 BIEr AR A
7)) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0656) as vice
president and co-chief financial officer.

Mr. Qian obtained his bachelor’s degree in accounting from Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics in July 1986.

KAMWES @)

FHITES ()
BIESTRE 56 W-T_—F—H_-1H
BZERFATEZNEBREZEGNE -

EMAXEEBZH  B-ANRELAE
—NNNFENR  #RELR LEBMEKREIE
H-B-—NMN\NFARE-NAARFOA -
BREEFLEBHEEERAANMBLEE - 8
—HARFRAE-AANF A REER
N EEAE (P E) BR AR MM LR

B—ANNF=ZAZE-_TTWFMA - KEE

BE(PE)REFRAANMBHRE - B -F
TNFRAAZ_ZTTRFNA - KEETEE

“f?%l*ﬁlﬁﬁ ABlA g R BEHHR - B
/\Enﬂi_77)\¢+ A REE
BETFINERAGIBEHF RN
B-TTNF_AE=-ZFT—ZTFHA &
BELBEEBHE(EBIROHBRAFT(—KR
LBBEHRZ G (RMHAIE - 600196) KB AT
(AR 5% - 2196)Lﬁu‘ﬁ’1“—7>a’75\ﬂﬁ$&§
fﬁ%%°§_i TFENAE-E——F
A BEENAFERR “E‘*‘Eaﬁﬁﬁﬁgu
BEABEM AT —FRAZ-_T—Z=FFH

BB IR
B

A BEERTEBEESRE(SE)ERA
ARIERWKE BZE—=FAzx2=2%2=

TEZA FECEREMMEHSERAT
Blladikpaestii - A T — =+ - A
RETERMEROBRAR(—KN LEES
REMEMBAT - BRIHDRSE : 600282) HYE
F-HIEZTFMNAR  BINAEEBER
RAR(—RRB AT EMEIRAR] - BRHRR :
oa5@)%&%ﬂé@ﬁ$&%ﬁ}%§}%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ °

f;zﬁEEEA NNRELAELEBTEREES

FEHRE 2020 | EHEBEE 33



34

Directors and Senior Management
EERSREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. GAO Min (5#8), aged 47, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on January 20, 2021 and the vice chairman of the Board (the
“Vice Chairman”) on March 30, 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, from July 1995 to April 2000, Mr. Gao joined
Shanghai Biouxi Gas Co., Ltd. (F/&tLB PR EEAR A F)) and served
as human resources director. From November 2001 to June 2002, he
served as human resources director and management consultant of
Pufeng International Management Consultancy Co., Ltd. (&£ B & 12
=75 PR A 7). From July 2002 to February 2007, he served as assistant
to chairman of the board of directors and the director of administrative
human resources of Shanghai Tongce Real Estate Consultancy Co., Ltd.
(FBRIREEZAAR AR (currently known as Tongce Real Estate
Consultancy Co., Ltd. (R FE EE A7 BR A 7). From March 2007
to January 2015, he served as the vice president and general manager
of human resources center of Shanghai Forte Land Company Limited (1€
i (£E) BRH AR A7) and as the chairman of the board of directors
of its several subsidiaries. From February 2015 to February 2016, Mr.
Gao joined Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. (F/&18
ESRH (52E) AR 2 7)) and served as assistant to the president and
co-general manager of human resources department. From June 2015
to May 2017, Mr. Gao served as a non-executive director of Shanghai
Ganglian E-commerce Holdings Co., Ltd. (=& 84S F e 5D B R
/2 7)) (@ company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code:
300226). From March 2016 to September 2018, he served as vice
president and general manager of human resources center of Shanghai
Yuyuan Tourist Mart (Group) Co., Ltd. (/8% Bk (EE) IRH
BMR/A7]) (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock
code: 600655), and from December 2018 to December 2019 and since
November 2020, he has served as its non-executive director.

Since February 2016, he has served as a non-executive director
of Zhaojin Mining Industry Company Limited (B &2 M ERA
7]) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1818).
Since October 2018, Mr. Gao has worked at Shanghai Fosun High
Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. and has served various positions including
senior assistant to the president, co-chief human resource officer,
vice president and global partner. He is also currently a non-executive
director of Tebon Securities Co., Ltd. ({EFBE AR MHEPRE AT and a
non-executive director of Baihe Jiayuan Network Group Co., Ltd. (B&
PR EE RN AR A T).
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Gao obtained his bachelor’s degree in arts from Shanghai
Normal University in July 1995, and his master’s degree in business
administration from China Europe International Business School in April
2002.

Mr. WANG Changying (£ £%8), aged 47, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on June 11, 2018 and a member of the Strategic
Committee on January 20, 2021. He was the Vice Chairman of the
Board from March 30, 2020 to March 30, 2021. Mr. WANG participates
in the Company’s investment plan and formulating the Company’s
corporate and business strategies. He has been a director of Zhongming
since January 2017.

Mr. Wang has been a vice president of healthcare holdings department
since May 2016, a senior assistant president since March 2018 and the
chairman of maternal infant and family group since September 2018, at
Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. (F/81E 2 58Hy
(%£8]) ABR/AF). Mr. Wang is currently a director of Shenyang Tian An
Technology Co., Ltd. (&S RLRHEA% B R A7) (@ company listed on
The National Equities Exchange And Quotations Co., Ltd., stock code:
834661) and Shandong Taihe Water Treatment Technologies Co., Ltd.
(IR T AR EIB R AR B R A 7)) (a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, stock code: 300801). Mr. Wang was a director of
Juewei Food Co., Ltd. (& MM AR A F]) (@ company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 603517) from May 8, 2017
to November 16, 2018, a director of Dongzhu Ecological Environment
Protection Co., Ltd. (BREREAIRIRILMDER A F]) (8 company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 603359, which is previously
known as Jiangsu Dongzhu Landscape Co., Ltd. (T#R Ik SER D
AR AT])) from May 2012 to April 2018 and a director of Shenzhen
Megmeet Electrical Co., Ltd. (RIIERAKFERBNDBRAF) (a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002851)
from August 9, 2010 to May 8, 2019.
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EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

In addition, Mr. Wang currently holds directorships in several companies
including Dianwang (Cayman) Inc. since October 2016, Wuhan Huakang
Century Cleanroom Technology Engineering Co., Ltd. (FUEEERE 422
FEERM TR AR A F]) since February 2017, Yangtuo Technology Inc.
since February 2017, Jiangsu Jingang Culture & Technology Group Co.,
Ltd. (T# 2 MISUERHREBARD AR A F]) since May 2017, Shanghai
Qinmiao Technology Co., Ltd. (F8HERE AR A E]) since July
2018, Hangzhou Qinbei Technology Co., Ltd. (i ERIEBR A
7)) since February 2019 and TICKLED MEDIA PTE. LTD. since August
2019. Since September 2011, he has been the director and general
manager of Xizang Fosun Venture Capital Co., Ltd. (FRli{E 2H & &8
AR /A F). Since February 2018, he has been the manager of Ningbo
Meishan Bonded Port Xingbao Investment Management Co., Ltd. (2%
WLURFHERESREEEEE2AR]). Since March 2018, he has been
the effective controller and director of Wingnou Investments Limited.
Since April 2019, he has been the chairman and legal representative
of Baihe Jiayuan Network Group Co., Ltd. (B & 48B4 £ B
fR~\l). Since October 2019, he has been the legal representative,
executive director and general manager of Ningbo Meishan Bonded Port
Yuanhong Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (Z5& g 1L{%
ARG EDCETIEZHAERAT). Since July 2020, he has been the
legal representative, executive director and general manager of Shanghai
Fosun Baoye Investment Management Co., Ltd. (F/8718 2R %18 5&18
BRAT]).

Mr. Wang received a bachelor’s degree in economic information
management from China Institute of Finance (Bl & gl £F%) (which
merged with University of International Business and Economics (¥f4MNE
BEE 5 AKE) in 2000) in July 1994 and a master’s degree in finance from
Liaoning University in June 1999.
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EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. WU Ying (R £), aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on January 20, 2020 and a member of the Strategic Committee
on January 20, 2021. He is responsible for participating in formulating
the Company’s corporate and business strategies.

Mr. Wu joined TAL Education Group (“TAL”) (a company listed on the
New York Stock Exchange, ticker symbol: TAL) in 2017, and served
various positions in TAL. He served as the president of Content and
Internet Industry Department in TAL until June 30, 2020. From 2008
to 2017, he served as the founder and the chairman of the board at
First Leap: Future Leaders Institution, a company engaged in English
education services and was later acquired by TAL in 2015. From 2005
to 2008, he served as the vice president at Lenovo Group (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00992).

Mr. Wu obtained his bachelor’s degree in computer science from
Peking University in 1997, and his master’s degree in science from
Indiana University Bloomington in 1998. Mr. Wu was enrolled in Harvard
Business School Executive Education Program in 2008.

Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN, aged 51, was appointed as
a non-executive Director on June 11, 2018, primarily responsible for
participating in formulating the Company’s corporate and business
strategies.

Mr. Reitermann joined The Ogilvy Group in Taipei in January 1997 and
has been the chief executive officer (China) since August 2014 and the
chief executive, Asia and greater China since May 2016. He has also
been a global client leader of WPP plc (a company listed on the London
Stock Exchange, ticker symbol: WPP, and on NASDAQ, ticker symbol:
WPP) since 2017, where he is primarily responsible for management of
global client relationships.

Mr. Reitermann received his bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration from Ludwigshafen University of Applied Sciences in
January 27, 1997 in Germany.
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OUR DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Guanglei (FRE£), aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee on
November 27, 2018. He was appointed as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of Nomination Committee on
June 30, 2020, and a member of the Strategic Committee on January
20, 2021. He is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to the Board.

From 1992 to 2001, Mr. Chen worked at Pingdingshan sub-branch
and Henan branch of China Construction Bank, where he was primarily
responsible for accounting and auditing. From January 2005 to August
2005, Mr. Chen worked at the finance department of Financial Street
Holdings Co., Ltd. (£ @& ERAR KD B R F]) (@ company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000402) and the head of
finance department at Financial Street Huizhou Properties Co., Ltd. (& &
HEMNBEARAQF]). From April 2008 to May 2011, Mr. Chen worked as
the financial controller at Zhongjin Gold Corporation Limited (& & 5 i%
AR E]) (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock
code: 600489). Mr. Chen worked as the deputy chief accountant from
May 2011 to July 2012 and then as the chief economist from July 2012
to November 2017 at Beijing Financial Street Investment Group Co., Ltd.
(LR & RATIRE ((28) AR A F). He also served as assistant to the
chairman and deputy general manager at Tianrui Group Co., Ltd. (Xim
E BN AR AT]) and chairman of the board of Tianrui Group Finance
Co., Ltd. (KIFEEI B H R E T2 7)) from November 2017 to March
2018. Mr. Chen was a non-executive director at Hengtai Securities Co.,
Ltd (IBZREHH BR AT (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1476) from September 2012 to November 2017. From
March 2019 to November 2019, Mr. Chen was an independent non-
executive director of Xiamen Overseas Chinese Electronic Co., Ltd. (&
FIEEE FIRIND B IR AR (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 600870). From April 2018 to July 2019, Mr.
Chen was the president of Hongjing Enterprise Consulting (Beijing) Co.,
Ltd. (AL R (b2 (JbR) BRAR)).
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EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chen has been an external director of Beijing Enterprises Group
Company Limited (1t R iZA% &£ E B R A 7)) delegated by Stated-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council
of Beijing since December 2018, an independent non-executive director
of Hainan Jingliang Holdings Co. Ltd. (85 ZEZERRMHER AT (a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000505,
200505) since September 2019 and an independent non-executive
director of DreamEast Group Limited (23 F £ EGR A 7
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 593) since December 20,

) (@ company

2019. He is also currently the vice president and financial officer of Tibet
Ningsuan Technology Group Co., Ltd. (A Z &R HEE AR A R).

Mr. Chen is currently an off-campus graduate advisor at Central
University of Finance and Economics (FFREBf£&& X&), Chinese
Academy of Fiscal Sciences (4 B8/ BRI EFff38ft), Capital University
of Economics and Business (B #B4& & X&), Beijing Technology
and Business University (it JR T A &), China University of Mining
and Technology, Beijing (FBI#E% K& - b ®), Shanghai National
Accounting Institute (=/8 Bl & 51 263) and Beijing National Accounting
Institute (It RBEK € :HEF7). He is also an invited member of the
financial committee of Western Returned Scholars Association (& ZE[a]
@) a deputy secretary of Green Manufacturing Association of China
(Fh B 4% 2 5138584 BE), a member of the Professional Steering Committee
of Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a managing

director of the Chinese Medical Accounting Association (Fb[E 8 &&=+
Ee)
=)

Mr. Chen graduated from Henan College of Finance and Economics
(U B B 4K EFR) (currently known as Henan University of Finance and
Economics (] g 81 A€ B K E2) with a bachelor’s degree in accounting
in December 2000 and from Zhengzhou University (Z5H A 2£2) with a
bachelor’s degree in finance in July 2002. He received his master’s
degree in accounting from the Research Institute of Fiscal Science
affiliated to Ministry of Finance (BfEX2BRIZ28F7SFT) (currently known
as Chinese Academy of Fiscal Sciences (Ff B8 IR 9EER)) in July
2005, his doctorate degree in accounting from Central University of
Finance and Economics (7 SR B4 A 22) in June 2008 and conducted
his postdoctoral research in applied economics at the Research Institute
of Fiscal Science affiliated to Ministry of Finance from June 2012 to
September 2014.
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EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chen received a certificate of “National Leading Accountant” (%
GH4EE A4 B E) issued by Ministry of Finance in November 2015. He
has been accredited as a certified tax agent by the Office of Personnel of
Henan Province (jAlg & A % B2) in December 2002 and a certified public
accountant by the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
April 2011,

Mr. De-chao Michael YU (g1%&i#8) (Dr. Yu), aged 57, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and a member of each
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee on
November 27, 2018, primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to the Board. Dr. Yu was also appointed as a
member of the Audit Committee on March 7, 2019.

Dr. Yu has been an executive director, chairman of the board and chief
executive officer of Innovent Biologics, Inc. ({54 ¥ELEE) (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1801) since April 28, 2011.
Dr. Xu has been an independent non-executive director of Cheerwin
Group Limited (FAZE£EEBFE A7) (@ company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange since March 10, 2021, stock code: 6601) since
February 19, 2021. Dr. Yu was a director, president and chief executive
officer of Chengdu Kanghong Biotech Co. Ltd. (5% &BEE3A MR B R
7~ a]) from 2006 to 2010. Dr. Yu was the vice president of research and
development at Applied Genetic Technology Corporation (a company
subsequently listed on the NASDAQ with ticker symbol AGTC) in 2005.
Between 1997 and 2001, Dr. Yu was the vice president of Calydon, Inc.
which was later acquired by Cell Genesys, Inc. (a company subsequently
listed on the NASDAQ with ticker symbol CEGE), and worked there till
2005 following the acquisition as a principal scientist. He served as an
independent director at PharmaBlock Sciences (Nanjing), Inc. (Fm 2
AREIRMHBERAE) (@ company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code: 300725) from December 2015 to May 2018.

40  Annual Report 2020 | BabyTree Group

KAMWES @)

BYFHTES ()

REENR —FT—AF+—- ARG RIRED
[2HEFEEATRE] BN _TT-F
T AEAREEAZRERRA ARG R
—E AT EEMEEBERA S
A& stam

mEBALE(AEL) S7TH R-FT—/\F
T—AZ+EBREZERBIIFRTERTUR
FNEZBEEeRERZBERAZKE £BR
BEEEMAMESTSRIBEIAE - mEL IR
—E-NEF-ALRREZREIRERLZEEKE -

BTN E——FNA -+ N \HRBEEEE
AR (— KRB EMHAE - RHK
%1801 MBITES - EFBFRRERH
TE - B-ZE-—F_AF+HB# miFLtE
EFHAEEEBERAG(—FKREZE_—F=H
THEBRERZFAERETHORR - RO :
6601)HIEIEMITES - IS+t B _TTRF
2T -TEEEKEBRELEDRZERA A
B BERERITE aIBETR-ZZTH
F#E{TApplied Genetic Technology Corporation
(1B RIEMHETIESS £ - IR R5R + AGTC)HIFH
BEIRE - —NWNWEFE2_ZZT—FH - ald
T #EECalydon, Inc.HBIZREL © 182k + Calydon,
Inc.#%Cell Genesys, Inc. (14 SRFEANHTE S 17
IR SR - CEGE) ks - Mz UiE: -« sifg =+
EAEENEREE _ZTRF L —T—7
FTAZZT-\F1H  BEAEREAR
BEBRMDERAR(—ROAINELZ S LT
AT - IRIRSE - 300725) VB ES o



Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Yu has served in different capacities in various committees and
associations, including the chairman of the board of the Chinese
Antibody Society (¥ A#1821# <) since 2017, a vice president of
the Chinese Association for Medicinal Biotechnology (F B 28 &4 )
F T &) since 2019 and a deputy director of Drug Research and
Development Special Committee of the China Pharmaceutical Innovation
and Research Development Association (7 [ 25 2% 81| 57 {8 3 & &) fff 3%
EHF¥EZ E5E)since 2015.

Dr. Yu has engaged in innovative research on biopharmaceuticals for
more than 20 years, who has invented three Class | new drugs. Dr.
Yu invented the world’s first commercialized oncolytic virus-based
immunotherapeutic product, Oncorine® (recombinant human type-
5 adenovirus injection), creating a precedent for the use of viruses to
treat tumors. Dr. Yu co-invented and led the development of China’s
first monoclonal antibody-like new drug with global intellectual property
rights, Langmu® (Conbercept eye injection) which has changed the
history of zero domestically developed medicine for Chinese patients
with blindness caused by fundus diseases. Dr. Yu also co-invented
and led the development of Tywyt® (sintilimab injection) which approved
for marketing in China for relapsed or refractory classical Hodgkin’s
lymphoma (r/r cHL) on December 24, 2018 and was included in the
National Reimbursement Drug List (NRDL) in 2019 as the only PD-1
in that year and was also the first PD-1 inhibitor included in NRDL
historically.

Dr. Yu is an inventor of over 60 issued patents and patent applications,
and has published more than 50 SCI scientific articles and book
chapters.

Dr. Yu obtained his doctor of philosophy degree in genetics from the
Chinese Academy of Sciences (# BI£I22B5) in May 1993 and completed
his postdoctoral training in pharmaceutical chemistry in University of
Callifornia, San Francisco.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu (23, &), aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on June 30, 2020
and a member of the Strategic Committee on January 20, 2021. He is
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgment to the
Board.

Mr. Shiah joined Shanghai Marco Mary Xinyuan Culture Communication
Co., Ltd. (E/8FAIISBME L EFHE AR A F) in January 2018 and
has served as their chief executive officer since then. Since April 2019,
Mr. Shiah has also worked at Shanghai Changning Taini Hantuoyu
Co., Ltd. (B REREZILEERAF]) as a course development
consultant. Since December 2015, he has worked at Beijing Fuxue
Online Education Technology Co., Ltd. Gt R/FEEGHBERIEERA
al), and has served as their chairman of the board of directors since July
2018. From January 2002 to January 2012, he served as the founder
and chief executive officer at each of Jingzhong (Shanghai) Management
Consulting Co., LTD (#&7 (&) EE# AR A R]) and Shanghai
Gymboree Science and Education Service Co., Ltd. (/842 B RI#UR
AR AF]). From June 1994 to December 2002, he worked at Swire
Group and Taikoo Motors Group and had been their general manager
since January 1998.

Mr. Shiah has been a consultant at Beijing Xia Jing Shan Culture Co.
Ltd. JEREFILZ L BBR A R]) since May 2018. He also served as a
director at Butterfly House (##%~ 2X) from August 2018 to November
2019.

Mr. Shiah obtained his bachelor’s degree in science from University of
California, Los Angeles in 1985. He finished the advanced management
program offered by INSEAD in June 2001.

Mr. Shiah was a director and the legal representative of Nisong Trade
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. ([R28E 5 (£)8) BFR A7) (“Nisong Trade”)
when its business license was revoked in June 12, 2019 as a result of
overdue annual inspection. Nisong Trade was primarily engaged in the
sales of maternal and infant products and has ceased to operate since
2018. Nisong Trade is established in the PRC and is currently during the
course of deregistration.

Mr. Shiah confirmed that there is no wrongful act on his part leading
to the license revocation and is not aware of any actual or potential
claim has been or will be made against him as a result of such license
revocation, and that no misconduct or misfeasance had been involved in
the license revocation of Nisong Trade.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang, aged 60, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee on November 27, 2018. He was re-
designated as a member of the Remuneration Committee, and as a
result ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee on June
30, 2020. He is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to the Board.

From December 1991 to October 1995, Mr. Zhang worked as a
researcher at the Institute of System Science, National University of
Singapore. Mr. Zhang was a research manager at HP Labs from October
1995 to April 1999. From April 1999 to October 2011, Mr. Zhang
served as assistant managing director of Microsoft Research Asia, then,
managing director of Microsoft Advanced Technology Center, and the
chief technology officer at Microsoft Asia R&D Group. From November
2011 to December 2016, Mr. Zhang served as an executive director
and chief executive officer at Kingsoft Corporation Limited (& [ 445
fR /A 7)) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3888),
and also served as a director and the chief executive officer at Kingsoft
Cloud Holdings Limited. He has been an independent director of Digital
China Group Co., Ltd. (1) UG£ @D AR A7) (@ company listed
on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000034.S7) since 2017,
an independent director at Huami Corporation (a company listed on
NASDAQ, ticker symbol: HMI) since February 2018, an independent
non-executive director since January 1, 2019 and the chairman of
the board of directors since May 15, 2020 at AAC TECHNOLOGIES
HOLDINGS INC. (nERHEIER AR A 7A]) (@ company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2018). Since November 2018, Mr. Zhang
has been the chairman of Beijing Academy of Artificial Intelligence (35=
BIRATEEHTER).

Mr. Zhang received a bachelor of science degree from Zhengzhou
University in December 1981 and a Ph.D from Technical University of
Denmark in October 1991.

Mr. Zhang is a Fellow of the Institute of Electric and Electronic Engineers
(“IEEE”) and Association for Computing Machinery (‘ACM”). He was the
recipient of the 2012 ACM SIGMM Outstanding Technical Achievement
Award, the 2010 IEEE Computer Society Technical Achievement Award,
and the 2008 Asian American Engineer of the Year award.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. XU Chong (#3), aged 45, is also our chief financial officer. Please
see the paragraph headed “Executive Director” for his biography.

Mr. PAN Zhiyong (&% 5), aged 44, is also our Chief Executive Officer.
Please see the paragraph headed “Executive Director” for his biography.

Ms. CAIl Yumin (£ E#)), aged 38, has been our chief human resource
officer since March, 2021 and is responsible for talent management and
development. From June 30, 2020 to January 20, 2021, Ms. Cai served
as a non-executive Director of the Group.

Ms. Cai joined Baihe Jiayuan Network Group Co., Ltd. (B & 484
EERMHARAT) in July 2019 and serves as chief human resources
officer. From March 2014 to June 2019, she served as the general
manager of center of excellence for human resources at Shanghai
Fosun High Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. (=818 2 5k () ikH
AR AT, a wholly owned subsidiary of Fosun International Limited (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0656). From August
2011 to March 2014, she served as a consulting manager of people
and change department at PricewaterhouseCoopers Management
Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (E#EBEIEZ A (L&) ARAR).
From June 2008 to August 2011, she served as a senior consultant of
talent and organization consulting department at Aon Hewitt Consulting
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (A= #MEF##A (L&) AR AF), which is
previously known as Hewitt Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.(8)ERF&
= (_B)8) AR A 7]). From August 2005 to June 2008, she served as a
senior associate of financial services practice of assurance department
at PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP (formerly known as
PricewaternouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company (& 5Kk &

RREFEIEEPIERAR).

Ms. Cai obtained her bachelor’s degree in law from Shanghai
International Studies University in 2005 and her master’s degree in
business administration from China Europe International Business
School in 2019.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. ZHAN Hongyong (&£ E), aged 49, from February 2017 to
March 2020, served as the chief technology officer of the Group, and
has become our chief technology consultant from September 2020.
Mr. Zhan is primarily responsible for management of research and
development in technology.

Mr. Zhan joined elLong, Inc. (a company listed on NASDAQ, ticker
symbol: LONG) in November 2005 and served as the chief technology
officer from January 2011 to October 2014. He served as vice president
of Internet center at Cheyipai (Beijing) Automotive Technology Service
Co., Ltd. (B (b 7) AERMRFBER 2 F]) from September 2015
to November 2016.

Mr. Zhan received his bachelor’s degree in software from Southwest
Normal University (FREN#AE) (currently known as Southwest
University (FAF A E2)) in July 1992,

Mr. ZHANG Heng (Z1E), aged 35, has been the vice president in
charge of platform operation at BabyTree Information since October
28, 2019. Mr. Zhang is primarily responsible for the overall product
operation, user management and maternity and postnatal care business.

From April 2018 to May 2019, Mr. Zhang served as the vice president at
Beijing Qingsongchou Network Technology Co., Ltd. (b eSS E484E& R}
RAERRA
of the board of director at Beijing Shangyi Zhixin Health Management
Co., Ltd. (bR HMBEEREEE AR AE). From March 2015 to April
2017, he served as the founder and chief executive officer at Beijing
Renren Yuedong Sports Culture Development Co., Ltd (b5 A A 24&h e
& X (L BER AR A F). From February 2014 to February 2015, he served
as a product director at Amap (AutoNavi Holdings Limited, which was
subsequently acquired by Alibaba Group, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code:9988)). From July 2009 to February 2014, he
served as a senior manager at Tencent (a company listed on the Stock

). From May 2017 to April 2018, he served as the chairman

Exchange, stock code: 0700).

Mr. Zhang obtained his bachelor’s degree in science from University of
Electronic Science and Technology of China (EF&H%AZ) in 20009.
He obtained his in-service graduate certificate from Central University of
Finance and Economics (Ff R Bf 4& A E8) in 2011.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. XIE Boyang (#185¥), aged 36, joined our Group in June 2017
and served as director of finance at Zhongming. Since November 2019,
Mr. Xie has served as the vice president of finance department and is
in charge of the overall capital management and financial budget of the
Group.

From September 2016 to June 2017, Mr. Xie served as the vice director
of finance department at Leshi Holding (Beijing) Co., Ltd.(Z4%8 1% 4% (3
) B AF]). From October 2015 to September 2016, he served as
the senior director of finance at Beijing Ujipin Network Technology Co.,
Ltd. t B E REERE AR AR]). From March 2010 to September
2015, he served as the director of finance at DX.com Limited Holdings
(currently known as Sino Vision Worldwide Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8086). From August 2007 to
February 2010, he was a senior auditor at PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mr. Xie obtained his bachelor’s degree in finance from Capital University
of Economics and Business (B &84 B & 5 A2 in 2007. He has been
a charted global management accountant certified by the Association of
International Certified Professional Accountants and a senior member of
the Charted Institute of Management Accountants since October 2019.

Ms. GUO Ying (2858), aged 40, joined our Group in July 2012 and
served as a director of calling center at Zhongming, a senior director
of mobile products at BabyTree Information and the general manager
of e-commerce at Meitun Mama. She was appointed chief of staff
of our Group in March 2021, primarily responsible for planning and
implementing corporate strategy. She served as head of e-commerce
business of our Group from December 2017 to February 2019 and
served as chief human resource officer of our Group from February 2019
to March 2021.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Guo served as a business development
manager at Lenovo (Beijing) Limited (B8 (4t ) AR A7) from
May 2003 to April 2008. She served as a senior director of service
department at Beijing Badi Zhonghe Technology Co., Ltd. (it 5%/ \ 5 &1
RHE B A F) from May 2008 to March 2012, where she was primarily
responsible for product design, implementation and management.

Ms. Guo graduated from Beijing Institute of Petrochemical Technology (dt
A # L T E ) with a bachelor’s degree in marketing in July 2003.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Ms. WANG Dan (X f}), aged 34, joined our Group in April 2014
and was appointed senior director of public relations of our Group in
February 2019, primarily responsible for brand and public relations
management.

She served as head of brand and public relations from February 2018 to
February 2019. Ms. Wang served as a senior manager of public relations
at Shanghai Huagianshu Information Technology Limited (=& 7€ TH8{Z
ERHEARAF) from July 2010 to March 2014.

A E) with a
bachelor’s degree in international economics and trade in July 2010.

Ms. Wang graduated from Liaoning University (&

Joint Company Secretaries

Ms. MA Lie (53!), aged 29, was appointed as a joint company
secretary of the Company on December 10, 2020. She joined the
Company as the senior assistant to the chief financial officer under the
office of the Board since March 2020. She is primarily responsible for
assisting the daily work of the chief financial officer and involved in the
financial planning of the Company and market research required for
Company’s development. In addition, Ms. Ma has also diligently involved
in the routine compliance matters including organizing/attending Board
and general meetings as well as corporate governance matters of the
Company.

Prior to joining our Company, Ms. Ma served as an investment manager
at Unity Ventures (J14 &l#%) from September 2017 to September 2018
and a senior analyst at 36Kr (36%&) from January 2016 to September
2017. She has rich experience in capital market industry and company
research and analysis and coordinating financing negotiations with
investors. Ms. Ma was an associate at PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd
from September 2014 to January 2016.

Ms. Ma obtained a Bachelor’s degree of Business Administration in
Accounting and Finance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
October 2014 and a Master’s degree in Business Administration from
the University of Oxford in November 2019.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Joint Company Secretaries (Continued)

Ms. WU Miu Wah (#A12E), aged 50, was appointed as a joint company
secretary of the Company in June 2018. Ms. Wu is a senior manager
of corporate services of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional
services provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and
investor services. Ms. Wu has over 20 years of experience in the
corporate secretarial field and has been providing professional corporate
services to Hong Kong listed companies as well as multinational, private
and offshore companies. Her expertise extends from corporate advisory
and regulatory compliance, corporate restructuring.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERME

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors of the Company is committed to maintaining high
corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard
the interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended December 31,
2020, the Company has complied with most of the code provisions as
set out in the CG Code, except for the deviation from code provision
A.2.1 as explained under the paragraph “Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer” below.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business and
to reviewing such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply
with statutory and professional standards and align with the latest
development.

TEERER

ARREFERNERFRKFHEERERIRE -

EEERR/RLEEARERARARERR
Mzt - RTT R EBE - HIE E R RN
ReEREREEREFEEMNER -

ARRIEEM ETRAMEE - MAHCEER
STRIFTERIRAL ©

EZERR REBEE_T-_ZTF+-_A=+—
BIEREFE - BRI EFERTHRAER | —&
PfT 8 300 1 B <7 BIMER ST A2 R PR L E 5 - R
RREETEEREATRIFTEAE D SFRMEX -

ARBBANIERES XHHRIERNER
BIRTR]  WARR I ETRIABREN A

EERBEERBENRGHER -

FEHRE 2020 | EEBEE 49



Corporate Governance Report
TEERME

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(Continued)

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules as the Group’s code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions.

Specific enquiry has been made by the Company with all Directors and
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended December 31, 2020.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the “Employees
Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the Model Code for
securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price-sensitive information of the Company. No
incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the
employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and takes decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Company.

The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director
to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the
Director is spending sufficient time performing them.
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TEERME

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises twelve Directors, consisting of two
executive Directors, six non-executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors.

During the year ended December 31, 2020 and up to the date of this
Annual Report, the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. XU Chong

Mr. PAN Zhiyong (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on January 20, 2021)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Huainan (Chairman)
(re-designated from an executive Director to a non-executive Director
and resigned as the Chief Executive Officer on January 20, 2021)

Mr. QIAN Shunjiang (appointed on January 20, 2021)

Mr. GAO Min (Vice Chairman) (appointed on January 20, 2021 and
appointed as Vice Chairman on March 30, 2021)

Mr. WANG Changying (appointed as Vice Chairman on March 30, 2020
and resigned as Vice Chairman on March 30, 2021)

Mr. WU Ying (appointed on January 20, 2020)
Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN
Mr. MA Jiangwei (resigned on January 20, 2020)
Mr. HU Weixiong (resigned on March 30, 2020)
Mr. CHEN Qiyu (resigned on June 30, 2020)
Ms. CAl Yumin (appointed on June 30, 2020
and resigned on January 20, 2021)
Ms. YAN Jia (appointed on June 30, 2020
and resigned on January 20, 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Guanglei

Mr. De-chao Michael YU

Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu (appointed on June 30, 2020)
Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang

Ms. CHEN Danxia (resigned on June 30, 2020)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing
Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive Directors are
expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the Directors including the relationships
among the members of the Board are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual Report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no other financial,
business or family relationship among the members of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

During the year ended December 31, 2020 and up to January 20, 2021,
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company were held
by Mr. WANG Huainan. In view of Mr. Wang’s experience, personal
profile and his roles in the Company and the fact that Mr. Wang had
assumed the role of Chief Executive Officer of the Company since our
commencement of business, the Board considered it beneficial to the
business prospect and operational efficiency of the Company that Mr.
Wang acted as the Chairman of the Board and continued to act as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. While this would constitute
a deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board
believed that this structure would not impair the balance of power and
authority between the Board and the management of the Company,
given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board required approval by
at least a majority of the Directors; (i) Mr. Wang and the other Directors
were aware of and undertook to fuffill their fiduciary duties as Directors,
which required, among other things, that he acted for the benefit and
in the best interests of the Company and would make decisions for the
Company accordingly; and (jii) the balance of power and authority was
ensured by the operations of the Board which comprised experienced
and high caliber individuals who met regularly to discuss issues affecting
the operations of the Company. Moreover, the overall strategic and other
key business, financial, and operational policies of the Company were
made collectively after thorough discussion at both Board and senior
management levels.
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TEERME

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Continued)

The Chairman provides leadership to the Board by ensuring the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities in time. The
Chairman himself, or a Director or company secretary delegated by
him, is responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for each
Board meeting. The Chairman ensures that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established. The Chairman encourages
all Directors to make a full and active contribution to the Board'’s affairs
and take the lead to ensure that it acts in the best interests of the
Company. The Chairman ensures that all Directors receive adequate
information to fulfill their duties, which must be complete and reliable in
a timely manner. The Chairman ensures effective communication with
Shareholders and that views of Shareholders are communicated to the
Board as a whole. The Chairman promotes a culture of openness and
debate by facilitating the effective contribution of non-executive Directors
in particular and ensures constructive relations between executive and
non-executive Directors.

In order to further enhance the corporate governance of the Company
and comply with code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, and to better
focus on the development strategy of the Company, Mr. Wang resigned
from his role as the Chief Executive Officer on January 20, 2021, but
will continue to serve as the Chairman. Mr. PAN Zhiyong was appointed
as an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer on January 20,
2021.

Independent non-executive Directors

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least four independent non-executive Directors representing one-third
of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

Each independent non-executive Director (excluding Mr. SHIAH Hung-
Yu) has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from November 27, 2018. Mr. SHIAH Hung-
Yu has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from June 30, 2020. The appointment letter
shall continue unless and until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party to another.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Director in respect of his/her independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) of the Company are appointed for a specific term of three
years, subject to renewal after the expiry of the current term.

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that all Directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to election by
Shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.
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TEERME

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities of the Directors (Continued)

All Directors, including the non-executive Directors and the independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. Through active participation at Board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict
of interest and serving on Board committees, all non-executive Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on
corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

All Directors carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders at all times.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held
by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities of the Directors (Continued)

The Board has clearly set out the circumstances under which the
management should report to and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of
the Company. The Board regularly reviews the above said circumstances
and ensures they remain appropriate.

If any Substantial Shareholder or Director has a potential conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by a general meeting or the Board,
the relevant Directors shall abstain from voting and a Board meeting
attended by independent non-executive Directors who have no material
interest in the matter shall be held to discuss and vote on the same.
Save as disclosed above, there are no relationships (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s)) among the
Board members.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual
basis.
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TEERME

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
Such induction shall be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key
plant sites and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors where
appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company organized
two training sessions conducted by the qualified professionals and the
Hong Kong legal advisors of the Company and attended by Mr. WANG
Huainan, Mr. XU Chong, Mr. WANG Changying, Mr. WU Ying, Mr.
Christian Franz REITERMANN, Mr. HU Weixiong, Mr. CHEN Qiyu, Ms.
CAl Yumin, Ms. YAN Jia, Mr. CHEN Guanglei, Mr. De-chao Michael YU,
Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu, Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang and Ms. CHEN Danxia.
Such training sessions cover a wide range of relevant topics including
directors’ duties and responsibilities, corporate governance and update
on Listing Rules amendments etc. In addition, relevant reading materials
including directors’ manual, legal and regulatory update, and seminar
handouts have been provided to the directors for their reference and
studying.

The record of continuous professional development relating to director’s
duties and regulatory and business development that have been
received by the Directors for the year ended December 31, 2020 and up
to date of this report are summarized as follows:

EES @)

EEMNHFEERRE
REBRETEEERERRABEZEEM LY
BFFENBATHESSELER EFAT

REEERRRED -

BRFTESNEREZERYRREHREN
2 E BIR B - EREE ZEARR
EHREE  URD TR EMRINBRIER
TARENESTREREE - BREBIEIZA
NSBARANEZIRERE RARRSRE
EEEAMHET -

EXA2EEENFBEXERNERL TN
BENMBLIZE - REZEBRATHREER
PENEPR M & W M E 3 AR T A
BIA - ARBEB B ES LR ABEIIR
2 MEMBAARRXM -

REBEZZ-_TFF+_A=+T—HLEFE K
NABRITMABEEEREEAT RARREE
BRI ERHNEIIRE - TEELE BWE
£ FTRBAE - RALE - Christian Franz
RETERMANNSE 4 ~ &M %o 4 « BREVF 5L
4 BIgLT - BELT  BRES%4 &
mEBLE - BB AE - ZHANG Hongjiang 5t
ERBRNEZTLETHBEI - BHEEIIR
HEZ—RIEEZE  REESRELE
F- EESRETMRAIEITHRFTENS -
Iboh - ESMEEREABEMEM L - BEE
EFM EEREETEMER  UREEER
HFEL2ERHE -

EENBE_T_TF+_A=+—HBLLFE
LREEAREAMETEETRENEE MEK
ERABNBETEERCEMMNT

FEHRE 2020 | EEBEE 57



Corporate Governance Report
CEEREE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors (Continued)
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Executive Directors

FHITES

Mr. XU Chong A B
ML

Mr. PAN Zhiyong® Nil
EEBEER it
Non-executive Directors

FHITES

Mr. WANG Huainan® A B
FiEmELo

Mr. QIAN Shunjiang® Nil
BIBT S 4&
Mr. GAO Min@ Nil
=L =
Mr. WANG Changying A B
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Mr. WU Ying® A
RFEASES

Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN A
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Mr. MA Jiangwei® Nil
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Mr. HU Weixiong® A
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Mr. CHEN Qiyu® A
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Independent non-executive Directors
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Mr. CHEN Guanglei A
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors (Continued)
Notes:

1 Types of Training

A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

2 Appointed as an executive Director on January 20, 2021

©)] Re-designated from an executive Director to a non-executive Director on
January 20, 2021

4) Appointed as a non-executive Director on January 20, 2021

5) Appointed as a non-executive Director on January 20, 2020

6) Resigned as a non-executive Director on January 20, 2020
(7) Resigned as a non-executive Director on March 30, 2020
8) Resigned as a non-executive Director on June 30, 2020

) Appointed as a non-executive Director on June 30, 2020 and resigned on
January 20, 2021

(10)  Appointed as an independent non-executive Director on June 30, 2020

(11)  Resigned as an independent non-executive Director on June 30, 2020
BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Strategic Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their
authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Board committees
are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website and are available to Shareholders upon request.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee

As at December 31, 2020, the Audit Committee consists of three
members including three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. CHEN Guanglei (Chairman), Mr. De-chao Michael YU and Mr.
ZHANG Hongjiang (with Mr. CHEN Guanglei possessing the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise).

The Company adopted revised terms of reference of the Audit
Committee on November 30, 2020. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in
the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting process,
risk management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of external
auditors, arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters of the Company, sustainability performance,
Environmental, Social and Governance Report and providing advice and
comments to the Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Audit Committee
held two meetings to review, in respect of the year ended December
31, 2020, the annual and interim financial results and reports and
significant issues on the financial reporting, operational and compliance
controls, the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems and internal audit function, appointment of external auditors
and engagement of non-audit services and relevant scope of works,
connected transactions and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties. In addition, the Audit Committee
made recommendations to the Board on the change of external auditors
from Messrs. KPMG to Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited with effect from
December 18, 2020. The Audit Committee has been provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

The Audit Committee also met the externals twice during the year
without the presence of the executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

As at December 31, 2020, the Remuneration Committee consists of five
members including three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. CHEN Guanglei (Chairman), Mr. De-chao Michael YU and Mr.
ZHANG Hongjiang, and two executive Directors, namely Mr. XU Chong
and Mr. WANG Huainan (re-designated from an executive Director to a
non-executive Director on January 20, 2021). On June 30, 2020, Ms.
CHEN Danxia resigned as an independent non-executive Director and
thus ceased to be the chairwoman of the Remuneration Committee, Mr.
CHEN Guanglei was appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang was re-designated as a member
of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary
functions of the Remuneration Committee include determining, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management, making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management and establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and make recommendation to
the Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the Company and
the remuneration packages of the Directors and other related matters. In
addition, the Remuneration Committee made recommendations to the
Board on the letters of appointment of the new non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. WU Ying (appointed on January 20, 2020), Ms. CAl Yumin
and Ms. YAN Jia (both appointed on June 30, 2020 and resigned on
January 20, 2021), and new independent non-executive Director, namely
Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu (appointed on June 30, 2020).
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee

As at December 31, 2020, the Nomination Committee consists of three
members including one executive Director, namely Mr. WANG Huainan
(Chairman) (re-designated from an executive Director to a non-executive
Director on January 20, 2021) and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. CHEN Guanglei and Mr. De-chao Michael YU.
On June 30, 2020, Mr. CHEN Guanglei was appointed and Mr. ZHANG
Hongjiang ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee
respectively.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal duties
of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and
appointment of Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity as set out in the Company’s Board diversity policy, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional
experience etc. The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree
on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting to review the structure, size and composition of
the Board and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, to consider the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing
for election at the annual general meeting. In addition, the Nomination
Committee considered and recommended to the Board on the
appointment of non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Director. The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance
of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

Strategic Committee

The Strategic Committee was established under the Board on January
20, 2021. As at the date of this Annual Report, the Strategic Committee
consists of eight members including two executive Directors, namely
Mr. XU Chong and Mr. PAN Zhiyong, four non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. WANG Huainan (Chairman), Mr. QIAN Shunjiang, Mr. WANG
Changying and Mr. WU Ying, and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. CHEN Guanglei and Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Strategic Committee (Continued)

The main duties of the Strategic Committee include examining and
making recommendations to the Board on the long-term development
strategies, major investment plans, major capital operation and asset
operation projects of the Company and other major issues affecting the
Company’s development.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on November 1, 2018
which sets out the basic principles to be followed to ensure that the
Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and
to maintain high standards of corporate governance.

Board nomination and appointments will continue to be made on merit
basis based on its business needs from time to time while taking into
account diversity. The Nomination Committee has primary responsibility
for identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and selecting, or making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of, individuals nominated for directorships.

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and
specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race, language,
cultural background, educational background, industry experience and
professional experience.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against appropriate
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the policy,
developing and reviewing measurable objectives for implementing the
policy and monitoring the progress on achieving these measurable
objectives.

The Nomination Committee shall review this policy and the measurable
objectives at least annually, and as appropriate, to ensure the continued
effectiveness of the Board.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a Director Nomination Policy which is applicable for
the financial years commencing from January 1, 2019 and sets out the
criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of directors of
the Company. The policy aims to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company as well as the Board continuity and appropriate leadership at
Board level.

Criteria for nomination and appointment of directors
In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following
criteria should be considered:

° Character and integrity.

° Quialifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity
Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy.

° Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board.

° Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

° Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity.

° Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the
Company.

° Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.

Annual Report 2020 | BabyTree Group

EERABBE

EXeCRMEAR _Z-NF—A—BEn
MHEFEENEFRAEE - XHFIIARFRS
REFEEHNREINEF - ZBKREERRE
EZENBABYARRREBMTHORT - &
BLETEY  ANBREEGHNHEELE
FEREZEEEANEEAE -

EEWIREREEED
I RR BRI EER - [ E TS
8

o  mIREME -

o B BREXER - BRI ARRER
NRAEB R AR RBEEBOER UK
EEEKEBZ BRI Z A
o

¢« AEBEFEXASTHRAOENT
sHERE

e RELTRA ZBEFSFTEEBILEEN
BE - AR2E EMRAIATIREEAZ
BHAR RIBIL RIS -

o RBANEEEMS KI5 @8R B
RMRIS T B AE TR AR
EEER -

s REBELELHMRBEHREETS
RARREEERENR RETEESE
TZEENZBNRE -

o EESR HREBEREGUTHEMNE
HEFTE R AR A EH KT8 RE
RHEMER - UIERE R RETHEER

£



Corporate Governance Report
<EAMmE

i

NOMINATION PROCESS

(a)

Appointment of New Director

U)

(i)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including
but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation,
referral by other member of the management and external
recruitment agents.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director
and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria
as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them
by order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship,
as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set
out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.
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NOMINATION PROCESS (continued)

(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting
(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the Company
of the retiring director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director continues
to meet the criteria as set out above.

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and this policy and where
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions set out
in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Audit Committee had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code
and Employee Written Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

Code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code provides that regular Board
meetings should be held at least four times a year involving active
participation, either in person or through electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company adopted the
practice of holding Board meetings regularly for at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals to discuss overall strategy as well as
operations and financial performance of the Group. The Board held five
meetings during the year ended December 31, 2020. Apart from regular
Board meetings, the Chairman also held one meeting with independent
non-executive Directors only without the presence of other Directors
during the year.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS (continued)

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to the Directors in advance. Notice of regular
Board meetings is served to all the Directors at least 14 days before the
meeting. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep Directors apprised of
the latest development and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make decisions. The Board and each Director also have
separate and independent access to the senior management where
necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular Board meetings and
where necessary, other Board and committee meetings, to advise on
business development, financial and accounting matters, statutory and
regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects
of the Company.

The Company’s memorandum and articles of association contain
provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to be
counted in the quorum at the meetings for approving transactions in
which such Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.

The secretary of the meetings is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes
are normally circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable
time after each meeting and final version are open for Director’s
inspection.

Attendance Records of Directors

The attendance records of each Director at the Board, Board committee
meetings and the general meetings of the Company held during the year
ended December 31, 2020 are set out below:
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BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’

ATTENDANCE RECORDS (continued)

Attendance Records of Directors (Continued)

Name of Director

Number of Attendance in Person/Number of Meeting(s)

EEgeEREEHELZ@)

ESHFESRTR(#)

EEpA BEHERY SFXE
Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting®
KRR
BExg EXEES FMEES REEES BEREO
Mr. XU Chong 5/5 N/A 11 N/A 11
ERibivtas ANiE ANiE
Mr. WANG Huainan®@ 5/5 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1
TiEmtae AN
Mr. WANG Changying 4/5 N/A N/A N/A 11
FRBELE TEA iEA ANiE A
Mr. WU Ying® 4/5 N/A N/A N/A 0/1
RAEFHEO ANiE ANiE A ANiE
Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN 3/5 N/A N/A N/A 01
Christian Franz REITERMANNE 4 T EA TiEHA TER
Mr. MA Jiangwei® N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
BILEEE® A TEA iEA TiEMA NiEA
Mr. HU Weixiong® 0N N/A N/A N/A N/A
HREHESE S ANiE ANiE A ANiE ANiE A
Mr. CHEN Qiyu® 0/2 N/A N/A N/A 0N
BRERF L 4O ANiE ANiE R ANiE
Ms. CAI Yumin® 3/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A
BERE L0 TEMA iEA TEMA N3 R
Ms. YAN Jia® 2/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A
BRERZT0 NiE ANiE A ANiE AN
Mr. CHEN Guanglei® 4/5 2/2 1/1 N/A 11
PREER 4O ANiE
Mr. De-chao Michael YU 3/5 2/2 1/1 i7al 0/1
BB A
Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu® 2/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Bol&ELHe ANiE ANiE A ANiE ANiE A
Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang1o 4/5 2/2 N/A 11 0/1
ZHANG Hongjiang 5t &0 TEA
Ms. CHEN Danxia® 1/2 N/A 1/1 N/A 1/1
BRITEE 2L 1O ANiE R A3 A
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BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS (continued)

Attendance Records of Directors (Continued)

Notes:

(1)

The annual general meeting of the Company was held on June 11, 2020.

Re-designated from an executive Director to a non-executive Director on

January 20, 2021

Appointed on January 20, 2020

Resigned on January 20, 2020

Resigned on March 30, 2020

Resigned on June 30, 2020

Appointed on June 30, 2020 and resigned on January 20, 2021

Appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of

the Nomination Committee on June 30, 2020

Appointed on June 30, 2020

Re-designated as a member of the Remuneration Committee and ceased to be
a member of the Nomination Committee on June 30, 2020
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a Dividend Policy which is applicable for the financial

years commencing from January 1, 2019 and sets out the principles

and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to the

declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as dividends to the

Shareholders of the Company.

A summary of the dividend policy is set out below:

1. In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital

requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value.

2. The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio.

3.  The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends
to the Shareholders of the Company, subject to the Articles of
the Association of the Company and all applicable laws and
regulations and the factors set out below.

4.  The Board shall also take into account the following factors of
the Group when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

o financial results;

o cash flow situation;

° business conditions and strategies;

o future operations and earnings;

° capital requirements and expenditure plans;
o interests of Shareholders;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

° any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued) I EBUR (@)

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the
Group and the conditions and factors as set out above, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year
or period:

° interim dividend;

° final dividend;

° special dividend; and

o any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

5.

BFARR B R AR BB BORIA K it
rEREE B AEMRFEHHE
BER/HERTHIRE

o FHHIRE:

o RHIE:

o HRIKE R

s ENEFERRAENMANDIK -

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to 6.  {F{a] Bf Bk 4 & &9 7k HARR 239 28 e B s it
Shareholders’ approval. Ao

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or 7. AAFAUBESHRERHKEETSRA
scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. SEMEMERTIRZIERNRE -

Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to 8.  {E{AlsR4BENHY AR B FE 6 2 W R FE IR iR AR 2

the Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association.

RN ERARESRARR -

The Board will review the dividend policy as appropriate from time to
time.

B2 TRNET 2R BABREBER -
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TEERME

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assist the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company has adopted and implemented comprehensive risk
management policies in various aspects of our business operations,
such as information system, financial reporting, internal audit and human
resources.

Information System Risk Management

Our objectives for information system management are to identify,
assess, monitor and control information technology risks by establishing
an effective mechanism to operate our business in a safe, continuous,
stable and compliant environment. We have implemented policies and
procedures stipulating: (i) the release of mobile apps in the ordinary
course and on an urgent basis; (i) the operation of our platforms: we
monitor certain key indicators and give an alarm if such indicators go
beyond the security thresholds; (i) the management of the authorities of
our employees and business partners to access certain functions of our
platforms; (iv) the management of the network and hard drive capacities
and (v) troubleshooting: we categorize system malfunctions and
accidents into three levels according to their seriousness and urgency,
and implement different mechanisms to fix them.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Financial Reporting Risk Management

We have implemented a financial reporting system, consisting of policies
and procedures for: (i) bottom-up financial reporting: in the ordinary
course of business, the financial personnel shall report to the manager
of the financial department and the chief financial officer level by level.
Any new business the accounting treatment methods for which has
not been stipulated shall be reported to the chief financial officer in a
timely manner; (i) top-down inquiries: the audit personnel at the group
level can request financial information from any member of the Group
as work requires and ask questions about the information provided;
(iiiy assignment of responsibilities: relevant financial personnel perform
document verification, review and bookkeeping in the accounting
system according to their duties and authorities; (iv) book closing:
monthly and quarterly accounts shall be reconciled and closed within
the first ten business days of the next month or quarter; (v) accounting
error correction: we have formulated different rectification measures for
different types of accounting errors, including errors that occurred during
the current accounting period, immaterial errors that occurred during the
last accounting period and material errors that occurred during the last
accounting period; (vi) financial statement preparation: each operating
entity will prepare its monthly and annual financial reports. The monthly
report of each operating entity shall be submitted to the Group within the
first ten business days of the next month, and the annual report of each
operating entity shall be submitted to the Group within 15 business days
after the end of the year and (vii) financial statement analysis: financial
analysis meetings shall be held regularly every month, during which the
financial managers of each company shall present results of operations,
financial condition and qualitative and quantitative analysis to the senior
management. With these policies and procedures, we aim to ensure
that the information reported and disclosed in the financial report is true,
complete, accurate and timely.
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TEERME

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Internal Audit Risk Management

We value the importance of our internal audit, as it is essential to our
stable operation and sustainable development. The objectives of our
internal audit are to monitor the implementation of applicable laws
and regulations and our internal policies, procedures and standard
operational procedures, to control our risk exposure at an acceptable
level and to improve our business operations.

We have implemented an independent and vertical organizational system
for our internal audit. We set up an Audit Committee under the Board
of Directors to organize and guide our internal audit work. The Internal
Audit Department regularly reports to the Audit Committee and submits
reports on audit projects in a timely manner.

As the executive department of our internal audit, the Internal Audit
Department is responsible for the supervision, evaluation and consulting
independently. According to our internal audit procedures, the Internal
Audit Department is responsible for auditing and monitoring the
soundness and effectiveness of our internal controls, reviewing the
reliability of accounting records and financial statements, analyzing and
assessing our business policies and activities of our business units for
appropriateness, efficiency and compliance, and auditing and appraising
the performance of our management team.

Human Resources Risk Management

We have implemented a human resource management system to ensure
the effective functioning of our Group, safeguard the legitimate rights
and interests of both parties to the employment relationship and improve
operating efficiency. Our internal human resource management system
covers all the stages of employment relationship, from recruitment to
probation, appraisal, transition and exit.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Anti-corruption

We have implemented internal anti-corruption rules to ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. Our anticorruption rules
define the scope of “corruption” and have detailed requirements as
to gifts and banquets, conflict of interest and financial reporting. Our
compliance department is responsible for the training, supervision and
execution of our anticorruption rules and reports to our Chief Executive
Officer. We have set up a corruption report center to collect information
on suspected corruption incidents. We offer a reward to real-name
informants who report proven corruption incidents. We also have
investigation and punishment procedures in place.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the year ended December 31, 2020.

At the board meeting held on March 30, 2021, the Board, as supported
by the Audit Committee as well as the management report and the
internal audit findings, reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for
the year ended December 31, 2020, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial
reporting and internal audit function and staff qualifications, experiences
and relevant resources.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized
access and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.
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TEERME

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Whistleblowing Policy for Employees to Raise Concerns about
Possible Improprieties

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining the highest
standards of openness, probity and accountability. The Company’s
employees at all levels should conduct themselves with integrity,
impartiality and honesty.

The Board has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy to govern and deal with
fairly and properly concerns raised by the Company’s employees about
any suspected misconduct or malpractice regarding financial reporting,
internal control or other matters within the Company.

The Audit Committee of the Company shall review regularly the policy
and ensure that arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2020.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
announcements relating to disclosure of insider information and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other statutory and
regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are
put to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure
for formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior
management of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the year ended
December 31, 2020 are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The annual remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than Directors) by bands for the year ended December 31, 2020 is
set out below:

EENEREEESMH

ARBEFIEAREE S MR E L E H
BEREY —EEAEROER -

BHE-_Z-_EF+_-_A=+—HILFE E=
ZEHEFBHIINE I BREMES

BE_Z-_ZF+_-_A=+—HILFE &
EIBER B (EEMRIN) NEE FH L E N E
DEEEHIINT

Number of

individuals

AE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001% 7L £ 2,000,000/& 7T 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,0017% 7T 24,000,000 7T 1
Total Bt 6

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the total fee paid/payable
in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s
external auditor, Messrs. KPMG (resigned on December 18, 2020) and
Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (appointed on December 18, 2020) is set
out below:

BB <

BE_Z-_TF+-_A=+—HIEFE =X
NESMNEZBEMEFHEHAMER (R _F=F
F+HZATNBEBHE) RRBE B A=
BRARDM-ZF_FTF+_AT\BEZE)
PRt B MIFBRRRBHNEN, BN EE
&I

Category of services Fee paid/ payable
RiEER Bt/ ENER
RMB’000

AREFTT

Audit services EZRTE 4,600
Non-audit services HEZARTE -
Total #Et 4,600
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

On December 10, 2020, Ms. CHEN Hongyou resigned and Ms. MA Lie
was appointed in place of Ms. Chen as the joint company secretary of
the Company. Ms. WU Miu Wah is the other joint company secretary of
the Company. Ms. Wu is a senior manager of the Corporate Services
Department of Tricor Services Limited and is not an employee of the
Company. Ms. Wu will contact the management of the Company and
report to the Board Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer through
Ms. Ma when necessary. Both Ms. Ma and Ms. Wu have confirmed that
each of them has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
trainings during the year ended December 31, 2020.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint company
secretaries to ensure that Board procedures, and all applicable law,
rules and regulations, are followed.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company
also recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to
make the best investment decisions.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. The general meetings of the Company provide
a platform for communication between the Board and the Shareholders.
The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees, are available
to answer Shareholders’ questions at general meetings. A notice to
Shareholders is sent by the Company at least 20 clear business days
before the annual general meeting and at least 10 clear business days in
all other general meetings.
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TEERME

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company has not
made any changes to its Memorandum and Articles of Association. The
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
(ir.babytree.com), where up-to-date information and updates on the
Company’s financial information, corporate governance practices,
biographical information of the Board and other information are available
for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with Shareholders through various
communication channels and a Shareholders’” Communication Policy
is in place to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness.

To safeguard Shareholder interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of Director. All resolutions put forward
at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and of
the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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CEEREE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposal at General
Meeting

Article 12.3 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that any
two or more members may deposit written requisition at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. General
meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of any
one member which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s))
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in
the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by
the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be
held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly
as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board
provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the Company:

Address: Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong (For the attention of the Board of Directors/
Company Secretary)

Telephone:  86-10-61138080

Email: ir@babytree-inc.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRS

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group, for the year ended
December 31, 2020.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on February 9,
2018 as an exempted limited liability company under the Companies
Law. The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on November 27, 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the advertising, e-commerce and content
monetization business. Details of the principal activities of the principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and performance analysis of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2020 is set out in the chapter headed “Chairman’s
Statement” from pages 3 to 19 and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” from pages 20 to 29 of this annual report.

KEY FINANCIAL DATA

Year ended December 31,
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Year on year

BE+-A=1+—HLEE change (%)
2020 2019 [FLE
—T-F —NEF EE)(%)

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥EF T ARETTT
Revenue WA 212,260 356,828 (40.5)
— Advertising —EE 188,295 320,040 41.2)
— E-commerce — B 19,895 22,214 (10.4)
— Direct sales =K 17,087 13,967 22.3
— Marketplace ¥4 2,808 8,247 (66.0)
— Others —HAth 4,070 14,574 (72.1)
Gross profit EA 96,479 222,633 (56.7)
Gross margin ERE 45.5% 62.4% (16.9)
Loss for the year FEEE N/A
(470,906) (494,451) NiE B
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EEEHRE

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL EXABMBERESRETEAR
PUBLIC OFFERING

Our shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on November 27, 2018, IR MH A —N\F+— A Z+ -t B B
and the net proceeds raised during our initial public offering were  XFT T RN E A AR EHEEEMNAER

approximately HKD1,769.7 million. TEFE4) R1,769. 7B EBTT °

The following table sets forth the status of the use of net proceeds from  ~NER&EI BN AREENSGRIBE FENERS

the initial public offering™: S
Intended Expected
useof  Percentageof  Percentage of timeframe for
Percentage of proceeds used amount unused utilizing the
intended from the as of balance as of  remaining
use of initial public ~ December31,  December 31,  unused net
Intended use of proceeds proceeds offering 2020 20200  proceeds
FrEEmEERE 1R 1R
ZRIRF ka3
ERDH t=A t28  BR&T
fhfS5E RERE =t-8 Zt-B  ABRAE
Rz FERE EBRLH ADRRE REFEN
[l R Bl BA  RBARER

Categories Sub-categories (%)~ (in HKD millions) (%) (%)

3 FE5 (%) (EEERE) (%) (%)

Business expansion, such as acquiring . Acquiring users and improving user 50 885 42 08  Inthenext
users and improving user engagement, engagement ten months?
generating and acquiring more quality
content, recruiting and retaining competent
personnel to support our expansion and
brand marketing activities, and further
enhancing our brand awareness through
marketing activities

ShER DINEREFRRREP2E | EREPRREAFLEE ARTERR
B ERRERESREAS  BERE
BHEAR NPT R 2
8 RBREEERE-SRARMY
miENLE

ii.  Generating and acquiring more qualty 10.0 177.0 6.7 33
content

i ERREGESRERR

ii. - Recruiting and retaining competent 10.0 177.0 79 2.1
personnel to support our expansion and
brand marketing activities

i, RERBBBEARIHMN
ERRaEEEED
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EEEHRE

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL BXABHZBEMESREZHEAZR @)
PUBLIC OFFERING (Continued)

Intended Expected
useof  Percentageof  Percentage of  timeframe for
Percentage of proceeds used amount unused  utilizing the
intended from the as of balance asof  remaining
use of initial public ~ December 31, December 31,  unused net
Intended use of proceeds proceeds offering 2020 2020  proceeds
FERENEE AR R R
ZRCRE It
ERDR t2A tZ8  BR&T
{EAEHE REME =t-A Zt-B  ABRAE
R SURRRE EBALHE ABARE  REREN
[l R BAl Bt BHEEX
Categories Sub-categories (%) (in HKD millions) (%) (%)
£l FEH (%) (HEEERE) (%) (%)
iv.  Further enhancing our brand awareness 50 885 38 12
through marketing activities
v, RREHEDE-SRAAMANREAR
1R
Sub-total 30.0 530.9 26 14
Nt
Research and development, such as recruiting i Recruiting and retaining technical 10.0 177.0 46 54 Inthe next
and retaining technical talent, maintaining talent to develop and upgrade our 12 monthg®
and strengthening our [T infrastructure and mobile apps and websites with more
further developing our technology stack functionalities by providing competitive
salary and equity compensation and
opening development centers in
emerging technology hubs
W PINEERBERGAL  #E#0E | BREREABRIMNFHEREND ARt RS
(AR E S RUERR R E 7% RERERGHLRIREPL  H5
BfnRER BERIAT ARE RAREM0H
HRMIERFRE SN
ii. - Maintaining and strengthening our IT 100 177.0 49 51
infrastructure to accommodate our
business expansion
i EETR A RNE S RIERREN
ARAMNZHER

FEHRE 2020 | EEBEE 85



Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE

PUBLIC OFFERING (Continued)

INITIAL BXAMREMSREFEAZ®W

Intended Expected
useof  Percentageof  Percentage of  timeframe for
Percentage of proceeds used amount unused  utilizing the
intended from the as of balance asof  remaining
use of initial public ~ December 31, December 31,  unused net
Intended use of proceeds proceeds offering 2020 2020  proceeds
FERENEE AR R R
ZRCRE It
ERDR t2A tZ8  BR&T
{EAEHE REME =t-A Zt-B  ABRAE
R SURRRE EBALHE ABARE  REREN
[l R BAl Bt BHEEX
Categories Sub-categories (%) (in HKD millions) (%) (%)
£l FEH (%) (HEEERE) (%) (%)
ii. - Further developing our technology 100 177.0 43 57
stack, including data and storage
management, computer vision,
Neurolinguistic programming and
augmented reality, to enhance user
experience
i E-SREARNRIES - AEHE
RERER HEREE BRES
ERgaRE  EARPER
Sub-total 30.0 530.9 138 16.2
/J\E-f
Further investments, acquisitions and strategic 300 5309 126 174 Inthe next
Aliances, such as investing in companies 12 months
with advanced technology and senvice
solutions or with complimentary business
lines, or have adequate capabilties to
generate synergy with our current business,
and establishing partnerships with quality
local partners in overseas countries
ARRE - WEREREER  fImRERNE A=A

BRERNEREEANENATRAR
BREBENLASEAER RS
e N E S B
EHBHRUBHER
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EEEHRE

USE OF PROCEEDS FRO

OFFERING (continued)

M THE GLOBAL BXLRBEMERRFEAR@®

Intended Expected
useof  Percentageof  Percentage of  timeframe for
Percentage of proceeds used amount unused  utilizing the
intended from the as of balance asof  remaining
use of initial public ~ December 31, December 31,  unused net
Intended use of proceeds proceeds offering 2020 2020  proceeds
FrEsuEnRRRE R TR
- 53 2
BRLR 128 tZA  BR&T
fhFERE BERE =t-H Zt-B  ABRAE
RERE HERE EBfLE ADABE  FEREN
Al R# Bl BAL EHEEE
Categories Sub-categories (%) ~ (in HKD millions) (%) (%)
3 155 (%)  (AEE#TH) (%) (%)
Working capital and other general corporate 100 177.0 64 36
PUPOSEs
BEESRAM-RAARE
Total 100.0 1,769.7 55.4 44.6
Eh

Notes: Hiat -

(1) The figures in the table are approximate figures. (1) EERANEFTABNET -

(2)  The Company expects to fully utilize the remaining unused net proceeds for — (2)  ARRIFEHR KK +HEAANGHE T RABANAR
business expansion in the next ten months, representing a six-month delay ERMENMEFIEFHELMHE - KETEHE
in its expected timeframe. Such delay is primarily due to the adjustment of its HRLEESER - BRTCEDNFEHRARFFR
business development strategy as affected by the macroeconomic environment SRS EIR SN E T AR E R REE -
in China.

(38)  The Company expects to fully utilize the remaining unused net proceeds for  (3) AATFEHR AR —EARNBH T AEANE

research and development in the next 12 months, representing an eight-month
delay in the expected timeframe for recruiting and retaining technical talent and
for further developing technology stack, and a one-month delay in the expected
timeframe for maintaining and strengthening IT infrastructure. Such delay is
primarily due to the adjustment of its business development strategy as affected
by the macroeconomic environment in China.

The remaining balance of the net proceeds was placed with banks. The
Group will apply the remaining net proceeds in the manner set out in the

Prospectus.

RIFBENMBFIRFE2BHA - BRELEE
A AT B — SRR PR BT R 2 TR HA S
MREE/\E A - IBAEENRCEPINERR
MERREERHHRTEE—EA - BRLTE
DEEHRARAZHERBLBERTENTEN
TR TS R B -

PSR F BB THOEDEHARIT « A%
5 450 R R 0 5 = PR B4 T B0 S
SOBFE -
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EEEHRE

KEY RELATIONSHIPS

Relationship with Suppliers

Our suppliers primarily include suppliers of products sold through direct
sales on our e-commerce platform. Our largest supplier accounted for
28.58% of our total purchases for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Our top five suppliers accounted for 59.96% of our total purchases for
the year ended December 31, 2020.

Relationship with Customers

Our customers primarily include advertising customers (including
advertisers and advertising agencies), users who make purchases on
our e-commerce platform and users who purchase or subscribe for
our premium content. We have a broad base of customers. Our largest
customer (an advertising customer) for the year ended December 31,
2020 accounted for 13.57% of our revenue. Our top five customers (all
of which are advertising customer) accounted for 33.8% of our revenue
for the year ended December 31, 2020.

All of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers are independent
third parties. None of the Directors, their close associates or the
Shareholders which to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company, had any interest
in any of the five largest suppliers or customers during the year ended
December 31, 2020.

Relationship with Employees

We believe that we maintain a good working relationship with our
employees and we have not experienced any significant labor disputes
or any difficulty in recruiting staff for our operations. None of our
employees are currently represented by labor unions.
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B EREE

BPMEEREIZERERMNEDFRES
HiFfELERNERER - ?‘ﬂFﬁE’JEkTﬁFEFﬁ
HERMABE T _TFE+ _A=+—HILFE
PREE#85EM28.58% » HMIMAT A AHER 16T
MBEE—ZFT-_FTF+_A=+—RHLFERE
#A%EH)59.96% ©

HEFRE

BMMEFPTERRESEF (BRESHLE
ERE) REMEBRFeBENBFPREER
HFIBERMBEEATHAR - RABEZOE
FER -BE T TF+_A=1+—HIF
B BN AEP(—BEESEER) AR
AH1357% « HPIMAAREF (HRESE
PIEBMBE—"Z - TF+_A=+—HILF
E W AHI33.8% °

AEEMAAAFEEREF,PHOABYE=
B BEEMNE  BHE_ZT_ZTF+_A
=+—HIFE HHEBBS%ARRDEITR
THEES  BENBETHEASBRFTREL
RAAMERRE R EE TR -

EESRE

BAIEGE - RAREEES RN TIERERR
B RBEEFMEREEMDHERRMD
EBHEER T T HBIEAEE - HANWEER
BATEARBA IEMRR -



Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the environment, giving
back to community and achieving sustainable growth. Details of such
will be set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be
published no later than three months after the publication of this annual
report.

LICENCES, REGULATORY APPROVALS AND
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2020, there were no material
breaches or violations of relevant laws and regulations in China, where
the Group has business entities and operation, and the Group obtained
all material licences and permits necessary for its business in the
jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Details of our compliance with
relevant laws and regulations will be set out in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report.

BEBRERSE

AEERNRBEITHEEME  BIMEERMR
BR - -RERE DB RERAFER
- BRAFBEHHNERE e hEa®mE
BRAHmEH T ERAFERSTER=FAR
S

R - BEEHUERETAEER

HEZZ-ZF+_A=+—HIEFE K&
ETEHhEMNEKERRELTUERZTESNE
REBEEER  BEAKEERRSEAEEL
ERER A eARESAINENEHNEEE
RBRFAE - BEARMETHEBEEERNF

BERERE - HEREAWSE °
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EEEHRE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business operation of the
Group, and principal risks and uncertainties that the Group faces and
key mitigations that the Group adopts are summarized as follows:

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties
FTERBRRIRERE

Description
it

Al B

TERBRRIEERE

EREASEEENEBELCNETHER
AEEEBENEZRR R T EERERAKE
BREREY T BEBRERAAGINT

Key Mitigations
T EEFIET

Risks related to natural
disasters, health epidemics
and other outbreaks

HERKE - REKRBRIENR
HAb s m R AR AR
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Our operations may be adversely affected
by natural disasters, health epidemics and
other outbreaks including Covid-19, which
may lead to more intense competition
and a decrease in business opportunities
with our major clients as a result of the
worsening macroeconomic environment
in China. Any of the foregoing events may
also give rise to severe health threats
to our employees’ health, operation
interruptions or suspensions, which
may materially and adversely affect our
business, financial conditions and results
of operations.

B EEARERBARAKNE  REER
EIEREMKREREE(BERBMHA) X
THFE  FTEEERBEREEESHT
EER MEFrETFPHEEKE A
R A o B E R E 119 & SR B 2 R
HRBENRERE  LEXITEN
iz ATRe g BRMOER - BB R
EEEBENERTAZE -

We further expanded our customer and
partner base, and explored new business
model that can mitigate the overall losses
of the Company caused by part of our
business. We also continued our proactive
measures to control the epidemic, with
an aim to protect the health and safety of
our employees and to maintain the normal
operation of our business, so that we can
mitigate the impact of the potential risks
stated above on our financial position and
operating results.

BABE—TBRREZNEFPREHER
B AREREFEOEEEN - BB nRE
DEBRIFEMS RO QR BEIRL
R BEERRARRIEHEERE - RIE
BEREEZE  #REBLEHE - K
B D DA AT B R B S T AP 0 B B AR e AR
BEENTE -
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EEEHRE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FEERKEKIEERE@E)

(Continued)

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties
FTERBRRTERERZE

Description

i

Key Mitigations
T EEBIET

Uncertainty to maintain and
enhance our brand

W RRF R SR
T

We receive media coverage. Any
unfavorable publicity could adversely affect
our reputation. Such negative publicity
also could have an adverse effect on the
size, engagement and loyalty of our user
base and result in decreased revenue,
which could adversely affect our business
and financial results.

If we are not able to maintain and enhance
our brand, or if events that occur damage
our reputation and brand, our ability to
expand our user base may be impaired,
and our business and financial results may

be harmed.

P EERE - E TS EHE AR
HEFINHBEERTNTE - WEEBEE
BRI R PIR P ERRIE - 2EE
BHEESETAZE  WBBERETRE -

e Al ge B IR PIRO KA M 5 AR EA T

bz

ERFEEEE N RMNOMAE - HE
EEREFRMNBERMENSEMF - A
EARPEHBE N AT RE S WHISS - ZAFIR
EB LY BREANEEXINES -

The Company has set up a professional
public relations department and team. At
the same time, we have hired a renowned
public relations firm to assist our public
relations department. They pay timely
attention to and collect public opinion,
analyze the relevant information and provide
corresponding solutions to the management
team, and the management team will take
appropriate actions in accordance with the
Company’s policies and procedures.

ARBIERIBRN AR REEK - [
H% ' ﬁTFﬁmE%?*T%H%E’J"FAﬁ"T 1580
NEAERFT - R AFRTI W EEE - B
ﬁfﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁi/“ﬁjﬁmf TH I AR TT 2R
FEEEE  ATEEEREQFBHRMR
%E%LA EE Y -
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EEEHRE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FEERKEKIEERE@E)

(Continued)

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties
FTERBRTEERR

Description
3t

Key Mitigations
T EEFIET

Risks related to the high
competitiveness of our
business

AN EGE AR F
THRE R

Annual Report 2020 | BabyTree Group

We face significant competition from
M&C product and service providers. We
also face competition from traditional
and online media outlets for advertising
budgets. As we introduce new products,
as our existing products evolve, or as
other companies introduce new products
and services, we may become subject to
additional competition.

If we are unable to compete effectively,
our business, financial conditions and
results of operations may be materially
and adversely affected.

BFE R K B & 2B Em KRB R
AT - RPIEESTEE ) E T EERE
MR MBS - BEE R
HEm  RAERFEREREMATE
T EmMRTS - B EESmERED

BE -

WRIPEERFHARES - ARMHE
% MBRRREE EARE R EAT
Flpe -

The Company pays close attention to the
changing trend of the industry, following
up the development of new technology
and the change of user experience through
timely technical innovation. By recruiting
more outstanding talents, optimizing
the organizational structure, improving
staff quality and training young staff,
the Company continuously improves its
innovation ability, concentrates resources
to strengthen the technical capability of
products and improve the environment
of technical innovation, and continuously
develops market-oriented products to meet
users’ expectation. Externally, we respond
to the market needs in a timely manner
through the co-construction of ecosystem,
combining platform advantages, finding
better partners and expanding into more
innovative areas.

RRRIFEEITERCBY  RNBRA
BT alFriR e i R - BT AP BR
BWElL  BBAREEZESAT - BcAE
BAERE RAATEERESFFALN
FEIRTRIFEE ) - RHERBEMNAE
m i RE 1 R E B AT BT RO IRIE - TR
FENEMEMPHENER - SNEbEB
HBERERG  HaTAEY  SHEH
BMEERHENERE ZaIFRE - KEE
JETIZHTE K °
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EEEHRE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FEERKEKIEERE@E)

(Continued)

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties
FTERBRRIRERZE

Description
3t

Key Mitigations
T EEFIET

Dependence on a limited
number of key advertising
customers

RO BETBRERP

A significant portion of our revenue
is attributable to a limited number of
advertising customers. We expect that
such largest customers will continue to
account for a significant portion of our
revenue in the foreseeable future. This
may lead to heightened customer or credit
concentration risks.

We derive a substantial portion of our
revenue from a limited number of key
advertising customers, which may make
our cash flow and earnings volatile. Our
long-term plan to reduce such volatility
may not be successful.

BRRARER &7 XQ BEEE
F o ZABEMERRRE  ZFEAEFH
%%E%Wﬁ%ﬁi%-% ° FEHEH

EFSEESETRRINE

BPBAZEBARBIBEIEZESE
F - EZaERMNRSRMENEE TR
FEME o BAPIEREREY RIARR X TR E 1Y
RHFHBIRAL AR

While maintaining efficient service for major
advertising customers, the Company
made more efforts to explore advertising
customers in fields not directly relating
to M&C, such as automanufacturing,
cosmetics and other fields. We also actively
introduced new types of advertising
methods, such as short videos and live
streaming, and sought strategic cooperation
with other reputable brands.

ARARHERFA/IBZEREEPRESUR
BRRE  BIATHRZBEREREEP
MEBERNE  MRBRE  bkmER
B ZMBBEBELHLES T - 08
BREER USREEMGEERIFOR
MEETTEEE A 1E -
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EEEHRE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FEERKEKIEERE@E)

(Continued)

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties
FTERBRTEERR

Description
3t

Key Mitigations
T EEFIET

Risks related to confidential
information of our online
users and our network

HEGAPOETER K&
B R AR RO R

For risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements, please see
section headed “Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements” in this

Directors’ Report.

Annual Report 2020 | BabyTree Group

Our platforms collect, store and process
personal and other sensitive data from our
users. Users are required to provide bio
data for registration on our platforms.

Our security measures may be breached
due to employee error, malfeasance,
system errors or vulnerabilities, or
otherwise. Failure to protect confidential
information of our online users and our
network against security breaches, any
actual or perceived failure by us or third
parties to comply with applicable data
protection laws and regulations or privacy
policies could substantially harm our
business, financial condition and results of
operations.

BT ERMPRELZER MEMH
REUB I RTF RBRIE - P RIRHAEYE
BABAERPINF & L

BN L 2ERAIEEE THHER &
B R RO s B A E RO -
REERELERAPHBEZER RN
HE2RREBARNE=TERRERR
REEE T A BUR R AR IR AL
RABERARE LBRERMOES - B

AN
=]
AN
(=)

The Company has the responsibility
to protect users’ sensitive information,
and has always listed users’ private
information as the highest level of sensitive
information of the Company. The Company
has established relevant systems and
control measures for sensitive information
management, including the establishment of
an effective management system to ensure
the security of sensitive information through
encryption technology, data access rights
control and procedure control. Meanwhile,
the Company’s independent professional
team will regularly check the protection of
sensitive information, as well as conducting
training and promotion for the awareness of
information security to enhance employees’
awareness of protecting sensitive
information.
RRABERERFPBREANEE  — B
VAR A P REALDI R AN A Rl & = AR B BV 8K
A WERVGREMEEA S
EREEER BEREIERNERR
B MBINEEM - EHIE R R K
ETREERSHBEBRRGUREMNT
2o [ ARFBEINBEEEG ST B
HPREMNREETRE  LEREE
AL EHRBINEE  ReEERER

MLPRBRER - FLHAAEEEREI AR
LR | —8f o
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EEEHRS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the
state of the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 147 to 148.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2020 (for the year ended December 31,
2019: Nil).

Distributable Reserves

As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s distributable reserves
calculated under the Companies Law comprise the share premium
and retained profits totaling approximately RMB10,501.2 million
(RMB10,488.0 million as of December 31, 2019).

Reserves

Changes to the reserves of the Group during the year ended December
31, 2020 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
in this annual report.

PRk

AREBHE T -_TF+_A=+—HILFE
MEENAEEBHZEZBHNT SR RRITEH
RARFEEREF147TE148ENFIERERA

KIS

EXe Mg RNBE_T _FTF+_H
=t HLEFENRERE (BE-T-NF
TZA=1T—HIFE: £&)-

Aok iEE
ai_$_$¢+*ﬂi+fav$“ﬁmﬁ
AUERTE MR D IRFE B RIERD R E RIRE
mﬂwﬁ%AE%ﬂwmzﬁéﬁxﬁi_g
—NEFE+-A=+—HAAR10,488.068

JT) e

Fifh
AEEBE-BT-BF+-A=T—AILFE
MRREBRAREEREAGHEREBR -
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended December 31, 2020 are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2020 are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Bank Borrowings and other Loans
There are no bank borrowings and other loans of the Group as at
December 31, 2020.

Charge on Assets
There was no charge on the Group’s assets as at December 31, 2020.

Donation
There was no donations made by the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2020.

Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 2 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.
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EEEHRE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended December 31, 2020, a total of 2,160,000
Shares of the Company were repurchased by the Company on the
Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration of HK$2,047,280. The
repurchase of Shares was effected by the Directors for the benefit of
the Company and to create value to its Shareholders. As of December
31, 2020, 870,000 of the repurchased Shares during the year ended
December 31, 2020 and 6,039,000 repurchased Shares during the year
ended December 31, 2019 had been cancelled. On March 22, 2021,
1,290,000 repurchased Shares during the year ended December 31,
2020 had been cancelled.

Details of the repurchases of Shares during the year ended December
31, 2020 are set out as follows:

BE HESIEEALQF LHES

BHE_Z-ZF+_A=1+—HItFE &R
A)E HAEE 2 ATEE 212,160,000 AN A &A% 15
HRE /2,047,280 T - EERERIRG TR
NAMER AHRFAEBEMET - HEZ
T-EFF-A=Z+—H REE-ZT-ZTF
+Z=A=+—HBIEFE#ERIA/I870,000/% fE 1%
DEREBEZZE—NF+ZA=T—HILEFE
5 [E1196,039,000% B IR () B4 7T - M=
——FZA-+-H REE-ZT-_TF+—
A=+—HI1I-FEER/1,290,0000% & [ % 17
BT o

BHE_Z - ZF+_A=T—HUIFEERRK
HEFBEIOT

Number Highest Lowest

of Shares price paid price paid Aggregate

Month/year £/8 repurchased per Share per Share consideration
FrigE [EEREST efNgR

RSEE BSE RIEE BRE

HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT

April 2020 —ZZE-FFMA 2,160,000 1.03 0.83 2,047,280

Except as disclosed above, during the year ended December 31, 2020, K EXHREEII  REEZE T -_ZTF+_4

neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any other listed securities of the Company.

=t HUEFE  $EARQRHETANER
AEE - HENBERAR R EREM ETHE
%O
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended December 31,

S

ARARBE_ZT-_FTF+_A=1t—HBLLF

2020 and up to the Latest Practicable Date were: ErREEHEERATRNESR
Name Position/Title

#E %S

XU Chong (#:31) Executive Director

el HITESF

PAN Zhiyong (&7 5)
BB

WANG Huainan (F &)

QIAN Shunjiang (82JIE5T)
=3 ([pan

GAO Min (5 8)

WANG Changying (F ££8)
FRAE

WU Ying (R78)
RA

Christian Franz REITERMANN
Christian Franz REITERMANN

CAl Yumin (2 % &)
2L

YAN Jia (8% 1E)
ER1E

CHEN Qiyu (BRELF)
BRERT
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Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer (appointed on January 20, 2021)
BITEERITBEH(RN_E_—F—-—A-+HEZE)

Non-executive Director and Chairman of the Board (re-designated from an executive
Director to a non-executive Director and resigned as the Chief Executive Officer on
January 20, 2021)

FMTEEREFSIE(N T =—
TIAREL)

F-A-tERPTESHERIFNTES MEHE

Non-executive Director (appointed on January 20, 2021)

FATEE(R_FT_—F—A-+TRHERT)

Non-executive Director and Vice Chairman of the Board (appointed on January 20, 2021
and March 30, 2021 respectively)

FRTESREFSETFE (DN T ——
)

F-A-THER-ZE_—F=-A=1HEZ

Non-executive Director (resigned as the Vice Chairman of the Board on March 30, 2021)
HNTEE(WN T —F=-A=-THFIESSIIERE)

Non-executive Director (appointed on January 20, 2020)

FRTEE(R T _FTF - -+ HEZE)

Non-executive Director

FEMITES

Non-executive Director (appointed on June 30, 2020 and resigned on January 20, 2021)
FNTEF(R _E_EFAAA=ZTEEZEURR - —F— A -+ HEHE)

Non-executive Director (appointed on June 30, 2020 and resigned on January 20, 2021)
FNTEEN-BoBFAASTAREEURR RS —F— A=+ ABHE)

Non-executive Director (resigned on June 30, 2020)
FHITEE(RZZETFSA=THET)
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Name

&

EEm)

Position/Title
BSR4

HU Weixiong (RR{E )
ARE M

MA Jiangwei (55,T12)
BILRE

CHEN Guanglei (FR /& £2)
fR & 2

De-chao Michael YU (g11=78)
BfEiER

Non-executive Director (resigned on March 30, 2020)

FATET(R_T_FF=-A=1HED)

Non-executive Director (resigned on January 20, 2020)

FATET(R_T_FF—A -t HED)

Independent non-executive Director

BUFRITES

Independent non-executive Director

BUFMITESR

SHIAH Hung-Yu (B 34&)
LN

ZHANG Hongjiang
ZHANG Hongjiang

Independent non-executive Director

BUFMITES

CHEN Danxia (R F+85)

Independent non-executive Director (appointed on June 30, 2020)

BUFMTERT(R_ZT_TFA=THEZE)

Independent non-executive Director (resigned on June 30, 2020)

BRFYER BUFMTER(R T _TFNA=THET)

Pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association, Mr. SHIAH Hung-
Yu who was appointed on June 30, 2020 as an independent non-
executive Director, Mr. PAN Zhiyong who was appointed on January 20,
2021 as an executive Director, Mr. QIAN Shunjiang and Mr. GAO Min
who were appointed on January 20, 2021 as non-executive Directors
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM.

In addition, pursuant to Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Mr.
XU Chong, Mr. WANG Huainan, Mr. WANG Changying and Mr. CHEN
Guanglei shall retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company as at the Latest Practicable Date are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

RIBABSIEMAEI6216 - RZT_TFRX
A=ZTREZERBIUFNTEZTNELRSL
£ RIZB-—F-A-+THEZEARTE
ENEEBREAIN T -_—F—F-+H
BRERFFIATESFNRIBIEERSEEE
BREERRBFAE LRE  REAGERY
FRENBEAFAS LE&BE -

o - ARIBAAERBAIE 161916 - R
£ ITEREE  IRBEERBESLES
REERERFAG FRERT  B#EEER
WHEERIRRBAFRKE L EEET -

ARBRBREREBRAITARNEERGRER

BHEERERR AT RS S ERERER
Bl -
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of Appointment

On November 1, 2018, each of the executive Directors (excluding Mr.
PAN Zhiyong) entered into a service contract, and each of the non-
executive Directors (excluding Mr. MA Jiangwei, Mr. WU Ying, Mr. HU
Weixiong, Ms. CAl Yumin, Ms. YAN Jia, Mr. QIAN Shunjiang and Mr.
GAO Min) and the independent non-executive Directors (excluding Mr.
SHIAH Hung-Yu) entered into an appointment letter with our Company,
respectively. The principal particulars of these service contracts
and appointment letters are: (a) each of the service contracts and
appointment letters is for a term of three years following each Director’s
respective appointment date; and (b) each of the service contracts and
appointment letters is subject to termination in accordance with their
respective terms.

Following the appointment of Mr. WANG Changying as the Vice
Chairman of the Board on March 30, 2020 and his resignation as the
Vice Chairman of the Board on March 30, 2021, no new appointment
letter has been executed. His appointment letter as a non-executive
Director entered into with the Company on November 1, 2018 shall
continue.

Mr. PAN Zhiyong has signed a service contract with the Company for
a term of three years commecing from January 20, 2021. Mr. WANG
Huainan has signed a letter of resignation as an executive Director and a
letter of appointment as a non-executive Director with the Company for
a term of three years commecing from January 20, 2021. Each of Mr.
QIAN Shunjiang and Mr. GAO Min has signed a letter of appointment
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from January
20, 2021. Following the appointment of Mr. GAO Min as the Vice
Chairman of the Board on March 30, 2021, no new appointment letter
has been executed and his appointment letter as a non-executive
Director entered into with the Company on January 20, 2021 shall
continue. Mr. WU Ying has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from January 20,
2020. Each of Ms. CAl Yumin and Ms. YAN Jia has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from June 30, 2020 and has signed a letter of resignation with the
Company on January 20, 2021. Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from June 30, 2020.
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EEEHRE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of Appointment
(Continued)

The service contracts and appointment letters may be renewed in
accordance with the Articles of Association and the applicable rules.
None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with members of the Group that is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

Confirmation of Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors (being Mr. CHEN Guanglei, Mr. De-chao
Michael YU, Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu and Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang), and
the Company considers such Directors to be independent for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions as disclosed in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements and the connected transactions
as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this
Directors’ Report, there was no transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director and/or any of its connected entity had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly subsisted at the end of, or
at any time during the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company
did not have any controlling shareholder at any time during the year
ended December 31, 2020.

EEm)
BERBSORETE(E)

WG EHREZERAIRBEABERAAZER
RATUAESR - EZRBRRBFAG LERE
THESHMEEARERE AR LAKET
EER—FRARIEMEFIELRECEIERER
SN EIIRTS A4 ©

BYFHTESNE RIS

RAARBWESBIFATES(ARES
A amEBEELE - BESABRELE RZHANG
Hongjiang 7t £ ) 1B i E R RIS 313 IKM FE 18
YHERE  RARARAZEEETREE-Z
—EF+ A=+ BUSFEAEBEYE -

EEREBRRRREARS - Z5
FENF RS

BRe Mt mAM T2 REN AR5
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2020, the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company had the following interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which have been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests and short positions
which the Directors and the chief executives of the Company are taken
and deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or which are
required to be and are recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing
Rules:

Interest in Shares of the Company

EERBSTHRAERR®D - 186
ROk EERNEDRNXR

RZZEZTF+=ZA=1+—H EFHAEARQF
ERTBABRARRREAREEE(EERE
%&Hﬁﬁﬂﬂ DISEXVER ) BOR% 0 ~ AERARR (D M (EHE

BHREEREZES RHEKROEXVEETRE

8D RPAME AR E R RS IAE (B
REFIARAZRSTBRABREESLRE

{EGIE A BRSO B E R AT E MR et sk
B) - BREE S LB DI E 35216 B X IF

Il Ffr 3t 5 5 H%Zfaa ' _52/,\$ETJ%J:FH%EH'JW¢$
#H'J/,\%J@ZK 56 22 P B #E 25 SOK B 40
™

RARA TR KRS

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued

Name of Director Nature of interest/Capacity ordinary Shares share capital®
HEBITRAE

EEpA ERMEE 545 EREREE RN ERagEas)
Mr. WANG Huainan® Interest in controlled corporations 370,096,2508 22.27%
EEmEED PR EE R 370,096,2500 22.27%
Interest under voting agreements 39,687,8469 2.39%

KE i THER 39,687,846 2.39%

Mr. WANG Changying® Interest in controlled corporations 550,943 0.03%
ERALLED REEEEE RS 550,943@ 0.03%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Interest in Shares of the Company (Continued)
Notes:

(1) As at December 31, 2020, 370,096,250 Shares are held by Wang Family
Limited Partnership, which is owned by Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings Limited
(general partner of Wang Family Limited Partnership) as to 0.01%, Golden Leaf
Holdings Limited (sole shareholder of Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings Limited)
as to 30%, and Mr. WANG Huainan in the capacity of trustee of Allen Wang
Grantor Retained Annuity Trust (a limited partner of Wang Family Limited
Partnership) as to 39.99%. Mr. WANG Huainan is the sole shareholder of
Golden Leaf Holdings Limited and founder of Allen Wang Grantor Retained
Annuity Trust. Accordingly, he is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Wang Family Limited Partnership under the SFO.

As at December 31, 2020, pursuant to the voting agreements dated September
10, 2018 entered into by Tenzing Holdings 2011, Ltd. (“Tenzing”) with Mr.
WANG Huainan, Mr. WANG Huainan as an attorney has the right to vote over all
the 39,687,846 Shares held by Tenzing.

) As at December 31, 2020, Mr. WANG Changying wholly owned Wingnou
Investments Limited and therefore Mr. WANG Changying is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Wingnou Investments Limited under the SFO.

©)) All the Shares are held in long position.

(4) As at December 31, 2020, the total number of issued Shares of the Company
was 1,662,001,609 (including any shares repurchased by the Company but
not yet cancelled). As at December 31, 2020, a total of 1,290,000 Shares have
been repurchased by the Company but not yet cancelled.

BEENBSTHRAERKRG - HE
BROREEZNESZRXE @

RAD R IR AD R 2R ()

™) N\ZEZZF+ZHA=+—H 370,096,250 A%
53 ¥ 2= F3 Wang Famiy Limited Partnership 8 -+
Wang Famiy Limited Partnership3 Golden Leaf Cayman
Holdings Limited(Wang Family Limited Partnership#i&

AF AN)FH0.01% * Golden Leaf Holdings Limited
(Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings Limitedi M — R 3R )+
H30% K F 12 7 4 4 LAAllen Wang Grantor Retained
Annuity Trust ( Wang Family Limited Partnership #) A&
RABAN)ZTEAFNOFHE3.99% « TIEBEER
Golden Leaf Holdings Limited i —A% 5 K& Alen Wang
Grantor Retained Annuity Trust 81 &I 3Z A © # 1t + 1R
BRES REEGD] - RBAR R Wang Famiy Limited
PartnershipPT58 BRI A P B i o

RZZZZFEF+=ZA=+—H " BETenzing
Holdings 2011, Ltd ([Tenzing]) £2 T 1 ﬁf‘ﬁiuT
VHBARAEZZT— )/ \FNLATANEEHE -
\&ﬁ?EE1’EE1&E¥A§$§?¢Tenzmg%ﬁE’\J’i\uB
39,687,846 iR (0 1% & ©

@ RIZE-_ZBE+-_A=+—HBH ERELLEE
# A Wingnou Investments Limited + E it » 1B #%
FBHREBEGKS - FRELEWKR AR Wingnou
Investments Limited$§8 BUAR (7 * 7 A s ©

@)  FERMEGAEERE -

@ RZEZZEF+ZA=+—8  ARFDETR
D #A%A1,662,001,609% (BIEA D FIEHERIE
RABENEARG) RZZE_TF+=-A=+—
A AQFA HERE1,290,0008% /%17 - B # AT
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS EERRSTHRAERKRH - HHE
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING MR EZERZNERRRE @)
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Equity Interest in Zhongming (an associated corporation of RRIE (A FMHESEE) VIR HER
the Company)

Approximate percentage

Name of Director Nature of interest/Capacity of equity interest
EEpA EEME 545 IRESAE DL
Mr. WANG Huainan® Beneficial owner 79.66%
EEmEED EmEAA 79.66%
Interest in controlled corporations 0.47%
REEEEE R RS 0.47%
Mr. XU Chong® Interest in controlled corporations 2.53%
RS & REEELEE R RS 2.53%
Mr. WANG Changying Beneficial owner 0.04%
IRELE BB A 0.04%
Notes: Bt

(1) As at December 31, 2020, Mr. WANG Huainan directly held approximately (1) AZEZTF+-A=+—8B TEEELEEE
79.66% equity interest in Zhongming. As he also is the general partner of B RIBAIT.66%R & - R EINAE R EHI
Ningbo Baoshu, he is therefore deemed to be interested in the equity interest TREBA - BRREBEESKAEED - BEER

held by Ningbo Baoshu in Zhongming under the SFO. BRERER TS RIS RER A -

@) As at December 31, 2020, Mr. XU Chong was the general partner of Ningbo ~ (2) MRZZ_ZF+_A=+—H HIHELREK

Zhishan, Ningbo Honghu and Ningbo Yimengweima, which held equity interest EE CERBEERERAZRENEBEEEA
in Zhongming as to approximately 1.76%, 0.47% and 0.30%, respectively. Mr. MZERA DR RIEFEEL1.76% ~ 0.47% &
XU Chong is therefore deemed to be interested in such equity interest held by 0.30% 1 - FRIEEH REGED] - HF¥xeE
Ningbo Zhishan, Ningbo Honghu and Ningbo Yimengweima respectively under WRARERES  BEBEREFANZREAMN
the SFO. FEMRER GRS -
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Equity Interest in Zhongming (an associated corporation of
the Company) (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2020, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO
or which had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules. Save as
disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below, at no
time was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and chief executives
of the Company (including their spouse and children under 18 years of
age) to hold any interest or short positions in the Shares or underlying
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

BEERBESTHRAERRKY - HEE
RO REEFNERZ R AR @)

MRS (A2 BEEER) KR 65 (80

BREXPBEEN R_T_TF+_H
=t—H EFEHARFAZSTRAERER
ARBEREBEEE (E& R EH LB RISE
XVER) IR~ AERERD S EZ T A ARG AE
A RBN AR BIMRIEEF KB 5RHI5E352(F
FEMELMHEMNERIORR  HEREL
MR RIPTE MR ST R A& AN R B B SR FT Y
EAEETORR © BT X[ BT 8 | —&pT
WEESN - PMEAIEERE - ARF) - HERAR
AT B R BRERT LA 2 - BEE
ERARARITRAR (BRERENEE K
Tt AR FLORARRHEBEEE(EE
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at December 31, 2020, so far as is known to the Director or chief
executives of the Company, the persons or corporations (other than
Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interest or short
positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporation(s) which were required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under section

336 of the SFO were as follows:

FTERREHMALTRRG RIEE
WA AR SO R

REFHARARSTRABMERM  R-F
“EEF A=+ —H  RARQEHHEAR
B i MR R B REES KR K
FIFEXVER 2 J 370 BE RV RSB EE T A AR
R R - RARAREEZ L PEERDIE
3B6IEMRERTFENECMANERIAR A
THEBE(EEFRARARHTRABRIN I
™

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary Shares share capital®
HEBITRAE

BRREEERB B, HEmtE EEREE RN Eagray
Fosun International Limited® Interest in controlled corporations 785,104,553 47.24%
BEBRERAERARO PR EE R 785,104,553© 47.24%
Beneficial owner 12,838,000 0.77%

EnEEA 12,838,0000 0.77%

Fosun Holdings Limited® Interest in controlled corporations 797,942,553 48.01%
EEERERARO RZIEHEE R S 797,942,5536 48.01%
Fosun International Holdings Ltd.( Interest in controlled corporations 797,942,553 48.01%
EEEBRIERAR AR RZIEHEE R S 797,942,5536 48.01%
Mr. GUO Guangchang™ Interest in controlled corporations 797,942,553 48.01%
P EE S RZIEHEE R S 797,942,5536 48.01%
Startree (BVI) Limited® Beneficial owner 435,032,0216© 26.18%
Startree (BVI) Limited™ BEREAA 435,032,0216 26.18%
Fosun Health Holdings Limited® Interest in controlled corporations 435,032,0216© 26.18%
Fosun Health Holdings Limited® RS2 #AE AR 435,032,0216! 26.18%
Ms. TANG Yu®® Interest of spouse 409,784,096© 24.66%
TANG Yuzz1-@® Ao (B 409,784,096 24.66%
Wang Family Limited Partnership® Beneficial owner 370,096,2500 22.27%
Wang Family Limited Partnership® Ez5#A A 370,096,2500 22.27%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

FTERREEMATRKRD R
RONERRAE @)

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary Shares share capital®
HEBITRAE
BREEEB B, e ERREE RN ERagray
Golden Leaf Holdings Limited® Interest in a controlled corporation 370,096,250 22.27%
Golden Leaf Holdings Limited® RZIEHEE R R 370,096,2500) 22.27%
Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings Interest in a controlled corporation 370,096,250 22.27%
Limited®
Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings REEHLEEH R 370,096,2500 22.27%
Limited®
Shanghai Fosun High Technology Having a security interest in share 347,805,0326 20.93%
(Group) Co., Ltd.™
FPEEESHR(EE)BERATN HERGORIER 347,805,0326 20.93%
Taobao China Holding Limited® Beneficial owner 165,212,4570 9.94%
AE P BIERER AR BEmEEA 165,212,4576) 9.94%
Taobao Holding Limited® Interest in controlled corporations 165,212,4570 9.94%
AEERER AR RS EE R R 165,212,4576) 9.94%
Alibaba Group Holding Limited® Interest in controlled corporations 165,212,4570 9.94%
Alibaba Group Holding Limited® A S3E#ABE KRS 165,212,4576© 9.94%
TAL Education Group® Beneficial owner 144,466,006© 8.69%
HAREHE REO EnEAA 144,466,0066! 8.69%
Bright Unison Limited® Interest in controlled corporations 144,466,006© 8.69%
Bright Unison Limited® RZIEHEE R R 144,466,006© 8.69%
Mr. ZHANG Bangxin® Interest in controlled corporations 144,466,006© 8.69%
RHIBLES REZEEE 144,466,0066 8.69%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes:

(1) As at December 31, 2020, Startree (BVI) Limited beneficially owns 435,032,021
Shares. Startree (BVI) Limited is wholly owned by Fosun Health Holdings
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fosun International Limited. Accordingly,
Fosun Health Holdings Limited and Fosun International Limited are deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Startree (BVI) Limited. As at December 31,
2020, Fosun International Limited beneficially owns 12,838,000 Shares and
is also deemed to be interested in 2,267,500 Shares held by its subsidiary,
Fidelidade — Companhia de Seguros, S.A. and 347,805,032 Shares held
by its wholly-owned subsidiary, Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group)
Co., Ltd. The controlling shareholder of Fosun International Limited is Fosun
Holdings Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fosun International
Holdings Ltd. Mr. GUO Guangchang (28 2) is the controlling shareholder of
Fosun International Holdings Ltd. Accordingly, Mr. GUO Guangchang, Fosun
International Holdings Ltd. and Fosun Holdings Limited are deemed to be
interested in a total of 797,942,553 Shares, in which Fosun International Limited

is interested or deemed to be interested.

) Ms. TANG Yu is the spouse of Mr. WANG Huainan. By virtue of the SFO, Ms.
TANG Yu is deemed to be interested in the Shares of the Company in which Mr.

WANG Huainan is deemed to be interested.

) Wang Family Limited Partnership was set up by Mr. WANG Huainan and
his wife (Ms. TANG Yu). As at December 31, 2020, Wang Family Limited
Partnership is owned by Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings Limited (general partner
of Wang Family Limited Partnership) as to 0.01%, Golden Leaf Holdings Limited
(sole shareholder of Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings Limited) as to 30%, and
Mr. WANG Huainan in the capacity of trustee of Allen Wang Grantor Retained
Annuity Trust (a limited partner of Wang Family Limited Partnership) as to
39.99%. Mr. WANG Huainan is the sole shareholder of Golden Leaf Holdings
Limited and founder of Allen Wang Grantor Retained Annuity Trust. Accordingly,
each of Mr. WANG Huainan, Golden Leaf Holdings Limited and Golden Leaf
Cayman Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by

Wang Family Limited Partnership under the SFO.

4) As at December 31, 2020, each of Taobao Holding Limited (the sole shareholder
of Taobao China Holding Limited) and Alibaba Group Holding Limited (the
sole shareholder of Taobao Holding Limited) is deemed to be interested in the

Shares held by Taobao China Holding Limited under the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(5) As at December 31, 2020, each of Bright Unison Limited and its related parties
(largest shareholder of TAL Education Group as to 28.4% with in aggregate
voting power as to 70.8% as at December 31, 2020) and Mr. ZHANG Bangxin (&
F%&) (sole shareholder of Bright Unison Limited) is deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by TAL Education Group under the SFO.

(6) All the Shares are held in long position.

7) As at December 31, 2020, the total number of issued Shares of the Company
was 1,662,001,609 (including any shares repurchased by the Company but
not yet cancelled). As at December 31, 2020, a total of 1,290,000 Shares have
been repurchased by the Company but not yet cancelled.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2020, the Directors
have not been notified by any person (not being the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended December 31, 2020.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted at the annual general meeting of
the Company held on June 13, 2019. A summary of the share option
scheme is as follows:

The purpose of the share option scheme is to attract, retain and
motivate talented employees to strive towards long term performance
targets set by the Group and to provide them with an incentive to work
better for the interest of the Group. The share option scheme will link
the value of the Company with the interests of the participants, enabling
the participants and the Company to develop together and promote the
Company’s corporate culture.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The participants of the share option scheme include any Director or
employee or officers of any member of the Group, who the Board
considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options to be granted under the share option scheme and any
other share option schemes adopted by the Company shall not exceed
3% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on June 13, 2019 unless
Shareholders’ approval has been obtained.

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options granted to each participant (including both
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) under the share
option scheme or any other share option schemes adopted by the
Company in any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the Shares in issue.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to prior
Shareholders’ approval.

Each grant of share options granted to any Director, chief executive
or Substantial Shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates, shall be subject to the prior approval of the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company (excluding any independent
non-executive Directors who is a proposed grantee of the share option).
In addition, any grant of share options to a substantial Shareholder or
an independent non-executive Director of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares of the Company
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the Shares on the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within
any 12-month period, are subject to prior Shareholders’ approval in
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer. Upon acceptance of the share options, a nominal
consideration of HK$1.00 is payable for the grant of options and such
payment shall not be refundable. There is no minimum period for
which a share option must be held before it can be exercised and no
performance target need to be achieved by a grantee before the share
options can be exercised unless the Directors otherwise determined.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise price shall be at a price determined by the Directors at its
absolute discretion and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price
of the Shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotation sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of offer; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer; and (jii) the nominal value
of s Share of the Company on the date of offer.

The share option scheme remains valid for a period of ten years
commencing on June 13, 2019. As of December 31, 2020, no option
had been granted or agreed to be granted, and thus no options had
been exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the share option scheme. As
a result, the total number of Shares available for grant under the share
option scheme was 50,654,643, representing 3% of the total Shares
in issue of the Company as of June 13, 2019, the adoption date of the
share option scheme and representing 3% of the total Shares in issue of
the Company as at the date of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws in the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders of the
Company.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Directors believe that the ability to attract, motivate and retain skilled
and experienced personnel is of significant importance to the long-term
successful development of the Group. The remuneration package for
our employees generally includes salary and bonuses. We determine
employee remuneration based on factors such as qualifications and
years of experience. Employees also receive welfare benefits, including
medical care, retirement benefits, occupational injury insurance and
other miscellaneous items. We make contributions to mandatory social
security funds for our employees to provide for retirement, medical,
work-related injury, maternity and unemployment benefits. The Group
has established a Remuneration Committee to review the policy and
structure of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management
and make recommendations on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. In general,
the Group determines the emolument payable to its Directors based
on each Director’s qualifications, experience, time commitment and
responsibilities, salaries paid by comparable companies as well as the
performance of the Group.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Particulars of the employee benefits of the Group are set out in note 6(b)
to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the senior management by band for the year ended
December 31, 2020 is set out below:

EBEEF

AEEEERNFFHR AU BHRERM T
6(0) °

RIBEEERTRIMTRIGXEB. 160K - BIE
TE R A=+ HILEFERRERE

MFEEFHFMEBEFIIOT

Number of senior

managements
Remuneration band 2 SREEEAY
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/%5 7T 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ 7L £2,000,000/& 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 723,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 7T 24,000,000/ 7T 2

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the Latest Practicable Date and based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors,
the Company has maintained minimum public float of 256% as required
under the Listing Rules.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY’S
SECURITIES AND EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

At no time during the year was the Company, or any of its holding
companies or subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive of the Company
or their respective associates to subscribe for securities of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate, nor did the Company enter into
any equity-linked agreement.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had engaged in or had any interest in any business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group in 2020.

In order to eliminate any future competition with us, Mr. WANG Huainan
undertook to us on November 6, 2018 that, so long as he remains as
the largest Shareholder of the Company, he will not, and will procure
all companies he controls not to engage in or develop any business
competing or potentially competing with our main business or key
products, including investment in, mergers and acquisitions of any
companies, entities or economic organizations engaged in the same
or similar core business or primarily manufacturing the same or similar
products. In addition, he acknowledged that the Group shall have
priority to develop any new business in the future, and he will not, and
will procure any companies controlled by him not to develop such new
business. Mr. WANG Huainan ceased to be the largest Shareholder of
the Company with effect from October 10, 2019.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that every Director, auditor or other
officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him as a Director, auditor or other officer of the Company in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in
his favour, or in which he is acquitted. Subject to the Companies Law
(2020 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, if any Director or other person
shall become personally liable for the payment of any sum primarily due
from the Company, the Board may execute or cause to be executed any
mortgage, charge, or security over or affecting the whole or any part of
the assets of the Company by way of indemnity to secure the Director
or person so becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect
of such liability. Such provisions were in force throughout the year
ended December 31, 2020 and are currently in force. The Company
has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ liabilities in
respect of legal actions that may be brought against the Directors.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

We set out below a summary of the continuing connected transactions
conducted/carried out by the Group for the year ended December 31,
2020, which are subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Service Agreement with Stardoctor

On March 7, 2019, Zhongming entered into a service agreement with
Stardoctor for a term of one year, pursuant to which Stardoctor will land
on the platforms of Zhongming, providing online services of Expert Q&A
and Mood Talking and pay technical service fee to Zhongming. The
service fees will be collected from customers by Zhongming on behalf
of Stardoctor and paid to Stardoctor by Zhongming on a monthly basis.
The technical service fee is 15% of the relevant service fees for Expert
Q&A business, and 15% of the relevant service fees for Mood Talking
business. Zhongming shall provide continuing display of Stardoctor’s
brand on its platforms, and make marketing initiative to promote the
brand both online and offline. Upon the expiry of the service agreement,
Zhongming may propose to renew it for another one year under the
same terms and conditions and with written consent from Stardoctor.

Stardoctor is a 30%-controlled company of Fosun Health, which is a
fellow subsidiary of Startree with Fosun International being the holding
company of both Stardoctor and Startree. Thus, Stardoctor is an
associate of Startree in accordance with Rule 14A.13(3) of the Listing
Rules. Startree holds more than 10% equity interest in the Company,
and thus a Substantial Shareholder and a connected person of the
Company in accordance with Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules.
Therefore, Stardoctor is a connected person of the Company in
accordance with Rule 14A.07(4) of the Listing Rules. For more details,
please see the announcement of the Company published on March 7,
2019.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements

The Company has entered into a series of contractual arrangements
(the “Contractual Arrangements”) with BabyTree Information,
Zhongming and the Registered Shareholders of Zhongming, under
which the Company gained effective control over, and received all the
economic benefits generated by the business currently operated by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entity. The Contractual Arrangements allow the
financial results of the Consolidated Affiliated Entity to be consolidated
and accounted for as if they were subsidiaries of our Company.

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements

We are engaged in the provision of Internet content services (the
“Relevant Businesses”) in the PRC, which is considered value-added
telecommunication services, a sector where foreign investment is subject
to restrictions under the PRC laws and regulations.

Our Consolidated Affiliated Entity is Zhongming, a company established
under the laws of the PRC, which holds the requisite license, permit and
approval required for the provision of Internet content services through
our mobile apps and websites in the PRC, including the ICP license,
which are essential to the operation of our business. For further details
of the limitations on foreign ownership in PRC companies conducting
value-added telecommunications services and the licensing and
approval requirement applicable to our business under the PRC laws
and regulations, please see section headed “Regulatory Overview —
Laws and Regulations in Relation to Foreign Investments in the Value-
added Telecommunications Industry” in the Prospectus.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Since the Relevant Businesses are classified as foreign investment
restricted businesses under applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules and
there is no clear guidance or interpretation of any applicable qualification
requirements, in order to comply with PRC laws and regulations and
maintain effective control over our Internet content service operations,
our Group entered into the Contractual Arrangements with Zhongming
and the Registered Shareholders. Under the Contractual Arrangements,
BabyTree Information has acquired effective control over the financial
and operational management and results of Zhongming and is entitled
to all the economic benefits derived from the operations of Zhongming.
The Contractual Arrangements enable us to (i) receive substantially all of
the economic benefits from Zhongming in consideration for the services
provided by BabyTree Information to Zhongming under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement; (i) exercise effective control over
Zhongming to conduct the relevant business; and (i) hold an exclusive
option to purchase all or any part of equity interests in Zhongming and/
or assets or interests in any of the assets of Zhongming.

Our Directors, including our independent non-executive Directors, are
of the view that (i) the Contractual Arrangements are fundamental to our
Group’s legal structure and business operations; and (i) the Contractual
Arrangements are on normal commercial terms or on terms more
favorable to our Group in the ordinary and usual course of our Group’s
business and are fair and reasonable or to the advantage of our Group
and are in the interests of our Shareholders as a whole.

Accordingly, notwithstanding that the transactions contemplated
under the Contractual Arrangements technically constitute continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, our
Directors consider that, given that our Group is placed in a special
situation in relation to the connected transactions rules under the
Contractual Arrangements, it would be unduly burdensome and
impracticable, and would add unnecessary administrative costs to our
Company, for all the transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements to be subject to strict compliance with the requirements
set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, including, among other
things, the announcement and approval of independent Shareholders.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of these risks are set out on pages 84 to
90 of the Prospectus.

° If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our business in China do not comply
with PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, we could be subject to severe
consequences and the relinquishment of our interests in the
Consolidated Affiliated Entity.

° Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership and our Consolidated
Affiliated Entity or its shareholders may fail to perform their
obligations under our Contractual Arrangements.

° We may lose the ability to use the permits and licenses held by
Zhongming that are important to the operation of our business
if Zhongming declares bankruptcy or become subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

° Shareholders of Zhongming may potentially have a conflict of
interest with us, and they may breach their contracts with us or
cause such contracts to be amended in a manner contrary to our
interests.

o We conduct relevant business operation in the PRC through
our Consolidated Affiliated Entity by way of the Contractual
Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements may not be enforceable under PRC laws.

° If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership of our
Consolidated Affiliated Entity, the ownership transfer may subject us
to certain limitations and substantial costs.

° Our Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by
the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be imposed. A
finding that we owe additional taxes could substantially reduce
our consolidated net income and the value of Shareholders’
investment.

We face uncertainties with respect to the implementation of the FIL
and how it may impact the viability of our current corporate structure,
corporate governance and business operations.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements (Continued)
Since January 1, 2020, the FIL, which was approved by the National
People’s Congress on March 15, 2019 has taken effect, replaced the
Sino-Foreign Equity Joint Venture Enterprise Law ({HFoME B L&D
%)), the Sino-Foreign Cooperative Joint Venture Enterprise Law
(CFRINETEEE D EESL)) and the Wholly Foreign-Owned Enterprise
Law ({INEFIER)), together with their implementation rules and
ancillary regulations, and become the legal foundation for foreign
investment in the PRC. The FIL embodies an expected PRC regulatory
trend to rationalize its foreign investment regulatory regime in line with
prevailing international practice and the legislative efforts to unify the
corporate legal requirements for both foreign and domestic investments.
Under the FIL, “foreign investment” refers to the investment activities
directly or indirectly conducted by foreign individuals, enterprises
or other entities in China. The FIL stipulates three forms of foreign
investment, and does not explicitly stipulate contractual arrangements
as a form of foreign investment. However, it has a catch-all provision
under definition of “foreign investment” to include investments made
by foreign investors in China through means stipulated by laws or
administrative regulations or other methods prescribed by the State
Council. Therefore, there are possibilities that future laws, administrative
regulations or provisions prescribed by the State Council may regard
contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment, at which
time it would be uncertain as to whether foreign investment via
contractual arrangements would be deemed to be in violation of the
foreign investment access requirements and how the abovementioned
contractual arrangements would be regulated. On December 26, 2019,
the State Council issued the Implementation Regulations for the Foreign
Investment Law of the PRC ({# #E A R £ FBIHNE X B A E i 1§
f71)) (the “Implementation Regulations”) which became effective on
January 1, 2020. The Implementation Regulations also does not specify
contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment. There is no
guarantee that the contractual arrangements and our business will not
be materially and adversely affected in the future due to changes in
PRC laws and regulations. If future laws, administrative regulations or
provisions prescribed by the State Council mandate further actions to
be completed by companies with existing contractual arrangements,
we may face substantial uncertainties as to whether such actions can
be timely completed, or at all. Failure to take timely and appropriate
measures to cope with any of these or similar regulatory compliance
challenges could materially and adversely affect our current corporate
structure and business operations.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued)
Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements
The Contractual Arrangements which were in place during the year

ended December 31, 2019 and a brief description of the major terms
of the structured contracts under the Contractual Arrangements are as
follows:

Exclusive Option and Equity Entrustment Agreement

Zhongming and the Registered Shareholders entered into an
exclusive option and equity entrustment agreement with BabyTree
Information on May 23, 2018 (the “Exclusive Option and Equity
Entrustment Agreement”), pursuant to which (i) BabyTree
Information, or any third party designated by BabyTree Information
(the “designee”), was granted an irrevocable and exclusive right
to purchase from each of the Registered Shareholders all or any
part of their equity interests in Zhongming at a fixed exercise price
(the “Exercise Price”) and/or from Zhongming all or any part of
its assets or interests in any of its assets, for a consideration with
reference to the total or relevant portion of the Exercise Price, and (i)
the Registered Shareholders irrevocably and exclusively entrusted
their equity interest in Zhongming to BabyTree Information or the
designee. Pursuant to the Exclusive Option and Equity Entrustment
Agreement, the Registered Shareholders shall return any amount
of purchase price exceeding the Exercise Price they have received
to BabyTree Information. At BabyTree Information’s request, the
Registered Shareholders and/or Zhongming will promptly and
unconditionally transfer their respective equity interest in and/or
assets of Zhongming to BabyTree Information (or its designee)
after BabyTree Information exercises its purchase right. The
Exclusive Option and Equity Entrustment Agreement will remain
effective until the purchase right thereunder is exercised.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS #ZEBRERS @)
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued) EHRHE)
Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements A ZHFTEHRIEE(E)

(Continued)
° Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Zhongming and the Registered Shareholders entered into an
exclusive business cooperation agreement with BabyTree
Information on May 23, 2018 (the “Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement”), pursuant to which Zhongming
agreed to engage BabyTree Information as its exclusive provider
of management, consultancy, technical support, business
support and equipment services. Under these arrangements, the
service fees, subject to BabyTree Information’s adjustment, shall
consist of all of the profit before taxes of Zhongming. BabyTree
Information may adjust the service fees at its sole discretion,
taking into consideration certain factors, including but not limited
to the deduction of operating costs, expenses and other statutory
contribution in relation to the respective fiscal year. The service
fees shall be paid annually by Zhongming upon receipt of invoice
issued by BabyTree Information.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
BabyTree Information has the exclusive and proprietary rights to
all intellectual properties developed by Zhongming and enjoys all
the economic benefits generated from such intellectual properties,
which will not be affected by the amendment, rescission or
termination of the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement shall remain
effective until (i) BabyTree Information exercises its exclusive
option to purchase the entire equity interests of the Registered
Shareholders in Zhongming and/or the entire assets of Zhongming
pursuant to the terms of the Exclusive Option and Equity
Entrustment Agreement; or (ii) termination unilaterally made by
BabyTree Information upon presentation of written notice 30 days
in advance.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued)
Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

Share Pledge Agreement

Zhongming, the Registered Shareholders and BabyTree
Information entered into a share pledge agreement on May 23,
2018 (the “Share Pledge Agreement”’), pursuant to which, the
Registered Shareholders pledged all of their respective equity
interests in Zhongming to BabyTree Information as collateral
security to guarantee performance of their contractual obligations
under the Exclusive Option and Equity Entrustment Agreement,
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement and the Powers of
Attorney (as defined below).

The pledge in respect of shares of Zhongming takes effect
upon completion of registration with the relevant administrative
authorities, and shall be recorded on the register of shareholders
and capital contribution certificate of the Registered Shareholders.
If any of the items filed with the authorities under the Share Pledge
Agreement shall be amended or updated, Zhongming shall amend
such items within 10 days upon the relevant events occur. Should
an event of default (as provided in the Share Pledge Agreement)
occurs, unless it is successfully resolved to BabyTree Information’s
satisfaction within 10 days upon being notified by BabyTree
Information, BabyTree Information by issuing written notification
may exercise its right of pledge immediately or any time thereafter
pursuant to the Share Pledge Agreement. The Registered
Shareholders have agreed to irrevocably waive their pre-emptive
right as existing shareholders when BabyTree Information
exercises such right of pledge.

The Share Pledge Agreement will not terminate until (i) all
obligations of Zhongming and the Registered Shareholders are
satisfied in full; or (i) BabyTree Information exercises its exclusive
option to purchase the entire equity interests of the Registered
Shareholders in Zhongming and/or the entire assets of Zhongming
pursuant to the terms of the Exclusive Option and Equity
Entrustment Agreement.

The pledges under the Share Pledge Agreement have been duly
registered with the relevant PRC legal authority pursuant to PRC
laws and regulations.
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(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued) EHRHE)

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements A ZHFTEHRIEE(E)
(Continued)

° Powers of Attorney

An irrevocable power of attorney was entered into between each
of the Registered Shareholders and BabyTree Information on May
23, 2018 (the “Powers of Attorney”), pursuant to which each of
the Registered Shareholders appointed BabyTree Information and/
or its designated persons as his/its exclusive agent and attorney to
act on his/its behalf on all matters concerning Zhongming and to
exercise all of his/its rights as shareholder of Zhongming.

As a result of the Powers of Attorney, the Company, through
BabyTree Information, is able to exercise management control
over the activities that most significantly impact the economic
performance of Zhongming. The Powers of Attorney will be
automatically terminated on the earlier of (i) the date the Registered
Shareholder ceases to be the shareholder of Zhongming and (i)
the expiry date of operating period of Zhongming. In addition, the
Registered Shareholders and BabyTree Information undertake to
terminate the Powers of Attorney once BabyTree Information is
allowed to directly hold equity interests in Zhongming and operate
the relevant business once permitted under the then PRC laws.

o Spousal Undertakings

The spouse of each of Mr. WANG Huainan, Mr. WANG Changying,
Mr. WANG Yawei and Mr. SHAO Zhenping executed an
irrevocable undertaking on May 23, 2018, pursuant to which each
of them expressly, unconditionally and irrevocably acknowledged
and has undertaken that (i) any equity interests held by their
respective spouse as a Registered Shareholder in Zhongming do
not fall within the scope of their communal properties; (ii) each
of them will not take any measures that are in conflict with the
Contractual Arrangements, including any claims on the interests
through legal proceedings; and (i) each of them will take any
necessary measures to procure the execution of the Contractual
Arrangements.
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Contractual Arrangements (Continued)
Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements

(Continued)

o Loan Agreement

BabyTree Information and Mr. WANG Huainan entered into a
loan agreement on May 23, 2018 (the “Loan Agreement”),
pursuant to which BabyTree Information provided Mr. WANG
Huainan a loan in principal amount of RMB2,718,538,767.2 (the
“Principal Amount”) to acquire the equity interests in Zhongming
held by its then shareholders other than Ningbo Zhishan, Ningbo
Baoshu, Ningbo Honghu, Ningbo Yimengweima and himself for
the purpose of further stabilizing the corporate structure under
the Contractual Arrangements. As of the Latest Practicable Date,
Mr. WANG Huainan has fully utilized the amount of the loan,
among which an aggregate of RMB63,393,845.6 was paid to
Mr. WANG Yawei, Mr. WANG Changying, Mr. SHAO Zhenping
and Beijing Lujin as advanced payment for their respective equity
interests in Zhongming and the remaining RMB2,655,144,921.6
was paid to other existing shareholders to purchase their
respective equity interests in Zhongming. Please see section
headed “History, Reorganization and Corporate Structure — Pre-
IPO Reorganization” in the Prospectus. The loan to Mr. WANG
Huainan is treated as deemed investment to Zhongming, and
was used to purchase its shares from the other shareholders for
the purpose of stabilizing the Group’s corporate structure under
the Contractual Arrangements, and was eliminated with the total
equity of Zhongming when the consolidated financial statements
of the Group was prepared. All the equity interests in Zhongming
held and to be acquired by Mr. WANG Huainan (the “Acquired
Interests”) will be pledged to BabyTree Information. Mr. WANG
Huainan will not need to repay the loan, unless BabyTree
Information (or its assignee) acquires all the Acquired Interests
under the condition that such acquisition is allowed under the then
PRC laws and regulations. The consideration for the Acquired
Interests payable by BabyTree Information equals the Principal
Amount and will be offset by the repayment by Mr. WANG Huainan
under the Loan Agreement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits
from Zhongming and its subsidiaries to our Group stipulated under the
Contractual Arrangements:!

BabyTree Information
BEGER
I

BREBEFERS @)
BHRHE)
BNRETEHRIEE(E)

AT EEMRAREANLTHRE REWNER
A AEBAEEN DA

Registered Shareholders

BRRR

100%

Business | | (1) Powers of attorney to exercise all shareholder’ rights in Zhongming
support, | TERS 2 IRRENNETEE
technical | (2) Exclusive option to acquire and equity entrustment on all or part
and | | Services of the equity interest in and/or assets of Zhongming
consuiting | fees® BB IR MR, EEF U RIRER TR B R AR
gerwcesi | | ARIE & O () First priority security interest over the entire equity interest in
%ﬁi% O Zhongming
B | | HRIB2 AR E L RS
N i IR % | (4) Loan to Mr. Wang
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Zhongming
b

1 Notes: TP
(1) Please refer to “Powers of Attorney” for detalls. (1) FHEBLMIZEE]-
@ Please refer to “Exclusive Option and Equity Entrustment Agreement” for details. ©) HEBRH BREERELRETERE] -
(3)  Please refer to “Share Pledge Agreement” for detalils. @) FEFELHREERGE] -
(4)  Please refer to “Loan Agreement” for details. @) FHEBE2mlMERRE] -
(5)  Please refer to “Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement” for details. (6) FHER2HEIBREFAERE] -

“—” denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest and “— — —”
denotes contractual relationship.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

Apart from the above, there are no other new contractual arrangements
entered into, renewed or reproduced between the Group and
the Consolidated Affiliated Entity during the financial year ended
December 31, 2020. There was no material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted
for the year ended December 31, 2020.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, none of the Contractual
Arrangements has been unwound as none of the restrictions that
led to the adoption of structured contracts under the Contractual
Arrangements has been removed.

We have been advised by our PRC Legal Advisors that the Contractual
Arrangements do not violate the relevant PRC regulations.

The revenue of Zhongming and its subsidiaries but excluding operations
held by BabyTree Information and Meitun Mama for the year ended
December 31, 2020 was RMB199.3 million, representing approximately
93.9% of the revenue for the year of the Group.

As of December 31, 2020, total assets held by Zhongming but
excluding the intragroup loan (the “Intragroup Loan”) from Zhongming
to BabyTree Information was RMB1,046.6 million, representing
approximately 42.9% of the total assets of the Group. Please see page
133 of the Prospectus for details of the Intragroup Loan.

Mitigation Actions taken by the Company

Our management works closely with our executive Directors and
our external legal counsels and advisors to monitor the regulatory
environment and developments in PRC laws and regulations to mitigate
the risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

The Extent to which the Contractual Arrangements relate to
Requirements other than the Foreign Ownership Restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements are subject to the restrictions as set
out on pages 252 to 268 of the Prospectus.

Listing Rule Implications

The highest applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio)
under the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions associated with
the Contractual Arrangements are expected to be more than 5%. As
such, the transactions will be subject to the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The Stock Exchange has granted the Company a waiver pursuant to
Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules from (i) strict compliance with the
announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
under the Contractual Arrangements; (i) setting a maximum aggregate
annual value, i.e. an annual cap for the fees payable to BabyTree
Information from Zhongming under the Contractual Arrangements; and
(iii) fixing the term of the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less,
for so long as the Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange subject to
the following conditions:

a) no change without independent non-executive Directors’ approval;
b)  no change without independent Shareholders’ approval;
c)  the Contractual Arrangements shall continue to enable our Group

to receive the economic benefits derived by the Consolidated
Affiliated Entity;
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Waiver from the Stock Exchange (Continued)

d)  the Contractual Arrangements may be renewed and/or reproduced
upon expiry of the existing arrangements or in relation to any
existing or new wholly foreign-owned enterprise or operating
company (including branch company) engaging in the same
business as that of the Group which the Group might wish to
establish when justified by business expediency, without obtaining
Shareholders’ approval, on substantially the same terms and
conditions as the Contractual Arrangements; and

e) our Group will disclose details relating to the Contractual
Arrangements on an ongoing basis.

Confirmation from the Independent Non-executive Directors
Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that (i) the transactions carried out during
the year ended December 31, 2020 had been entered into in accordance
with the relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements, (i) no
dividends or other distributions have been made by the Consolidated
Affiliated Entity to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group during the
year ended December 31, 2020, (i) no new contracts had been entered
into, renewed or reproduced between the Group and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entity during the year ended December 31, 2020, and (iv) the
Contractual Arrangements were entered into in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, on normal commercial terms or better,
and according to the relevant agreement governing the Contractual
Arrangements on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Our independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the
aforesaid continuing connected transactions other than the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that they have been entered into (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (iii) according to the relevant agreement
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Confirmations from the Company’s Independent Auditor
The Auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that,
with respect to the aforesaid continuing connected transactions:

nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have
not been approved by the Board;

nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions were
not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group (as applicable);

nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions;

nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have
exceeded the relevant annual cap (as applicable); and

nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to
believe that any dividends or other distributions have been made
by Zhongming to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

Material Related Party Transactions
Details of the material related party transactions entered into by the

Group during the year ended December 31, 2021 are set out in note 29

to the consolidated financial statements. Certain items in note 29 to the

consolidated financial statements also constituted continuing connected

transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, details of which
have been disclosed above. The Board confirmed that the Company has
complied with the applicable requirements in accordance with Chapter

14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the above continuing connected

transactions.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in

information of Directors of the Company since the Company’s last

published interim report and up to the Latest Practicable Date are set

out below:

1)

Each of Ms. CAl Yumin and Ms. YAN Jia has tendered her
resignation as a non-executive Director to better focus on other
business engagements, effective from January 20, 2021.

Mr. WANG Huainan has tenderd his resignation as the chief
executive officer, effective from January 20, 2021, to further
enhance the corporate governance of the Company and comply
with code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules, and to better focus on the development
strategy of the Company; and Mr. WANG Huainan has been re-
designated from an executive Director to a non-executive Director
effective from January 20, 2021.

Mr. PAN Zhiyong has been appointed as an executive Director and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company effective from January
20, 2021.

Each of Mr. QIAN Shunjiang and Mr. GAO Min has been appointed
as a non-executive Director effective from January 20, 2021.
Mr. WANG Changying has stepped down from his role as the Vice

Chairman of the Board effective from March 30, 2021.

Mr. GAO Min has been appointed as the Vice Chairman of the
Board effective from March 30, 2021.

Save as disclosed above and in the sections headed “Directors and

Senior Management” and “Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of

Appointment”, there are no other information required to be disclosed

pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Thursday, June 10, 2021.
A notice convening the AGM and all other relevant documents will be
published and dispatched to the Shareholders of the Company in the
manner required by the Listing Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
Company'’s register of members will be closed from Friday, June 4, 2021
to Thursday, June 10, 2021, both dates inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM, unregistered holders of shares of the Company shall
ensure that all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, June 3, 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 49 to 82 of this
annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the accounting
principles and policies adopted by the Group and discussed the Group’s
risk management, internal controls and financial reporting matters
with the management. The audit committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2020.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 have
been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited who shall retire at
the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to
re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as the auditor of the Company.

Save as otherwise stated, all references above to other sections, reports
or notes in this annual report form part of this Directors’ Report.

On behalf of the Board

WANG Huainan
Chairman

March 30, 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report
v WE R EES

@ pakertilly
R B [

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
BabyTree Group
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of BabyTree
Group (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 145 to 264, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Recognition of revenue from advertising
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Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(s)

AR E VI TG HR AN 4 R 52(s) i & 5HEE
The Key audit matter
AREXSIE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B EX A EEERASEIE

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s
revenue from advertising amounted to RMB188.3 million,
representing approximately 89% of the Group’s total
revenue.

The Group offers different formats of on-line advertisements,
such as banners, rectangles, picture-in-picture, text links,
images and topics, throughout the Group’s Apps or
websites. The Group generates revenue when it displays the
advertisement (“display-based revenue”) in the contracted
period or when a user carries out a specified action
(“performance-based revenue”) as stipulated the contract.
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
from advertising included the following:

° understanding the design and implementation of key
internal controls over revenue recognition;

° assessing, with the assistance of our internal
information technology (“IT”) specialists, the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key
internal IT controls over the accuracy of revenue
recognition of performance-based advertisements
and the scheduling information of display-based
advertisements exported from the scheduling system;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Recognition of revenue from advertising (Continued)
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Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(s)
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The Key audit matter

BREZER

How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Display-based revenue is recognised on a pro-rata basis
as the advertisement is displayed in accordance with the
terms of the advertising contracts. Performance-based
revenue is recognised at the time when a user clicks on the
advertisement or when the user views the advertisement for
a specific period of time based on the specific terms of the
contract.

The Group uses its IT system to track the display or specified
actions as specified in related customer contracts.

We identified the recognition of revenue from advertising
service as a key audit matter because revenue is one of the
key performance indicators of the Group which gives rise
to an inherent risk that revenue could be recorded in the
incorrect period or could be subject to manipulation to meet
targets or expectations.
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
from advertising included the following: (Continued)

o comparing the scheduling information exported from
the scheduling system with the underlying advertising
contracts and performing the reconciliation controls
from the extracted scheduling information to the
accounting system;

o comparing revenue transactions recorded during
the year, on a sample basis, with the underlying
advertising contracts and scheduling and the
progress of the service or the basis of the recognition
of the performance-based revenue to assess if
revenue was properly recognised in the appropriate
accounting period;

° confirming with customers, on a sample basis,
about the contract items related to the service, the
scheduling, and the implementation status of the
contracts;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FAREXEEm@®)

Recognition of revenue from advertising (Continued)

BERAER(E)

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(s)
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The Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
from advertising included the following: (Continued)

o selecting advertising contracts entered into during the
year, on a sample basis, and inspecting payments
from the contracting parties and underlying payment
details to determine if the payer and the contracting
party were the same entity; and

o inspecting significant manual adjustments to revenue
raised during the reporting period, enquiring of
management about the reasons for such adjustments
and comparing the details of the adjustments with
relevant underlying documentation.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Loss allowance for trade receivables
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FAREXEEm@®)

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(j)

FERFA UI RN 19 R I 320 25T E R
The Key audit matter
BREEXSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

R EX D WA EEEEEE

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s gross trade
receivables amounted to RMB199.4 million, against which
a loss allowance of RMB115.3 million was recorded. The
Group’s trade receivables mainly arose from advertising
business.

Management measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss based on
estimated loss rates for each category of receivables. The
estimated loss rates take into account the ageing of trade
receivable balances, the repayment history of the Group’s
customers of different risk characteristics, current market
conditions, customer-specific conditions, and forward-
looking information. Such assessment involves significant
management judgement and estimation.

We identified the loss allowance for trade receivables as a
key audit matter because determining the level of the loss
allowance requires the exercise of significant management
judgement which is inherently subjective.
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Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for trade
receivables included the following:

o obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls relating to credit control, debt
collection and estimating the credit loss allowance;

° evaluating the Group’s policy for estimating the credit
loss allowance with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

o assessing whether items were correctly categorised
in the trade receivables ageing report by comparing
individual items therein with sales contracts and other
relevant underlying documentation, on a sample
basis;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FAREXEEm@®)

Loss allowance for trade receivables (Continued)

B ZEWRIE 2 R85 (&)

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(j)

FRHE XN F19RMTZ20)8 8 5HEF

The Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for trade
receivables included the following: (Continued)

o obtaining an understanding of the key data and
assumptions of the expected credit loss model
adopted by the management, including the basis of
segmentation of the trade receivable based on credit
risk characteristics of customers and the historical
default data in management’s estimated loss rates;

° assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates by examining the information
used by management to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy of the historical default
data and evaluating whether the historical loss
rates are appropriately adjusted based on current
economic conditions and forward-looking information;

BAFFHEESRERAZBRBENEZETFRREATS
(&)

s THREEENREHGEEERRILUFMERNERS
BEERR  EREEEBENEPEERAREHYE
SRENGRIBETOENER  UREBEEDER
KA ENELENBIES

o EERTEEERRMLHENES
SREOBIRMNERNE - FFEELENY
EREE R BN KATEEES
BEERBHREBERBEFETOAENE

BRI HE
ERZREIL
K

=
# HF

&=

nH

138 Annual Report 2020 | BabyTree Group



Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% B R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FAREXEEm@®)

Loss allowance for trade receivables (Continued)

B ZEWRIE 2 R85 (&)

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(j)
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The Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BREZER EPNEXPUAEEEREER

Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for trade
receivables included the following: (Continued)

o re-performing the calculation of the loss allowance as
at 31 December 2020 based on the Group’s credit
loss allowance policies; and

° inspecting, on a sample basis, cash receipts from

debtors subsequent to the reporting date relating to
trade receivable balances as at 31 December 2020.
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OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019 were audited by another independent auditor whose
report dated 30 March 2020 expressed an unmodified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

BREMHEHMBRRELNEL
()

(ERERE BB EAETERN —H5 R
PR B BIZF (I BRI LRI TR
5 © BP9

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence
and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE #EMEESHMBERREBEEZNEFE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL @)
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, 1RIZEDAIEEEBMNEZIE KRR ABEBEEE
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit E¥EZAHEEHMBHREM s GEENE
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 18 - FH I EREH#HEZXEE - HAEZBENR
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 4R EE1E - BIEAESR AR F AR
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure % %18 @ s (ERDEIBER N ARETFZE
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 4 ¥2 78 B 45 #2838 A 5 )& B P A5 sk g A £ 51 2%
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the F{IRABZBENEERMPORED BB -
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent HE A I ZE MR ENEFEHEEER a0

auditor’s report is Gao Yajun. & o

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited ABEBSHMERAERAT
Certified Public Accountants HHEDETAD

Gao Yajun SERE

Practising certificate number PO6391 HEFEERIP06391

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021 BA T —F=A=1H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
aOHERR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 2 —Z —FF+_—_F=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (A R#%I7R)

2020 2019
. —T-NF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE ARET R ARET T
Revenue 'ON 4 212,260 356,828
Cost of revenue B (115,781) (134,195)
Gross profit EF 96,479 222,633
Other revenue HAbUg A 5(a) 35,137 20,898
Other net loss H A BT 5(b) (36,302) (35,268)
Selling and marketing expenses HE R EHMY (285,568) (297,846)
General and administrative expenses —MRATB A (258,336) (266,668)
Research and development expenses e (51,643) (111,441)
Loss from operations KEEE (500,233) (467,692)
Net finance income BRI A5 6(a) 5,049 32,230
Fair value change on financial assets AR EETZEAES)
measured at fair value through SAEBERER
profit or loss ERMEENAABEES 26,327 (25,880)
Share of losses of associates FE(GESE & R Rl 1E (3,051) (12,412)
Loss before taxation G ] 6 (471,908) (473,754)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiiEe,/ (Fx) 7 1,002 (20,697)
Loss for the year FEBR (470,906) (494,451)
Attributable to: EEN
Equity shareholders of the Company RA TR (470,262) (493,896)
Non-controlling interests eI MRS (644) (555)
Loss for the year FEBR (470,906) (494,451)
Loss per share BREE 10
Basic and diluted (RMB) EAXR#E(ARET) (0.28) (0.29)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

B EREREMEEIAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 2 —Z —FF+_F=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (A R#%I7R)

statements.
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2020 2019
bt 242 —E-NF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE AR%F T ARET T
Loss for the year FEBSR (470,906) (494,451)
Other comprehensive (expense)/ FREMZ2EBFIX) WA
income for the year (after taxation (BNBRBEREHESH
and reclassification adjustments) DHEFAE)
ltems that may be reclassified B EHHBEEERN
subsequently to profit or loss: BE -
Exchange differences on translation of BME KR E FFINTBAT]
financial statements of the Company B RRMIE N =58
and overseas subsidiaries (130,527) 40,455
Share of an associate’s other FE(RE N A E
comprehensive (expense)/income 2HE(AX) WA (146) 24
Other comprehensive (expense)/ FREMZEBIX) WA
income for the year (130,673) 40,479
Total comprehensive expense FRAEZEMZHAE
for the year (601,579) (453,972)
Attributable to: BEN
Equity shareholders of the Company VIN/NETL 2 8] (600,897) (453,417)
Non-controlling interests TSIV (682) (555)
Total comprehensive expense FREZHEMAXZHAE
for the year (601,579) (453,972)
The notes on pages 152 to 264 form part of these consolidated financial ~ 55152E 264 8 2 MzETh 4K Z S A I ISk



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
SO EAR R R

As at 31 December 2020 A -_FF+_A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi) (A R#%I7R)

2020 2019
—EEF —T-hEF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AR¥T T AREFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment M - BB KRR 11 26,189 60,057
Intangible assets EmAE 12 5,711 3,486
Prepayments for non-current assets IE B A ETA A 14 - 44,809
Interests in associates B E A R AR 15 42,733 49,468
Other financial assets Hih e & E 16 326,889 205,833
Deferred tax assets R IRE 2= 26(b) 28,061 28,061
429,583 391,714

Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 17 186 3,217
Contract assets BREE 18(a) 8,128 12,421
Trade receivables =) & e 19 84,175 190,876
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIA Je At FE U R IR 20 174,577 436,318
Other current assets Himneh & E 21 15,309 11,412
Other financial assets Hiheph&E 16 650,360 585,342
Cash and bank balances IR & MIRTT 4R 22 1,079,716 1,422,855
2,012,451 2,662,441

Current liabilities RBEE
Trade payables B 5 ENRIE 23 20,282 13,660
Accruals and other payables FE=T M H fhfE kI8 24 85,857 81,516
Contract liabilities ERIAE 18(b) 6,390 2,211
Lease liabilities HEBE 25 12,102 25,184
Current taxation RERT 18 26(a) 6 1,010
124,637 123,581
Net current assets REBEEZFHE 1,887,814 2,538,860
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBAE 2,317,397 2,930,574
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BOFF BRI R

As at 31 December 2020 A —ZE-_FF+_-_A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi) (A R#%I7R)

2020 2019
—EEHF —NEF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AR¥T T AREFIT
Non-current liabilities kRBAE
Lease liabilities HEBE 25 2,528 12,256
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIEAE 26(b) 115 115
2,643 12,371
Net assets EERHE 2,314,754 2,918,203
Equity R
Share capital A&7 27 1,153 1,158
Reserves i 2,310,711 2,913,473
Total equity attributable to equity AN FRESREREMN
shareholders of the Company EREE 2,311,864 2,914,631
Non-controlling interests FEPER 4| M RE S 2,890 3,572
Total equity EREE 2,314,754 2,918,203

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30

March 2021.

WANG Huainan
EX1]
Director

EF

The notes on pages 152 to 264 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

EOERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 2 T -TF+_A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) ( LA A R¥5I7R)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

AAARRRREL
Non-
Share Share  Treasury Capital  Translation Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium shares reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
izl
ke BHRE ERRE EARE  ENRE  Z0ER st B RBaAE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AESTn ABETn ARMTn ARMTR ARETn ARETn ARMTR ARETn AREf:R
Balance at 1 January 2019 RoE-NE-F-BHBE 1,172 7,965,788 - an3od  (6h2481) (1,621654) 3451521 4121 3495648
Changes in equity for 2019; REE-NENERES
Loss forthe year ERhiE - - - - - o8  (4938%) B (494451)
Qther comprehensive incoms H2EUA - - - - 40479 - 40479 - 40479
Total comprehensive income/(expense) 2 EWA/ (B EE - - - - 40479 (19389%)  (453417) (555 (483972)
Repurchase of ordinary shares LakiEm - - (83473 - - - (83473 - (83,479
Cancellation of treastry shares HHERRA (4 (3314 7338 = - - - = -
Balance at 31 December 2019and ~ R=E-AE+ZA=t-H
1 January 2020 R-5-2E-f-AMNEHE 1158 7802474 (10145 (2241304 (612002 (2115550) 2,914,631 3572 2918203
Changes in equity for 2020: REB-RENEREE:
Loss for he year EnER - - - - - (40269 (4702 (644 (470,906)
Other comprehensive expense Efp2ERR - - - - (130,635 - (1306%) (38)  (130,673)
Total comprehensive expense 2AFREE - - - - (130635  (470262)  (600,897) (682 (601,579)
Repurchase of ordinary shares LEREE - - (1,870 - - - (1,870 - (1,870
Cancellation oftreastry shares HEERRD (B (10847 10852 - - - - - -
Balance at 31 December 2020 R-B-2E
ToAZT-RNBE 1,158 7,881,627 (1,163) (2.241,304)  (742637) (2,585812) 2,311,864 2800 2,314,754
The notes on pages 152 to 264 form part of these consolidated financial ~ 55152F 264 B 7 M 5T Ty 4K Z Z & DB SR %
statements. ZEBS o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHESRER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE2 — T -_TF+_A=+—HI|FE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (A R#%I7R)

2020 2019
—E-EF —E—NF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Lz ARET AREBTFT
Cash flows from operating activities K& FZHNRESHRE
Net cash used in operations B P AIR &R 22(b) (105,575) (673,810)
Income taxes paid BATETISH 26(a) (Pl (13,144)
Net cash used in operating activities & EEFTAESFE (105,577) (686,954)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHNRERE
Interest received from deposits in banks — PA8R1T & Eo A B T MRS 17 2R 0
and other financial institutions BUFILE 7,814 28,118
Investment income received from financial F AR 4 BESHE B &85t A
assets measured at FVPL HHIE M S R E EUELAY
FEHWA 29,724 5,759
Proceeds from sale of property, HEYE - W%&?&ﬁﬁ"]
plant and equipment FiS sk 309 2,122
Payments for purchase of property, plant & ¥ - lﬂﬁ}%&%&{%&
and equipment and intangible assets B EEMNNK (4,435) (10,453)
Payments for purchase of: BENATIHEEMER
— Unlisted equity securities —JE LR E S (1,330) (160,740)
- Bond portfolios —fExdEs (657,704) (57,073)
— Wealth management products — B E M (193,501) (825,292)
Proceeds from sale of: HELATIEB ®ATE R
- Bond portfolios —fExMa 104,851 =
— Wealth management products — BB EMR 539,337 1,077,348
Proceeds from sale of an associate &S —FEIE & A RIS BUR - 250
Payments for acquisition of associates W B RS = N BT - (50,228)
Payment for acquisition of a company UBE — R A RIS R - (44,096)
(Advance to)/received from related parties  (F81), /B U A5 5 5718 (71,628) 1,338
Net cash used in investing activities REZHMANRE EEE (246,563) (32,947)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BORERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 &% —

(Expressed in Renminbi) (A R#%I7R)

— T FEt A=t HLEE

2020 2019
—E-EF —E—NF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE ARETT AREETF T
Cash flows from financing activities Bl EEFEENERESHRE
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEERSNERE S 22(c) (21,529) (28,470)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EHEERSNF SIS 22(c) (1,185) (2,124)
Payments for repurchase of shares 8 AR 10 BT 3R 27(d) (1,870) (83,473)
Proceeds from new bank loans FrERITE WS KIE 761,681 =
Repayments of bank loans BERRITER (761,681) -
Interest paid for bank loans BRITERAFE (1,580) =
(Advance to)/repayment from B (FENFIR)/ ER
related parties (4,220) 1,841
Net cash used in financing activities FEEEMANRE EHE (30,384) (112,226)
Net decrease in cash and REeRESEEMRDFE
cash equivalents (382,524) (832,127)
Cash and cash equivalents at FINRERBLEEY
the beginning of the year 1,422,855 2,229,907
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ~ [E X &h 2 348 (60,315) 25,075
Cash and cash equivalents attheend E£XWERERBRELSZEY
of the year 22(a) 980,016 1,422,855
The notes on pages 152 to 264 form part of these consolidated financial ~ $152E 2648 2 fsE Ty 4K Z S A I EHRE
statements. ZEBS o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

1 PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ORGANISATION

BabyTree Group (the “Company”) was incorporated in Cayman

Islands on 9 February 2018 as an exempted company with limited

liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company

and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged

in the advertising, e-commerce and other service business (the
“Business”) in The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 27 November 2018 (the

“Listing”).

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards
(“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current accounting
period reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020 comprise the Group and the Group’s
interests in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost basis
except that certain financial assets are stated at their fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out in note

2(0.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
IFRSs that have significant effect on these consolidated
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

2 FESIBE®m)

(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the Amendments to References
to the Conceptual Framework in IFRSs and the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB to these
consolidated financial statements for the current accounting
period:

- Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8, Definition of Material

- Amendments to IFRS 3, Definition of a Business

- Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7, Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform

None of these developments have had a material effect on
how the Group’s results and financial position for the current
or prior periods have been prepared or presented. The
Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.
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(c)

(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to
the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation
in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or
expense as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income or expense for the year between
non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in subsidiaries is stated at cost less impairment losses (see
note 2(j)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Arrangements
The Company and the companies comprising the Group
entered into several batches of contractual agreements.

The Business included certain business operated by Beijing
Zhongming Century Science and Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Zhongming”), say provision of internet content services
where foreign investment is subject to restrictions under PRC
laws and regulations (“Restricted Business”), and the rest of
the Business are unrestricted to foreign investment under
PRC laws and regulations.

BabyTree (Beijing) Information and Technology Co., Ltd.
(“BabyTree Information”) entered into a series of contractual
arrangements (collectively, “Contractual Arrangements”
effective since May 2018) with Zhongming and its registered
owners to control the Restricted Business.

Zhongming in these Contractual Arrangements is a variable
interest entity (“VIE”) and BabyTree Information is an wholly
foreign-owned enterprise (“WFOE”).

The equity interests of VIE are legally held by individuals who
act as nominee equity holders of the VIE on behalf of WFOE.
The contractual agreements include powers of attorney,
exclusive business cooperation agreement, share pledge
agreement and loan agreement. Pursuant to the contractual
agreements, WFOE has the power to direct activities that
most significantly impact the VIE, including appointing key
management, setting up operating policies, exerting financial
controls and transferring profit or assets out of the VIE at its
discretion. WFOE considers that they also have the right to
substantially all of the economic benefits of VIE and has an
exclusive option to purchase all or part of the equity interests
in VIE when and to the extent permitted by PRC law at the
minimum price possible.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

The Group has determined that the Contractual
Arrangements are in compliance with PRC laws and are
legally enforceable. However, uncertainties in the PRC
legal system could limit the Group’s ability to enforce the
Contractual Arrangements.

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale). Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted
for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date
fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment losses relating to
the investment (see note 2(j)). Any acquisition-date excess
over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-
tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Associates (Continued)

When the Group’s share of loss exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method, together with any
other long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate (after applying the
expected credit losses (“ECL”) model to such other long-
term interests where applicable (see note 2(j)(i)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former investee at the date when significant influence
is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see
note 2(f)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associates, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investments. The investments are initially stated at fair
value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those financial assets measured at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group
determines fair value of financial instruments, see note
28(f). These investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.

(i) Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

= amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method (see
note 2(s)(iv)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(ff Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)
(i) Investments other than equity investments
(Continued)

fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) -
flows of the investment comprise solely payments

recycling, if the contractual cash

of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition in profit or loss of ECL,
interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains and
losses. When the investment is derecognised,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

FVPL, if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(ff Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

(9)

(ii)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such
an election is made, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income remains in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed
of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
accumulated losses. It is not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI,
are recognised in profit or loss as other income in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(s|(iii).

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses (see note 2(j)(ii)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and

equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labor, the

initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling

and removing the items and restoring the site on which they

are located, and an appropriate proportion of production

overheads and borrowing costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

= Electronic equipment 3-5 years
- Office equipment 3-5 years
- Leasehold improvements 3-5 years

= Right-of-use assets the shorter of the assets’

useful life or the lease term

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product or
process is technically and commercially feasible and the
Group has sufficient resources and the intention to complete
development. Other development expenditure is recognised
as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. No
expenditure on development activities is capitalised in the
current or comparative accounting periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful lives are finite) and impairment losses (see
note 2(j)(ii). Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and
brands is recognised as an expense in the period in which it
is incurred. Software held by the Group is mainly consisted
of warehouse management system, office administrative
software such as Email system and OA system, ERP System
and others.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The Group estimates useful
lives based on the shorter of licensing period and the period
over which the software is expected to generate net cash
inflows for the Group. The following intangible assets with
finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are
available for use and their estimated useful lives are as
follows:

- Software 3-10 years
Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are primarily
offices and office equipment. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i

Leased assets (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 2(g) and 2())

().

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced
to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease.
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as
the present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting
period.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property in property, plant and
equipment and presents lease liabilities separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on
financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables) and contract assets.

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including
bond portfolios, unlisted equity securities and wealth
management products measured at FVPL, are not
subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting
is material:

- trade and other receivables and contract assets:
effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date;
and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.

Loss allowances for trade and other receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments (including structured
deposits in other current assets), the Group recognises
a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
(i) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and

contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into

account when assessing whether credit risk has

increased significantly since initial recognition:

failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)
Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as
past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
securities that are measured at FVOCI (recycling),
for which the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair
value reserve (recycling).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
() Credit losses from financial instruments and

contract assets (Continued)
Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note
2(s)(iv) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial

asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows

of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past

due event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an

adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the

issuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

() Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)
Write-off policy
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
OcCcurs.

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets
Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets;

- intangible assets;

- prepayments for assets; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
loss recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in
the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises costs of purchase after deducting rebates
and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as a cost of revenue in the period
in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as a cost
of revenue in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories
is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as a cost of revenue in the period in which the
reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

(m)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see note 2(s)) before being unconditionally entitled
to the consideration under the payment terms set out in
the contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(j)(i) and are
reclassified to receivables when the right to the consideration
has become unconditional (see note 2(m)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see note 2(s)). A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see
note 2(m)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see note 2(s)(iv).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time
is required before payment of that consideration is due.
If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset (see note 2(1)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses (see note 2())

(0)-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in accordance
with the policy set out in note 2())(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future
taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax loss and credit,
that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which
the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Income tax (Continued)

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised.
Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions
are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods or the provision of services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted using
the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction with the customer, and interest income
is accrued separately under the effective interest method.
Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. The Group takes advantage of the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a significant financing
component if the period of financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Advertising

The Group offers different formats of on-line
advertisements, such as banners, rectangles, picture-
in-picture, text links, images and topics, throughout
the Group’s Apps or websites. The Group generates
revenue when the Group displays the advertisement
(“display-based revenue”) in the contracted period
or when a user carries out a specified action
(“performance-based revenue”) as stipulated in the
contract.

Display-based advertisements services are provided
in subscribed impressions for cost per thousand
impressions advertising arrangements. Revenue is
recognised on a pro-rata basis as the advertisement
is displayed in accordance with the terms of the
advertising contracts.
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(i) Advertising (Continued)

Performance-based advertisements services are
provided based on performance criteria such as
number of click of links directly to the advertiser’s
website or number of applications for advertising
products. Revenue is recognised at the time when
a user clicks on the advertisement or when the user
views the advertisement for a specific period of time
based on the specific terms of the contract.

Sales rebates are estimated based on the Group’s
best estimation on historical experiences and deduct
from revenue.

(i) E-commerce
The Group conducts e-commerce operations on the
Group’s Apps or websites in two models: direct sales
and marketplace.

Under the direct sales model, the Group purchases
products from suppliers and sells to customers as
principal. Under such model, the Group controls over
the products as by sourcing, pricing, taking inventory,
arranging for delivery, providing customer service and
responding to return requests directly. Revenue from
direct sales is recognised at a point in time when the
customer takes possession of and accepts the goods.
Revenue is determined based on the gross amount of
sales excluding value added tax, and after deduction
of any trade discounts and sales return. Sales returns
are estimated based on the Group’s best estimation
on historical experiences.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

E-commerce (Continued)

Under the marketplace model, third-party vendors
offer merchandise to customers on the Group’s
e-commerce platform, and the Group provides
display, transaction and billing services for all orders
in their online marketplace. The Group as the owner
and operator of the platform charges commissions
on the sales to these third-party vendors. Revenue of
commissions is recognised at a point in time when the
customer takes possession of and accepts the goods.

Dividends

— Dividend income from unlisted investments
is recognised when the shareholder’s right to
receive payment is established.

- Dividend income from listed investments
is recognised when the share price of the
investment goes ex-dividend.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling) that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

(t)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

(v) Government grants
Government grants are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognised as income in
profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
recognised as deferred income and consequently are
effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful
life of the asset as other income.

Translation of foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entities operate
(“the functional currency”). The functional currency of the
Company is USD. As the major operations of the Group are
in PRC, the consolidated financial statements are presented
in RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

(u)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
Company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair
value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items are translated into RMB at the closing
foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity
in the exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v) Related parties
(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent;

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or a joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a Group of which the other entity is a
member);

(i)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(v the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

(w)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(vl a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a Group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel

services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3 SZEei Mzt
AND ESTIMATES

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the (a) ERAXEEEHHEENEES
Group’s accounting policies EEal:

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,

REAARESFTRRBIET - &
BEDEL AT

management has made the following accounting judgement:

The Group conducts e-commerce operations on the
Group’s platform in two models: marketplace and
direct sales.

Determining whether the Group is acting as a principal
or as an agent in the sales of goods on the Group’s
platform requires judgement and consideration of all
relevant facts and circumstances. In evaluation of the
Group acting as a principal or an agent, the Group
considers, individually or in combination whether the
Group is primarily responsible for fulfilment of the
contract, is subject to the inventory risk, has discretion
to establish prices. Having considered the relevant
facts and circumstances, management considers that
the Group obtains control of those goods sold through
direct sales while the Group does not obtain control
of those goods sold through marketplace before the
goods are transferred to the customers. Accordingly,
the Group is acting as a principal for the direct sales
and the related revenue is presented on a gross
basis, while the Group is acting as an agent for the
marketplace and the related revenue is presented on a
net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty
Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i)

Impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets

Trade receivables and contract assets with significant
balances and credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables and contract
assets which are not assessed individually using a
provision matrix. The provision rates are based on
aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors taking
into consideration the Group’s historical default rates
and forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. Due to greater financial uncertainty triggered
by the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has increased
the expected loss rates in the current year as there
is higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could led to
increased credit default rates.
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3 EE€i¥ER{&st @
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:
(Continued)

(i1)

(iii)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised. In assessing
whether such temporary differences can be utilised
in the future, the Group needs to make judgements
and estimates on the ability of each of its subsidiaries
to generate taxable income in the future years. The
Group believes it has recorded adequate deferred
taxes based on the prevailing tax rules and regulations
and its current best estimates and assumptions. In the
event that future tax rules and regulations or related
circumstances change, adjustments to deferred
taxation may be necessary which would impact the
Group’s results or financial position.

Determining the lease term

As explained in note 2(i), the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term. In determining the lease
term at the commencement date for leases that
include renewal options exercisable by the Group,
the Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising the
renewal options taking into account all relevant facts
and circumstances that create an economic incentive
for the Group to exercise the option, including
favourable terms, leasehold improvements undertaken
and the importance of that underlying asset to the
Group’s operation. The lease term is reassessed when
there is a significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group’s control. Any
increase or decrease in the lease term would affect
the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
recognised in future years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3 EE€i¥ER{&st @
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:
(Continued)

(iv)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
As at 31 December 2020, certain of the Group’s
financial assets are measured at fair value with
fair value being determined based on significant
unobservable inputs using valuation techniques.

Judgement and estimation are required in establishing
the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant
inputs thereof. Whilst the Group considers these
valuations are the best estimates, the ongoing
Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in greater market
volatility and may cause further disruptions to the
investees’ businesses, which have led to higher degree
of uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the
current year.

Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could
result in material adjustments to the fair value of these
financial assets.

(b)
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(@) Revenue
The principal activities of the Group are providing advertising,
e-commerce and other services to customers.

(i) Disaggregation of revenue
Revenue of the Group are all from contracts with
customers within the scope of IFRS 15. The amount of
each significant category of revenue is as follows:

4 WARDEHRE

(a)

L'ON

AEENEZEEIRAETFPREE
EIRTE - Bl MEMRT -

@

LON Vo)

A& B A K B BIER 75
HEEAFISREEANETS
MERWA - FEZWALER
BT

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARETTT

Advertising E=y
E-commerce B
— Direct sales —HiB
— Marketplace —¥5
Others HAth

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by the timing of revenue recognition and by
geographic markets is disclosed in note 4(b).

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes
only one customer with whom transactions has
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenues during the
reporting period. In 2020, revenues from advertising
to this customer amounted to approximately
RMB28.8 million (2019: RMB41.7 million). Details of
concentrations of credit risk arising from this customer
are set out in note 28(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue (Continued)

(i)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from contracts with customers in
existence at the reporting date

Contracts with advertising customers always have an
original expected duration of less than one year. And
contracts with individual customers for e-commerce
and other services are always satisfied within one
month.

The Group has applied the practical expedient
in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 and therefore the
information about revenue that the Group will be
entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations is not disclosed for contracts that have an
original expected duration of one year or less.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which

are organised by business lines (products and services).
In a manner consistent with the way in which information

is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive

management for the purposes of resources allocation and

performance assessment, the Group has presented the

following three reportable segments:

Advertising;

E-commerce, which includes direct sales and
marketplace; and

Others, which includes content monetisation, insurance
agent service and other services.

4 WARDEHRE @)

(a)

(b)
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(b)

Segment reporting (Continued)

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the revenue and gross
profit attributable to each reportable segment. Depreciation
and amortisation, recognition of loss allowance on trade and
other receivables and contract assets, net finance income
and other revenue are allocated to each reportable segment.
Other items in profit or loss are not allocated to reportable
segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation”, where “interest” is regarded
as including investment income and “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses
on non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA
the Group’s earnings are further adjusted for items not
specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
share of profits less losses of associates, directors’ and
auditor’s remuneration and other head office or corporate
administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
adjusted EBITDA, management is provided with segment
information concerning inter-segment sales, the Group’s
interest income from cash balances, depreciation and
amortisation and loss allowance. Inter-segment sales are
priced with reference to prices charged to external parties for
similar orders.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(b)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Other information, together with the segment information,
provided to the Group’s senior executive management, is
measured in a manner consistent with that applied in these
consolidated financial statements. There were no separate
segment assets and segment liabilities information provided
to the Group’s senior executive management, as they do not
use this information to allocate resources to or evaluate the
performance of the operating segments.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition, as well as information
regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019 is set out below:

4 WARDEHRE @)

(b)

2 ERERE (4])
MARESRITHEEERENE
BRI GER S HBER) WFTEH R
HZES G#ﬁﬁ%lﬁéﬁﬁ%)ﬂE’JET
— o WEMAEESRITHE
Bt Eﬁ"*%é%&"*ﬁﬁ{iﬁ
B REREEWREMAZERM
RED DB BRI T HEEDH

HIZRIR

BE_ZT_ZHER-_FT-NE+=
H:+-E¢¢FIQE%ﬁWA
A W A 12 W A HE R BS T 2 W A &
2 UERAKERARETRELRE
REBEERSEMFEDBREA
MRS E R 2H D BEREIIT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-E-_SHFt-A=-+-HILEE

Advertising E-commerce Others  Elimination Total
EE Bl Htr 18 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARETR ARBTR AR¥T:R

Disaggregated by timing of BB

revenue recognition &%

Over time RIS RERER 188,295 - - - 188,295
Paint in time EX-RREER - 19,895 4,070 - 23,965
Revenue from external customers — RESMNFES 2 WA 188,295 19,895 4,070 - 212,260
Inter-segment revenue AEERA 16,717 14,572 - (31,289) -
Reportable segment revenue AEEAHBRA 205,012 34,467 4,070 (31,289) 212,260
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARZDIB

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

% (@)

(b) 2EBEHE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-S-2F1-A=t-ALFE

Advertising E-commerce Others Total

B Ei Hith ast

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETxR

Segment revenue AEUA 188,295 19,895 4,070 212,260

Segment cost AERKA (98,126) (16,646) (1,009 (115,781)

Gross proﬁ’[ %ﬂ 90,169 3,249 3,061 96,479

Reportable segment loss AHREN PR (KRR

(adjusted EBITDA) BRAIE B ER

BB TEN) (256,634) (61,354) (2,121)  (320,109)

Depreciation and amortisation FEREH (28,553) (2,444) (594) (31,591)
Recognition of loss alowance ontrade and ~ $EE 5 K E At el zE )2

other receivables and contract assets ARBERREBERE (137,876) 541 (3,557)  (140,892)

Net finance income g LN 1,178 M4 42 1,634

Unallocated other revenue ROBE 2 B A 31,082

Unallocated share of losses of associates ROB BB ERRER (3,051)
Unallocated fair value change RO A DR EEE
on financial assets measured at FVPL BEEET AE AR

SREENLNEEE 26,327

Unallocated depreciation and amortisation RAOMZHTE R (3,820)

Unallocated net finance income N WA N 3,415

Unallocated other costs RABZ B A (34,903)

Loss before taxation PR RIS R (471,908)

Income tax credit FiiamEs 1,002

Loss for the year FEHA (470,906)
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARZDIB

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

% (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_T-NEF+-_A=1+-BLEE

Advertising  E-commerce Others  Elimination Total
EE E5] Hith iz st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETRT ARETR

Disaggregated by timing of L ON A

revenue recognition fEH 2 &P

Over time RERRER 320,040 - - - 320,040
Point in time EX SRR - 22,214 14,574 - 36,788
Revenue from external customers REMDEP WA 320,040 22,214 14,574 - 356,828
Inter-segment revenue AESEIRA 72,031 952 558 (73,541) =
Reportable segment revenue AREABRA 392,071 23,166 15,132 (73,541) 356,828
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARYDIME @)
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) EBHE(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT-A=1-HLEFE

Advertising  E-commerce Others
R& C] Hit

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

Total
@it
RMB’000

ARETT AREBTT ARETT ARKTRH

Segment revenue DEUA 320,040 22,214 14,574 356,828
Segment cost DEPLA (103,665) (28,190) 2,340)  (134,195)
Gross profit/(loss) EF/(E8) 216,375 (5,976) 12,234 222,633
Reportable segment loss AHREDBER (KRR

(adjusted EBITDA) BRRIE - BUE - TER

B B IHEF) (179,930) (82,105) (529)  (262,564)

Depreciation and amortisation I8 Ko (32,234) (11,295) (1,528) (45,057)
Recognition of loss allowance on trade and HE SR EMERIER

other receivables and contract assets BREERRZ BEERE (44,078) (3,398) (3,404) (60,880)
Net finance income/(expense) BB/ (%) 38 1,497 (60) (79) 1,358
Unallocated other revenue RABE 2 H A 2,653
Unallocated share of losses of associates ROz BIEBERRER (12,412)
Unallocated fair value change AW AARBEFE

on financial assets measured at FVPL B AEHERN

SREENDABEESY (25,880)

Unallocated depreciation and amortisation APEINER & (44)
Unallocated recognition of loss allowance Ao HE S RAEM

on trade and other receivables and ERFERAREE

contract assets TR BIERE (16,924)
Unallocated net finance income AR ZHERANFE 30,872
Unallocated other costs ROBE2 H A (94,876)
Loss before taxation BRI RIE R (473,754)
Income tax expense PSRk (20,697)
Loss for the year FEHA (494,451)
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
The Group’s revenue from external customers, based on the
locations of customers is as follows:

4 WARDEHRE @)

(b) 7 EPHE ()
AEBKRAINES 2WARER
PREM BB DA T

Revenue from
external customers

RESMBES ZHBA

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETTT

PRC =8
United States =

As at 31 December 2020, substantially all of the non-current
assets of the Group other than certain interests in associates,
other financial assets and cash and bank balances were
located in PRC.

205,189 356,828
7,071 —
212,260 356,828

RZZTE-_FEF+_A=+—H K
SEBARIHIEREE E CE TR
ERmRER  HthemEERR
© RIBITEBRRINAIRFE -
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

5 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET LOSS 5 HtWARHMEIRFHE

(@) Other revenue (a) HAblkA
2020 2019
bt 242 —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ANRET T
Investment income on financial assets AR BEFEBEH:TA
measured at FVPL EEENCREEN
REBA 29,724 5,759
Government grants (note (i)) BT Rh (BREG) 3,435 8,160
Value added tax concession (note (ii)) I (E R B (B (i) 1,140 6,842
Penalty income SR 584 =
Disposal of an associate & — & Q) - 51
Sundry income FIEUA 254 86
35,137 20,898
Notes: PIEE
0] Government grants are awarded to the Group by the local i) BT 478 B 4 3 75 AT ) 7 £ B4R 4
government as incentives primarily to encourage the brand WECHE  TEERTHEAE
building of the Group, cultural development and the refund of EM@EER - UEBBUAKRRE
unemployment insurance premiums paid by employers. BEEZAHRERRS -
(ii) It mainly represents the tax concession revenue generated by (ii) FERFEHNIGETEBRTEM

the policy of additional deduction of input Value-added tax. From
1 April 2019 to 31 December 2021, taxpayers in the production
and living service industries are allowed to add 10% of the current A=+—H
deductible input Value-added tax to offset the Value-added tax
payable. As the Group’s businesses meet the requirements of the
policy, those businesses are eligible for the tax benefit.
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

5 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET LOSS 5 Hig AR EEi8 558 m@m)
(Continued)
(b) EHitksEEE
(b) Other net loss

2020 2019
= —FTNF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARET T

Recognition of impairment loss on IERENE ETB RIERE

prepayments for non-current assets EEHER (42,670) -
Reversal of/(recognition of) impairment loss  Fa <M fE 79 2 F B BEE 1B

on prepayments to suppliers e (FR) 810 (14,797)
Recognition of impairment loss on interest &5 —fEIEt & AT 2 R 2

in an associate WIEEEER (2,441) -
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of HEYE - BEKEEN

property, plant and equipment g/ (B518)F 8 165 (13,058)
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) SNEUER (518 ) F 8 7,975 (3,921)
Others HAh (141) (3,492)

(36,302) (35,268)
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 6 PBREAIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after (crediting)/charging: BB BIEERZ (T A) /B Ty &1818E
B
(a) Net finance income (a) HIEWAFEE
2020 2019
bt 242 —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Interest income from deposits in banks and #8777 & E fib B 751 59

other financial institutions TFRABWA (7,814) (34,354)
Interest expense on interest-bearing loans 5+ & FEFI B 52 1,580 -
Interest on lease liabilities HEABHNFES 1,185 2,124

(5,049) (32,230)
(b) Staff costs (b) BEIAK
2020 2019
= —FTNF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE ARET T ARETTT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREAMET 157,680 286,177
Contributions to defined contribution R FEEKEH2I

retirement plan 0 0] 24,938 25,240

Termination benefits BEER 2 A 15,465 23,412
198,083 334,829

Note: PiieE
0] Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required i) REBEFBEOKBRARNESR
to participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme SHEEHTRNEREREENRTE
administered and operated by the local municipal government. MBGRIRETE] - NEE P BRI
The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC contribute funds which are BARZREMMENRENFHSE
calculated on certain percentages of the average employee salary BH A —TEAIGrEETH MR
as agreed by the local municipal government to the scheme to F o AREESRRARBENREES

fund the retirement benefits of the employees.
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (cContinued)

(c)

Other items

6 PBREAIEE@

(c)

The following expenses are included in cost of revenue,
selling and marketing expenses, general and administrative

Hm e

A TR AZRERAAE - HERE
WX — MR R ITH S PA R B %

expenses and research and development expenses: XA
2020 2019
bt 242 —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T
Recognition of loss allowance on TE S ERFIBR AR
trade receivables and contract assets BEERZEEEE 49,086 50,470
Recognition of loss allowance on FEE M FE U FIBHERR 2
other receivables EE R
— due from related parties — FE Uk A 36,760 -
— due from third parties —EWE=7 55,046 17,334
Cost of inventories (Note 17(b)) FEA(F15E17(0)) 11,767 25,709
Expense relating to short-term leases BRAREEER S H 1,937 3,835
Depreciation charge (Note 11) FrEZ H (MEE11)
— owned property, plant and equipment —BAEYE  WENEKRE 9,313 13,780
— right-of-use assets —FREEE 24,154 28,916
Amortisation cost of intangible BB SRR
assets (Note 12) (BftEE12) 1,944 2,405
Write-off of other receivables i 55 EL o FE SRR IR 391 -
Auditor’s remuneration % AT &
— audit services — RS 4,600 5,548
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 &AHEZRANHMEH
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(@) Income tax (credit)/expense in the consolidated (a) AHEZRANFAEH(ER)
statement of profit or loss represents: B :

2020 2019

—BIEF —E-NE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETTT

Current tax - PRC BOHABLIE —
Enterprise Income Tax EFRBH
Provision for the year FERE 6 1,010
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEHEERE (1,008) (1,067)
Deferred tax EEIE
Origination and reversal of TR ERNESNEE

temporary differences (Note 26(b)) (FfzE26(b)) - 20,754

(1,002) 20,697
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 AftEXXANFES @)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/expense b) ZEABRTENMEH (K
and accounting loss at applicable tax rates: %)/ BXHESHEERNYEE
2020 2019
bt 242 —E-NF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt et AR¥ET T ARETTT
Loss before taxation BREL AT 18 (471,908) (473,754)
Tax calculated at statutory tax RERARE A AR
rates applicable to profits ) EY % E B R
in the respective jurisdictions HERFIE 0] (114,920) (102,333
Tax effect of: NTEEZRBZE
Non-deductible expenses and losses A] %5z K 518 (ii) 2,065 4,214
Preferential tax rate applicable to BAR—RHEBARIR
a subsidiary BEFR () 19,764 (347)
Additional deductible allowance 25 A S BB AN
for research and development A FORR B
expenses (5,903) (10,098)
Tax loss and temporary differences  REERIEELFIIE
not recognised as deferred tax BEMNTREERER
assets TRMER 102,364 130,323
Utilisation of previously ST B R FE R M B B
unrecognised temporary difference  Z£ 7 {FF (3,364) -
Over-provision in respect of BAFEBEERE
prior years (1,008) (1,087)
Actual tax (credit)/expense BEEREHEGER) FX (1,002) 20,697
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

7

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 AfBREXRANFER @
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/expense

and

accounting loss at applicable tax rates:

(Continued)

Notes:

0)

Income tax rate applies to the Company and its subsidiaries

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to any income tax
in the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands.

The Group has no assessable profit in Hong Kong during the
reporting period and is not subject to any Hong Kong Profits Tax.
The Hong Kong Profits Tax rate during the reporting period is
16.5%.

In accordance with the Enterprise Income Tax Law (“Income Tax
Law”) of the PRC, enterprise income tax rate for the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries during the reporting period is 25%.

According to the relevant PRC Income Tax Law, the Company’s
subsidiary, BabyTree (Beijing) Information and Technology Co.,
Ltd. (BB (bR) E 2 FiAR A7) (‘BabyTree Information”)
was certified as a New and High Technology Enterprise in Beijing
since 2016, and is entitled to a preferential income tax rate of
15%. The current certification of New and High Technology
Enterprise held by BabyTree Information will expire on 1
December 2022.

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate
current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

Non-deductible expenses and losses mainly represent non-
deductible other expenses or losses that exceed the deductible
limitation such as entertainment, donation and others.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 8 EEFHM
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the RIEEE D AUEFI 383N IFIA R AT
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies BlEo(FHBEE SR ERHENES
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation H R -
are as follows:
Year ended 31 December 2020
BE-B-BE+-A=t-HLEE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
I% 2R
BEEHe BENEA MERA  RIGHEHRT fi
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETRT  AR¥TR
Executive directors HiTES
WANG Huainan (Note () FEm () - 3,310 - - 3,310
XU Chong (Note (i) HH (M) - 1917 - 75 1,992
Non-executive directors FYTES
CHEN Qiyu (Note (i) &) - - - - -
WANG Changying IR#E - - - - -
CAIl Yumin (Note (i) g xe(FEE) - - - - -
YAN Jia (Note (i) BE(HE0) - - - - -
MA Jiangwe (Note (i) ST (i) - - - - -
WU Ying (Note (i) R (M) - - - - -
Christian Franz REITERMANN Christian Franz REITERMANN 300 - - - 300
HU Weixiong (Note (i) At (Bt () - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BV EHTES
CHEN Guanglei RES 300 - - - 300
CHEN Danxia (Note () A& (HE) 148 - - - 148
De-chao Michasl YU aEd 300 - - - 300
SHIAH Hung-Yu (Note (i) EERAR) 153 - - - 153
ZHANG Hongjiang ZHANG Hongjiang 300 - - - 300
1,501 5,227 - 75 6,803
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EXvid

(Expressed

TR MR

in Renminbi) (LA A R#%1)7R)

8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

@

(i)

All the executive directors are key management personnel of the Group
during the reporting period and their remuneration disclosed above
include those for services rendered by them as key management
personnel.

Mr. MA Jiangwei resigned as a non-executive director of the Company
on 20 January 2020. Mr. WU Ying was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company on 20 January 2020. Mr. HU Weixiong resigned
as a non-executive director of the Company on 30 March 2020. Mr.
CHEN Qiyu resigned as a non-executive director of the Company on 30
June 2020. Ms. CAl Yumin and Ms. YAN Jia were appointed as non-
executive directors of the Company on 30 June 2020. Ms. CHEN Danxia
resigned as an independent non-executive director of the Company on
30 June 2020. Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 30 June 2020.
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

8 EEHFMmwm

Year ended 31 December 2019
BE-E-NE+-A=t-ALEE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Directors’ fees inkind bonuses  contributions Total
I% BER
£k ENER B RIRGHEIER CH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Executive directors HITES
WANG Huainan TEm - 3,568 460 50 4,078
XU Chong G - 1,900 195 50 2,145
Non-executive directors FHTES
Christian Franz REITERMANN Christian Franz REITERMANN 300 = = = 300
CHEN Qiyu BRT - - _ _ _
WANG Changying IRAE - - - - -
SHAO Yibo BB 7mIR - - - - -
LUO Rong B - - _ _ _
JING Jie i - - - - -
MA Jiangwei B - - - - -
HU Weixiong HEE - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
CHEN Guanglei RES 300 - - = 300
CHEN Danxia BRiE 300 - - - 300
De-chao Michael YU e 300 - - - 300
ZHANG Hongjiang ZHANG Hongjiang 300 = = = 300
1,500 5,468 655 100 7,723

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief

executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the

year.

FRALBEFARSTRABREAAEHRL
(ESCIEETI DR 7 3
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2019:
two) are directors whose emolument is disclosed in note 8. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2019:
three) individuals are as follows:

RE AL

RAZBZRFMALES  AME(ZF
—NEF MB)RESF  WEZHMHE
RHfEES - Bfb=R(=F—NF : =R)
AL 2 #FBaEEmT

2020 2019
—EEHF —ET-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Salaries and other emoluments TE& RHE AT
Discretionary bonuses BIBIEAT
Retirement scheme contributions RORET 2R

The emoluments of the above individuals with the highest
emoluments are within the following bands:

5,420 4,309
8 482

173 149
5,601 4,940

bt E&EFMALEOFMENATEE

2020 2019

bt 242 —ZT-hF

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE AL

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ T2 1,500,000/ 7T 1 -

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 22,000,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 22,500,000/ 7T -

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001#%7L. 23,500,000/ 7T 1 -
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

10 LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the
loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
of RMB470.3 million (2019: RMB493.9 million) and the
weighted average of 1,661,340,000 ordinary shares (2019:
1,677,900,000 ordinary shares), calculated as follows:

() Loss attributable to equity shareholders of the

10 BREE

(a)

BREREIER

BREAREEBNERARRRERSS
AEHEBAREAT03EE (=
T—NF : ARM4939FETT) &
L 3B IR N F 9 201,661,340,000%
—T— 1% : 1,677,900,0008%) 5t
5 EEWNT

) AFRAREFBEAEBEER

Company
2020 2019
—EIEF —NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%F T ARET T
Loss attributable to equity RARIREREA
shareholders of the Company FEfhIE1E (470,262) (493,896)
(i) Weighted average number of ordinary shares (i) EHBERAMETLSH
2020 2019
—E-%F —TNE
’000 ‘000
T8 T
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R—A—HBHBREITHE LHQ 1,668,910 1,688,488
Effect of repurchase and Tk Bl B B S A 2
cancellation of ordinary shares (7,570) (10,588)
Weighted average number of RtZA=+—H#
ordinary shares at 31 December B AR A HNRE S 8 1,661,340 1,677,900
Diluted loss per share (b) SREEESE

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

There was no difference between the basic and diluted loss
per share during the years 2020 and 2019 as there were no
dilutive potential shares outstanding for the years 2020 and
2019.

BREEEREEBRABRESETE
Lﬁxbﬂﬁéﬁiﬁﬁk(ﬁjmﬁﬁﬁ/a s
j% ﬁﬂxﬁ?@)ﬁﬁﬁ = °

HR_F_FFR_F— jlijlﬂﬁ
ERTECESRD T
$&:§*h$rﬂ’\]ﬂx%$%iﬂéﬁi
BREEEE AT EEZR -
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

11 Y - BMERRE

Electronic Office Leasehold Right-of-use
equipment equipment  improvements Vehicles assets Total
BTk LN HEXE B RAEEE CH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  AEETR  ARETR  ARBTT ARETR  ARETR
Cost: 7.
At1 January 2019 RZZ-n4$—F—-H 51,980 2,683 9,839 - 64,011 128,513
Addtions NE 4,109 1,115 11,168 3,675 4,228 24,295
Disposals/write-off e /i (35,043) (809) = (3675) - (39,527)
At 31 December 2019 and “E-NEt+ZR
1 January 2020 =t-Ak
“E-TF-A-H 21,046 2,989 21,007 - 68,239 113,281
Addtions NE 156 47 776 - 827 1,806
Disposals/write-off e /s (1,102) (71) (108) = (12,565) (13,846)
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-TE+ZR
=t-H 20,100 2,965 21,675 - 56,501 101,241
Accumulated depreciation: ZEHTE
At 1 January 2019 RZE-n$—FA—H (27,551) (2,275) (5,049) - - (34,875)
Charge for the year ERMG (8,047) (520) (4,631) (582) (28,916) (42,696)
Written back HEHE 22,995 770 - 582 - 24,347
At 31 December 2019 and —E-NFt+ZA
1 January 2020 =+-Hk
“E-TF-A-H (12,603) (2,025) (9,680) - (28,916 (63,224)
Charge for the year ERMG (2,638) (639) (6,042) - (24,154) (33,467)
Written back HEHE 1,046 48 43 - 10,502 11,639
At 31 December 2020 RZEZZEF+-R
o (14,199) (2,610) (15,679) - (42,568) (75,052)
Net book value: IRERE -
At 31 December 2020 RZEZZEF+-R
=+-H 5,905 355 5,996 - 13,933 26,189
At 31 December 2019 RZE-N%+=H
=+-H 8,443 964 11,327 - 39,323 60,057

For both years, the Group leases various offices and office

equipment for its operations. The Group as a lessee is required to

recognise right-of-use assets. Details of right-of-use assets are set

out below.
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

11

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 Y%  BERZE @
(Continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FEHEEE

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by

EREEERABEERNEDH

class of underlying asset is as follows: BREFESTT :

2020 2019
bt 242 —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETTT

Other properties leased for own use, fEB AMEMEEYE
carried at depreciated cost BITEXAGHE 13,803 39,161

Office equipment, MAERME

carried at depreciated cost RITEKRAGE 130 172
13,933 39,323

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

FiEETEREEERENMXIA

recognised in profit or loss is as follows: BT :
2020 2019
—EIERF —E—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets A& EILAMEELER

by class of underlying asset: EINHTEER :
Other properties leased for own use YEE AR EMEEYE 24,112 28,877
Office equipment MAERE 42 39
24,154 28,916
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) HEaEH A (ME6@a) 1,185 2,124

Expense relating to short-term leases BREREPHEENTH
(note 6(c)) (FF5E6(c)) 1,937 3,835
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 ¥%¥ - BERRE@®

(Continued)
(@) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (a) FEHAEEEGA)
During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were FAN - FPREEENABENAAR
approximately RMB827,000 (2019: RMB4,228,000). This #827,0007L (ZE—NF : AR
amount included capitalised lease payments payable under 4,228,0007T) - B S B EERIE
new tenancy agreements. FHERENENHEEREERNL
Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity HERSRLRENFELEES
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 22(d) and 25, B EIHA DT 5 RIS A M 5E22(d) &
respectively. 25 e
No leases include an option to renew the lease for an WERNBFEANESERRAH
additional period after the end of the contract term. SEMREEE -
The Group leases offices and office equipment under leases AEBREBER _ZhERRNEE
expiring from 2 to 5 years. None of the leases includes HRR AT R NTHE o 2EHH
variable lease payments. SR RERSHERE -
12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 12 EREE
2020 2019
—EBZEF —ZE-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%EF T ARET T
Cost: A :
At 1 January m—A—H 12,093 10,696
Additions NE 4,169 1,397
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 16,262 12,093
Accumulated amortisation: HETEes -
At 1 January m—HA—H (8,607) (6,202)
Charge for the year FAHER (1,944) (2,405)
At 31 December RNt+=—A=+—8H (10,551) (8,607)
Net book value: REFE
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 5,711 3,486
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 12 EFREE @)

Intangible assets represent computer software during the reporting RIEEIA - EEEERRBISEHE -
period.

FEEHBERAFAAHBRERIEENX
A THEREHEAX ] - [ —REITHRF
S ARIHERS] -

The amortisation charge for the year is included in “cost of
revenue”, “selling and marketing expenses”, “general and
administrative expenses” and “research and development
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 13 RHE LA TNIKRE

TREFIN_FT_FTF+_A=+—~H
TEHAKENEE  BEXRBEEMT

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries as at
31 December 2020 which principally affected the results, assets or

liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless ZBHMB ARG - BRAEIRIN - BTiF
otherwise stated. BRI AR AT EAR o
Proportion of ownership interest
FERRRL
Place and date of Particulars of ~ Group’s Held
incorporation/ issuedand effective bythe  Heldby  Type of Principal
Name of company establishment paid-up capital  interest Company subsidiary  business activities
i/ BRERAR A%EN AFDT AKELR
AAEH RUBHRAH WA EBRER i) BE  EHER TEEH
BabyTree Holdings Limited BVI, US$1 and 100% 100% - Limited liability Investment holding
9 February 2018 RMB2,674,980,000 company (‘LLC") company
HEERARES 1ETR BREERH RERRAR
—F-N\F AR%2,674,980,0007C
—RhA
BabyTree Group Hong Kong HK$1 and 100% - 100% LLC Investment holding
Hong Kong Limited 5March 2018 RMB2,674,980,000 company
(‘BabyTree Hong Kong')
EEHEEERARAT £ 1ETLR BREFAH RERRA
([EEREE]) —T)\E AR %2,674,980,0007
=AnA
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 13 RHE X BHVIRE @)

Proportion of ownership interest

FERRRL
Place and date of Particulars of ~ Group’s Held
incorporation/ issuedand  effective bythe  Heldby  Type of Principal
Name of company establishment paid-up capital  interest Company subsidiary  business activities
it/ BRARMR AREH BALNR HWEAR
NRER LB A H WA EBRER i) B5  EHER TEER
BabyTree (Beijng) Information  Beijng, PRC RMB366,574,800 100% = 100%  WFOE Technology information
and Technology Co., Ltd. 8 August 2007 service
FEH(IRERRMARAT RELR AR 366,574,807 NEBERE {ER AR
e
NANR
BabyTree (Tianjin) Technology  Tianjin, PRC RMB3,000,000 100% = 100% LLC Advertising
Co., Ld. 2 July 2019
FEH(RR)RRERAE  REXR ARH3,0000007C BREERH B&
“TNE
tAZA
Meitun Mama (Shanghai) Shanghai, PRC RMB5,000,000 100% = 100% LLC E-commerce
E-Commerce Co., Ltd. 11 October 2014
FEEE( L) hE L AR5,000,0007T BREERA B
ETHEBBRAH “E-ME
tAt-A
Ningbo Meitun Mama Ningbo, PRC RMB1,000,000 100% = 100% LLC E-commerce
E-Commerce 23 September 2015
Co., Ltd.
EREDES HEER AR 1,000,007 BREEAA E
ETHEBERAR —Z-RENA
ZT=H
Meitun Meiwu (Shanghal) Shanghai, PRC RMB64,801,000 100% = 100% LLC Technology information
Information Technology 5 November 2014 service
Co., Ltd.
@XM L) hE g AEH64,801,0007C BRELRH {RRRARE
EERNERAR “BmE
t-AZA
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

13 HMEARIMNERE @)

Proportion of ownership interest

FEERR L
Place and date of Particulars of  Group’s Held
incorporation/ issuedand effective bythe  Heldby  Type of Principal
Name of company establishment paid-up capital  interest Company subsidiary  business activities
it/ BRARAR AREN BALNE HREAR
NaER ISR A WA EBRER bkl 58 ¥BER TERH
Shanghai Xiaojia Finance Shanghai, PRC RMB30,000,000 86% = 86% LLC Finance service
Technology Service Co., Ltd. 3 September 2018
b EeRMRREERAT TELE ARH30,000,0007 ARELRA Rk
E0\F
A=A
Beiing Zhongming Century Beiing, PRC RMB59,991,413 100% - 100%" VI Advertising and content
Science and Technology 1 March 2006 monetisation
Co., Ltd.
IRRRHENEARAT  REER ARH#59,991 41370 ERRER RERAZNE
ZEINE
=RA-H

*

There is no individually material non-controlling interest of the

Group during the reporting period.

The company is held by BabyTree (Beijing) Information and Technology
Co., Ltd. through contractual agreements.

* ZARIMEEH (LR EERMERAR
BBEOHERE -

RERE A - 5K B3 8 (8 Bl EA TR

MERERS o
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

14 PREPAYMENTS FOR NON-CURRENT

14 FRBEEFENRE

ASSETS
2020 2019
bt 22 —E-NF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Lz AR¥F T ARETTT
Prepayments for non-current assets IEmBVE ETRN FIA
— Prepayments for acquisition of a — I —R AR M TR RIE
company 42,670 44,096
— Prepayments for property, plant and — W B NKRERN
equipment SEUNE /O - 713
42,670 44,809
Less: Impairment loss W REEE 0] (42,670) -
- 44,809
Note: Hi3E

On 15 July 2019, BabyTree Hong Kong entered into a share transfer
agreement with Dragon Cloud Investment LLC (“Dragon Cloud”),
pursuant to which BabyTree Hong Kong shall acquire 100% equity
interest in Future Chaser Inc (“Future Chaser”) from Dragon Cloud at a
consideration of the USD equivalent of RMB43.5 million. Dragon Cloud
is a company incorporated in Delaware and wholly-owned by the spouse
of the Chairman of the Group, Mr. Wang Huainan. Future Chaser is
a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Dragon Cloud. Future Chaser established a subsidiary,
Taiwan Yilai Technology Limited in Taiwan. The consideration paid to
Dragon Cloud was included in prepayments for non-current assets as
at 31 December 2019. In 2020, the Group was notified the acquisition
was not approved by the Taiwan Government due to local policies. The
Group estimated the prepayments was no longer recoverable and fully
impaired during the year.
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 15 REE N RNER
The following list contains only the particulars of material associate, TRIEFHVBBAEES ARIANFEE - 5220
which is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market price is AR ELIMEETRE  WEMS®RE
not available:

Proportion of ownership interest

it RRRRRL A
Place and date of Particulars of ~ Group’s Held
incorporation/ issuedand  effective bythe  Heldby  Type of Principal
Name of company establishment paid-up capital interest Company subsidiary  business activities
i/ BREORAR AKEN ®mFLF BHEAT
NAER RUHERAH hAFEE ERER biia] BE EEER TEER
Vivoiz Healthtech Private Limited - Delhi, India, 13,117 shares ~ 10.81% - 1081% LLC Social network operation
(VivoiZ) 5 January 2016
Vivoiz Healthtech Private Limited % » &2 13,117H%R (A BAREEAT mEdRe
(IVivoiz)) ZENF
—RAH
The above associate is accounted for using the equity method in BN RE RS AR A TS IRE
the consolidated financial statements. N
According to the relevant shareholders’ agreement, the Group has BEHAORRGZE  AEERZAF
significant influence over Vivoiz by virtue of the contractual right to EERNREFPALZE—REST B
appoint 1 out of 5 directors of the board of directors of Vivoiz, and VivoizZB EARFE - At - AEEITVivoiz
therefore Vivoiz is regarded as an associate of the Group. HREEERT]
Summarised financial information of the material associate, Vivoiz, T3 B BB KB & R | Vivoiz ) B 7% & K
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled BE(ERSFTBERNEMEEEDAR)
to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, R EE I SRR MERE S REAI LR
are disclosed below:
2020 2019
= —TNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Current assets TRENEE 7,556 25,940
Non-current assets ERHEE 7,413 300
Current liabilities mENBE (3,815) (4,462)
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15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 RBEE N TR (@)
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-AF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ T ARET T

Non-current liabilities ERBEE (4,206) -
Revenue A 264 -
Loss for the year FEBE (12,686) (26,537)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income FEHMEEmRX)/ WA

for the year (1,349) 223
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEPHERY BT (14,035) (26,314)
Dividends received from the associate FABBE R RIS

during the year - -

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to Pt E R B B A R SRR AR
the carrying amount of the interest in Vivoiz recognised in the AVivoiziE S HIBRE £ FEREBRIN T -
consolidated financial statements:

2020 2019
—EEHF —ZE-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARB TR ARETTT

Net assets of the associate B NRIMEEFE 6,948 21,778
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REERVivoiz B R D5

interest in Vivoiz 10.81% 10.81%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate 7<= [E B B L A B E &R A 751 2,354
Goodwill EES 14,985 14,985
Effect of foreign currency exchange difference SNESFE H, 2 58 1) 57 28 (359) 653
Carrying amount of the Group’s REE R VivoiziE s IR E & 58

interest in Vivoiz 15,377 17,992
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15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 REtE RN RINRER (@)
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually I IEE R E A = AT NEEER -
material:
2020 2019
= —FTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARET T

Aggregate carrying amounts of individually A OB SRR P E R FEE AR &
immaterial associates in the consolidated NaElZ REERRE
financial statements 27,356 31,476

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of ~ NEBE JE(LZ S N RIS %

those associates’ losses from operations R EEEE
Loss for the year FEFE (1,680) (9,543)
Other comprehensive income for the year FEEMEEEA - =
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEZHAS B (1,680) (9,543)
16 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 16 HitemEE
2020 2019
—EBCEF —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREFIT
Financial assets measured at FVPL DAREEFEESSHTA
EHEENESREE
Non-current portion JEmENE S
— Unlisted equity securities —FLTERFES 190,000 163,008
- Bond portfolios —EHEE 136,889 42,825
326,889 205,833
Current portion mEE
— Bond portfolios —fBEH5HEE 457,311 13,944
— Wealth management products — BB E G 193,049 571,398
650,360 585,342
Total st 977,249 791,175
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17 INVENTORIES

(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of

financial position comprise:

FE

(a) EHUBRRARANFERSE

2020 2019

= —FTNF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

Finished goods ERK 701 12,741
Less: Provision for inventories B FEREE (515) (9,524)
Inventories, net FEFE 186 3,217

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories

(b) HREMIALFTABENEFES

recognised as expense and included in profit or loss BHAoMWT -
is as follows:

2020 2019
—E-FF —E—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFTT
Carrying amount of inventories sold BEEFEREE 17,932 21,635
Write-down of inventories FEHOR 515 4,048
Reversal of write-down of inventories GFEMBER (6,680) =
Write-off of inventories FEME - 26
11,767 25,709
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18 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 18 SEXERESREAR
LIABILITIES

(a) Contract assets (@) EREE
2020 2019
et e 222 —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARET T

Contract assets EREE
— Arising from performance under —RBITEEERMES
advertising contracts 8,835 12,546
Less: Loss allowance W EIERE (707) (125)
8,128 12,421
The Group has the right to consideration upon the NER B B R R AR S e B R JE R
completion of the advertising service, of which the obligations HE R-E_EFR-_T—hF
of those contracts are in progress as at 31 December 2020 +ZA=+—BZFARBHEESE
and 2019. The Group’s contract assets as at the end of REHEEDNERITFR - A&
reporting periods would be realised within the next twelve RBEHRNEREEBSERK
months as the contract terms with the advertising customers TZEARNER  AREEERF
always have an original expected duration of less than one BRI G RIHRI KRR —FA -
year.
(b) Contract liabilities (b) EEAE
2020 2019
—EIERF —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETTT
Contract liabilities cRAE
Advertising S 3,781 1,385
E-commerce E 2,609 826

6,390 2,211
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18 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 18 ARYERAFERB®@)
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) Contract liabilities (Continued) (b) EREAERFEGHE)
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of TEERARAGESENETA
contract liabilities recognised are as follows: AR T
The Group keeps deposits before the satisfaction of online REERELR BRI EEF] Y ATES
self-ordered advertisement. These deposits are recognised REF®  ZREEREERA
as contract liabilities until the Group satisfied the display of & BEEAEERRTZESALL -
the advertisement.
The Group receives total consideration of the goods AREFBREBEELRNEYMZAIEAE
from customers before the Group delivers the goods to FUBMEYHRBERRE ZRER
customers. The total consideration are recognised as HERACRABEEERFPHET
contract liabilities until the customer takes possession of and BEXEWAILE -
accepts the goods.
Movements in contract liabilities EREENEE
2020 2019
—B-EBF —E-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARB T ARET T

Balance at 1 January R—H— B &R 2,211 5,012
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of ERFRERT AZHIE R

recognising revenue during the year that BEAKRAMERRE R

was included in the contract liabilities at BERD

the beginning of the period (1,458) (4,186)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of FEFERNWEURES MEHRNE

receiving deposits during the year FI&EEIN 5,637 1,385
Balance at 31 December RN+ A=+—HrH& 6,390 2,211
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19 TRADE RECEIVABLES

19 BEZEBWFIE

2020 2019
= —FTNF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARET T

Amounts due from third parties

Amounts due from related parties
(Note 29(b)(ii))

Less: Loss allowance

Ageing analysis

JEW 58 = F5 508

JrE Ui B RS 75 3B (BT 5E29(b)(i))

B REE

As of the end of each of the reporting period, the ageing analysis

of trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss

allowance, is as follows:

171,161 226,586
28,282 31,054
(115,268) (66,764)
84,175 190,876

AR 2 AT
BESMEHR  BFRUGRERER
B A NER ER R ARV RRE DTN T

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETTT

Within 6 months
6 months to 1 year
1to 2 years

7N E A PAR
NERE—%F
—EWEF

The credit terms agreed with customers are normally 30-90

days from the date of billing or 60-120 days after the date the

advertisement posted. No interests are charged on the trade

receivables. Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit

risk arising from trade receivables are set out in note 28(b).

82,796 81,993
1,289 80,044
90 28,839
84,175 190,876

HEEHBENEER —RANLEHHE
T30 E 90K 3k F ffh E &5 H A31260% 120
K o WHERE S RYGRIBREF S - B H
AEBNEEBRRE S ERBGRIEREL
B ER R AE — P EE N M E28(0) ©
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20 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

20 FAMNRIERHEAMEWRRIER

2020 2019
= —FTNF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE ARET T ARETTT
Amounts due from third parties EUNEE =5 ZOE 200,206 393,606
Amounts due from related parties Uk Ba RS 5 SR IE
(Note 29(b)(i)) (M =E29(b)(0)) 75,033 50,800
Prepayments to suppliers A ERTEN RIE 20,939 20,264
Receivables due from third party U E = F XN REFKIA
payment channels 1,526 3,779
297,704 468,449
Less: Loss allowance and W EERERREEE ()
impairment loss (123,127) (82,131)
174,577 436,318
Note: PRt

(i) In 2019, the Group co-operates with certain business partners including
third parties and entities controlled by the Group’s key management
personnel, to explore the business development, cooperation and
investment opportunities in the area of certain new businesses such as
sales of elderly products business. The Group provided funding to these
business partners to support the projects. The funding was included in
the balance of other receivables as at 31 December 2019. In 2020, the
Group assessed the progress and outcome of these projects. Certain
projects did not obtain satisfactory result and was terminated during the
year. The Group estimated the related funding was not recoverable and

impaired during the year.

R-Z—NF  AEEEETERBHE
E(BEF=ITFAAEETEERASR
EHNER)  RREEREEREBS
AETHEBNER GERKRE#RS -
AEBMERNZEXEBBRERMES HZ
EHE - ZEELFHAZE-NFTA
=+ HOEMERFIRSR - R T
ZFE AKEFHEZERANERERR
B MABEBREMBRERR - YER
FAKILE AEE[BEBEESEEKR
Bl - WERFAELRE

21 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 21 HRBEE
2020 2019
—ECEF —T-hEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARET T
Deductible input Value added tax RRE TR ER 15,272 11,408
Others Hith 37 4
15,309 11,412
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22 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER 22 B RIRITEBRUKEMIRE

CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(@) Cash and bank balances comprise:

@ HRERVITEHREHE
2020 2019
= —FTNF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Pt i ARMT T ARBTT

Cash at banks and other financial FHRRETREMESEL

institutions HERIR
Deposits with banks RITIF
Cash and bank balances RE RIRTTHERR
Less: Restricted cash W ZREIRE
Cash and cash equivalents per REHREMER

consolidated statement of cash flows HEIRE KIS ZED

Note:

0] Restricted cash mainly represents pledged bank balances which
are used to secure investments.

872,842 454,728
206,874 968,127
1,079,716 1,422,855
(99,700) =
980,016 1,422,855

BEE

0) SRR T BRIERIRERADN
RITHEER ©
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22 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER 22 B RIRITEBRUKEMIRE

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) REER @
(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash used (b) BRBRABEEKLETHMARSE

in operations:

ZH R

2020 2019
—B-RF —TNF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBET T

Loss before taxation Brii A ES1E
Adjustments for: AT S IBEL R -
Net finance income WA TR
Fair value changes on financial assets AR EEZEE
measured at FVPL STAE BBERNEREERN
Share of losses of associates FEIGHEE AR E1E
Investment income on financial assets AR BESEREE:TA
measured at FVPL EHRBERNEREERN
"EWE
Gain on disposal of an associate & — R E A T
Recognition of impairment loss on IR FURRRBERE -
prepayments, net FER
Recognition of impairment loss on interest in -~ A — B AT 2%
an associate ERREEE
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, LEWE  BER
plant and equipment FfEz (Was) / BEFE
Recognition of loss allowance on trade LB FREMFIE &
receivables and contract assets EREERREERE
Recognition of loss allowance A PRI
on other receivables REEEE
Depreciation weE
Amortisation of intangible assets BV AR
Write-off of other receivables T g8 EL R U IR
Write-down of inventories &MU
Reversal of write-down of inventories FERFEMD
Write-off of inventories FEMH
Gain on lease termination HER KR
Changes in working capital: BEERE
Decrease in inventories FERD
Decrease in trade receivables and B IRMFIBREREERD
contract assets
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and BN FIE KA MY
other receivables IR,/ (38h0)
Increase in other current assets Hitnwsh &L i
Increase in restricted cash SR IR 2N
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B S REMAFmEEN CRd)
Increase/(decrease) in accruals and JEET K HoAth FE 1T 5RIB
other payables i,/ ()
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities BRAEEM/ CRd)
Net cash used in operations REFAREHE
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(471,908) (473,754)
(5,049) (32,230)
(26,327) 25,880
3,051 12,412
(29,724) (6,759)
- (61)
41,860 14,797
2,441 -
(165) 13,058
49,086 50,470
91,806 17,334
33,467 42,696
1,944 2,405
391 -
515 4,048
(6,680) -
- 26

(45) -
9,196 7,366
61,909 115,953
222,922 (373,758)
(3,897) (5,456)
(99,700) -
6,622 (2,672)
8,497 (83,774)
4,213 (2,801)
(105,575) (673,810)
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22 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

22 WERIRT

ERUREMRES

REER m)

(c)

BMETHELENEEIHR

TR AEEREREETHNE
BNEBFE  BRRE LIRS
2 - MEIZDFELENAGBRE
EREARRBESRBEEREAEEE
HASRERPERIBERRMEETD
REMNEE -

Amounts due
to related Lease  Short-term
parties liabilities  borrowings Total
JE{ B
I HEEE REER Bat
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2019 R=Z-NF—-A-H 21,842 61,682 - 83,524
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSHEH
Amounts received from related parties el el R 1,841 - - 1,841
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENHAERENFELD - (2,124) - (2,124)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENFRERESMN §$*|3’;} - (28,470) - (28,470)
Other changes: Hit% 5 :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into FRRIVHAEEHN
new lease during the year HEBEEM = 4,208 = 4,228
Interest expenses (Note 6(a) F18 5% (Fi7F6() = 2,124 = 2,124
At 31 December 2019 and R=B-N§F
1 January 2020 +=A=+-8K
—EEFf-H—-H 23,683 37,440 - 61,123
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSRED
Amounts advanced to related parties {5 AR T RO FUIE (4,220) - - (4,220)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BAREREMNF SIS = (1,185) = (1,189)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERBEEREMERTS = (21,529) = (21,529)
Proceeds from new bank loans ERITE SR UE = = 761,681 761,681
Repayments of bank loans BRFITER = = (761,681)  (761,681)
Other changes: Hit# 5 :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into FRETLHEEEH
new lease during the year HEEEEM = 827 = 827
Decrease in lease liabilities from early termination & A2 248 F 18 S8 54
of lease during the year HEAERD - (2,108) = (2,108)
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) 185 (Fi7F6() - 1,185 - 1,185
At 31 December 2020 R-Z-ZE
+=A=t-H 19,463 14,630 - 34,003

FEHRE 2020 | EEBEE 229



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

22 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER 22 B RIRITEBRUKEMIRE

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

Total cash outflow for leases

(d)

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash

REEN E)

(d)

HERSRHARE
SEEF A HRERERARK

flows for leases comprise the following: HBRENTEE :
2020 2019
bt 242 —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%F T ARET T
Within operating cash flows SFAKZRER 1,937 3,835
Within financing cash flows FFARER SR 22,714 30,594
24,651 34,429
These amounts relate to the following: HRF|ZIEHEBATRE ¢
2020 2019
—EIERF —E—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Lease rentals paid BNEERS 24,651 34,429
23 TRADE PAYABLES 23 BZENRIE
2020 2019
bt 242 —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARET T
Amounts due to third parties ENE=HFFIE 19,946 12,493
Amounts due to related parties (Note 29(o)(i)) &~ BAES 77 238 (BT 5E29(b)(i)) 336 1,167
20,282 13,660
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23 TRADE PAYABLES (Continued) 23 EFZEMNFIE@)

As of the end of each of the reporting period, the ageing analysis

BEXBEHR  BEIRNKEERER

All of the accruals and other payables are expected to be settled

or recognised as profit or loss within one year or are repayable on

demand.

of trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HEARBREE D ATAO R -

2020 2019
= —FTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREF T
Within 6 months 7~E A AR 10,682 10,047
6 months to 1 year NMEAE—%F 1,639 2,920
1 to 2 years —EMFE 7,662 326
Over 2 years FRE A 299 367
20,282 13,660

24 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 24 FEGtREMENSTIR
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Amounts due to merchants R FIE 17,053 7,165
Amounts due to related parties (Note 29(b)(i) &1 BEEsE 77 238 (B 5329(b)(i)) 19,463 23,683
Payroll payables JERTE 3,472 8,789
Taxes and levies payables ENHIEREE 4,143 4,556
Other payables HAb BT FIA 41,726 37,323
85,857 81,516

PR FERT M Lt BN SRR TERT S I —
REEINBRPERIIRELEER -
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25 LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of

the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous

reporting periods:

25 HESE

TRETRER MBERSHAAEEE
SRENRREOHR

At 31 December 2020
R-ZE-ZEF+-A=+—H

At 31 December 2019
RZZ—NF+=ZA=+—8

Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHE REHE REHAE REHESE
HRBE (RE7EE A Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥TR AREBFT AREFT
Within 1 year —FR 12,102 12,375 25,184 26,469
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERRER 2,482 2,524 12,167 12,344
After 2 years but within 5 years ~~ WEZREBREER 46 47 89 94
2,528 2,571 12,256 12,438
14,630 14,946 37,440 38,907
Less: Total future interest expenses Ji : & 5 FI & 5 & 4258 (316) (1,467)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBRERE 14,630 37,440
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26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26 4B RETHWFTER
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) EftFBARRTPENEBIIRE :
financial position represents:

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARETTT

At 1 January n—H—H 1,010 14,211

Provision for income tax for the year REZEEHEE 6 1,010
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEHBRERE (1,008) (1,067)
Income tax paid during the year FREMATER 2 (13,144)
At 31 December w“t+—A=+—H 6 1,010
Representing: K& :

Current taxation BNHEATR 18 6 1,010
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26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

26 SHMEMRREKF WSS @)

(Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) CEIRELEHREEERASE
() Movement of each component of deferred tax () EZEHEEEREEEARIS
assets and liabilities DZBE

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

R A GRS R R EER BV AR
EHBEE (BB EKRBD

position and the movements during the year are as RERNEHBERIT
follows:
Other
Deductible deductible
accumulative  Impairment temporary
loss loss differences Total
HittrrE MM
THENZER HEFE  ORMEEE ok
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®Tn AR%ETn AR¥ETx
Deferred tax arising from: UTRBEEZEEHE
At 1 January 2019 R-E-NE—F—H 41,292 6,075 1,333 48,700
Credited)/(charged) to profit or loss (Note 7(a)) & A/ (41k%) B& (R 7(a)) (29,801) 9,770 (723) (20,754)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 R_E-NE+-A=1+-H
k=E-E4-f—H 11,491 15,845 610 27,946
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss (Note 7(@)) ~ Ef A/ (M%) B & (FizE7() - - = =
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-ZE+-FA=1-H 11,491 15,845 610 27,946
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26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26 4B RETHFER @
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERARELEHEEEREE : (#)
(Continued)
(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of (i) HEEHFHERRERZEER
financial position
2020 2019
—E-EHE —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARET T
Net deferred tax asset recognised RE P AR AR P TR
in the consolidated statement of RIERIEE E R E
financial position 28,061 28,061
Net deferred tax liability recongised R & HF A TSR R 2= P HERHY
in the consolidated statement of RIEIEBERE
financial position (115) (115)
27,946 07,946

(c)

(d)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(q),
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect
of cumulative tax loss of RMB819.4 million (2019: RMB454.2
million) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against
which the losses can be utilised will be available in the
relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses arising
from PRC will expire in one to ten years for offsetting against
future taxable profits.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2020, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to RMB1.0
million (2019: RMBO0.5 million). Deferred tax liabilities of
RMBO0.3 million (2019: RMBO0.1 million) have not been
recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable on
the distribution of these retained profits as the Company
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has
been determined that it is probable that these profits will not
be distributed in the foreseeable future.

(c)

(d)

RERZIELEBBEE

BIEM 2B S ETHER - A&
B R REHIEE B AR819.4
BELT(ZZE—NF : ARW454.2
BEL)ERELHIBEE - BAT
AP EMER B e AR R E i
BN 15 R 2 P SR A e ) LA (R HE SH AR IE
E518 o R B P B A] R 1R 8 R 2R B
AEBENHHIBBERER —Z2+4F
ENE

AERZIELERIBEE
RZZ=_TF+=-A=+—8"
MBARERD m/ﬂm%mﬂkﬁ
ZEREAEAREI0BET(ZE—N
F:ARBOSEERL) - WERD
o % SR i T B ST B9 R B M R A
ELEHIBEEEAARKIIEETT
(ZZ—NF : AREOIBET) -
FREABRARIEHZSNEA RN
B SR - I B RETE 4 AT 78 B Rk
FEHEREERF o
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(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

27 EX - RERRE

(@ Movements in components of equity (a) REFARIBH 2EE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances REEEFERS AL D BT &
of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is HARER 2 HIBRE N A FFRERE B
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. XK FPIRERKAN A ERERA
Details of changes in the Company’s individual components AER D 2 B RIS EIT
of equity between the beginning and the end of the year are
set out below:
Share Share Treasury Capital  Translation Retained
capital premium shares reserve reserve profits Total
R RiteE ERRH B EriGfE REHR it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTn  AR¥Tn  ARMTn  AR¥Tn  ARETn AR¥Tn  ARETx
Balance at 1 January 2019 RZF-1E-F-A
fies 1,172 7,965,788 - (7,336,927) (648,028 2,652,121 2,634,131
Changes in equity for 2019: RE-nENERED.
Loss for the year EnER - - - - - (36,630) (56,630)
Qther comprehensive income Ef2ERA - - - - 201 - 401
Total comprehensive income/expense) ~ 2FMA/ (FI% )8 - - - - 4,011 (56,630) (14619
Repurchase of ordinary shares LakED - - (83473 - - - (33473
Cancelation of treasLry shares HHEERR (14 (73,314) 73,328 - - - -
Balance at 31 December 2019and ~ R=F-A%E+=R
1 January 2020 ZT-AR-ECEE-
A-Afis 1,158 7,892,474 (10,145 (7,336,927) (606,012) 2,595,491 2,536,039
Changes in equity for 2020: W-ECTEHERES.
Proft for the year ERgA - - - - - 24,050 24,050
Qther comprenensive expense EhAERS - - - - (164,347) - (164,347)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income ~ 2E (3%)/WALE - - - - (164,347) 24,050 (140,297)
Repurchase of ordinary shares LERED - - (1,870) - - - (1,670)
Cancelation of reasLry shares HEERRA (9) (10,847) 10,852 - - - -
Balance at 31 December 2020 RoB-EE
+ZA=1-8 1,153 7,881,627 (1,163)  (7,3%6,927) (770,359) 2,619,541 2,303,812
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 27 &X - FERKE @)
(Continued)

(b) Dividends b) BE
During the year, no dividends were declared or paid by the RER AR AW EREEZRER
Company to its equity shareholders (2019: Nil). EIREIMABE(ZZT—hF &) o
(c) Share capital and premium (c) BARRE
Number of
ordinary Share Share
shares capital premium
EBEREE &N MR8 E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARYT T ARBT R
As at 1 January 2019 R=-Z—-h&—HA—A  1688483,109 1,172 7,965,788
Repurchase and cancellation of AR S !
ordinary shares (19,577,500) (14) (73,314)
As at 31 December 2019 and R-Z-h&+=A
1 January 2020 =t+—HE
—E-_EF-A—H 1,668,910,609 1,158 7,892,474
Repurchase and cancellation of AR IE & r
ordinary shares (6,909,000) (5) (10,847)
As at 31 December 2020 R-Z-Z£+-A
Sqr=[g 1,662,001,609 1,153 7,881,627
On 28 November 2019, the Company cancelled 19,577,500 RZE—-—NAE+—A=Z+N\A8 "
ordinary shares which were repurchased during the year RABIFHER _—_ZE—-—NFEDN
2019. 19,577,500 & iBA% °
On 3 June 2020, the Company cancelled 6,909,000 ordinary RZZE_ZTFHA=H ' A7
shares, of which 6,039,000 shares were repurchased during +T §5 6,909,000 & L@ L - E
the year 2019 and 870,000 shares were repurchased during 6,039,000k BN = ZF — N FHE -
the year 2020. 870,000k BN =T —FF &M -
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 27 &X - FERKE @)
(Continued)

(d) Treasury shares (d) EFk&

Number of
shares RMB’000
R EE AR¥T

As at 1 January 2019 R-ZE—hE—-HF—H = -
Shares repurchased to be cancelled 1 FrEEmE B G, 25,616,500 83,473
Cancellation of treasury shares FESHEERR D (19,577,500) (73,328)
As at 31 December 2019 and R=ZB-AE+=RA=+—H

1 January 2020 rR=E=-=F—H—H 6,039,000 10,145
Shares repurchased to be cancelled P EmE E IR D 2,160,000 1,870
Cancellation of treasury shares FHEFRD (6,909,000) (10,852)
As at 31 December 2020 N-—ZE-_ZFEF+=-HA=+—H 1,290,000 1,163
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

27 EX - RERBRE @)

(d) Treasury shares (Continued) (d) E7FRG(E)

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
Company repurchased its own ordinary shares through The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as follows:

RBE-F-FER-F-NE
+=A=+-BLEE  ARTE
BEBYAXSHERAAEHL
& 5 BRI ¢

Number of Highest Lowest Aggregate

shares price paid price paid  consideration

Month/year repurchased per share per share paid
BREA BRER

£/R EEERDHE BEER REER ENERESE

HK$ HK$ HK$°000

BT BT TET

April 2020 —T-TENA 2,160,000 1.03 0.83 2,047

May 2019 —T-NEHA 7,450,000 5.34 4.41 36,740

June 2019 —T-NERHA 7,292,500 4.90 4.65 35,054

September 2019 —Z-NFNA 4,774,500 2.42 2.13 11,104

October 2019 —T-NFTH 60,500 2.21 2.17 133

November 2019 —T-NF+—A 5,020,000 1.97 1.79 9,469

December 2019 —T-NF+ZA 1,019,000 1.88 1.75 1,841

94,341

25,616,500

The repurchase was governed by Chapter 10 of the Listing
Rules. HK$2.0 (2019: HK$94.3) million (equivalent to
approximately RMB1.9 (2019: RMB83.5) million) was paid
wholly out of capital for the repurchase of shares. 6,909,000
(2019: 19,577,500) shares out of the total repurchased
shares were cancelled and accordingly the issued share
capital of the Company was reduced by US$691 (2019:
US$1,958) (equivalent to RMB4,799 (2019: RMB13,599)).

OEX EmRAETERE - O
BHOMEBE20EEEL(=ZF
—NF - 43FEBIT) HERL
ARBA19BETL(ZZE—NF : A
R¥835BEIT)) N2 A ERE
o B BRI IR {5 42 2+ 6,909,000 4%
—Z—NF : 19,577,5008% ) ix 15
AR SH AR R E BITIR AR E
BlRe91E (=T — A4 : 1,958
E50) (HBERARKA 79T (ZF
—NEF : ARKE13,5997T)) ©
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(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(e) Capital reserve
The capital reserve was mainly arising from the acquisitions
of additional interest in subsidiaries during the Group’s
reorganisation in 2017.

(f) Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations as well as the effective
portion of any foreign exchange differences arising from
hedges of the net investment in these foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in notes 2(t).

(g) Capital management
The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of an
adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose, adjusted
net debt is defined as total debt (which includes lease
liabilities) less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity.
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 27 &4X& - #ERKRE &)

(Continued)

(g) Capital management (Continued) (9) EAXEEE)
During 2020, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged RIZE_TF  KREENKRE AR
from 2019, was to maintain the adjusted net debt-to-capital BRARERFEHEARLEK B
ratio. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may FARIE —E— NFETE - SR
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue SRR - ANEE A FHEAKE
new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt YR ESRE - BITEHKG - M
financing or sell assets to reduce debt. REREER - UFFEBETRE

S EBEEREET °

The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 N_E-EFR-_E—-NF+_H
December 2020 and 2019 was as follows: =t+—8  AEEMNEHBREEE
BEARLET :
2020 2019
—EEHF —ET-NF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AR¥T T AREFIT
Current liabilities: mEasE
Lease liabilities HEaE 25 12,102 25,184
Non-current liabilities: IEREEE
Lease liabilities MEARE 25 2,528 12,256
Total debt (EELEGE 14,630 37,440
Less: Cash and cash equivalents, B RE NRESEEY 22
net of restricted cash R 2R HIR 2 (980,016) (1,422,855)
Adjusted net debt RAEBEKFE (965,386) (1,385,415)
Total equity RETSHEEE 2,314,754 2,918,203
Adjusted net debt-to-capital BRAREEFEY N/A N/A
ratio BARLEZR TEHA TiE A
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(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@) Categories of financial instruments

tREREERERIANAD
REE

(@ E=@MITAEER

2020 2019
= —FTNF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ T ARET T

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost

Exposure to credit, liquidity, currency and interest rate risks

SREE
AR EE B BEEEA
EHESNSRERE 977,249 791,175
HREEN AT ENEREE 1,354,953 2,068,415
2,332,202 2,859,590
il L=
B HAR A 120,769 132,616

arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade and other receivables and contract assets. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and bank
balances is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with a minimum credit rating of
BBB, for which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 31.2%
(2019: 52.8%) and 55.7% (2019: 30.9%) of the total trade
receivables and contract assets was due from the Group’s
five largest customers. These customers were mainly
4A advertisement agent companies with diversified end-
customers.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due within 30-90 days from the date of
billing or within 60-120 days after the date the advertisement
posted. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

28 sRIEREERESRMIANAD
AEE@E

(b)

EERRE

EERREREF I TIRITESHD
EBMEBBAEE AT P EERD
B - ARENEERREIEARE
7 R EABWFKEREREE S
o AREEHNEERR(ARE
KIRTTHERSIR) AR - R F 8
ABEREEEFHABBBHRITRE
MR AKERS/BEFRAEERE
e

BESERWREREEAEE

AEEEHNEERREESES
BEEMERSHMTE MRS
MEMEMITERERAEE B
f  EAEFEERREEZRAR
EEEERRFAEERNEREE
Ao RIEHIKR - BREZEWFIE
MAEREERMNII2%(=ZZT—AN
£ 52.8%) K%55.7%(—FE—NE :
30.9%) HEWAEBRAAREFL K
B RERFPEIERBEAEZTILE
IR FRAAESERIEAR]

FIAERBHBERERENER
MEEZBAGEEN G - ZFF A
EINEFHBEIHERLER
BRXNEEN YEREPHIHA
BRARESEMENEEREN
HEEH - BHRUGREAN LR
B B ET0E90R Ak # MR &
EHBRE0E120RAX T » — R
mE - A& EYEEGE P HHE

o

u]

hm}
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and
contract assets as at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

28 TRIEREEREMTIAND

AREE@
(b) EEERE)
ESERHERSREE(E)

AEERERNBEEFTERRBE
EEBR(ABEERE) SR
EBSRUWFAREREEMNEIE
BE - ANAEENELEERR
REXRHSTRAEP DM RBE
TRNEBEER  HEEEAREE
TREFPEARZEE-—TROER
BEBHAOR R BIHERRAE -

RZEZZTFR_T—NF+H
=+—H AEBEESEWHRIBER
EREEMEFEERBRMAO REHE
BEENEBE SN TRAR

2020
e i
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEEE MR (E BB
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARBTT ARBT T
Current (not past due) BIER(R#HA) 7% 88,832 6,290
1-90 days past due BH1Z90K 46% 15,581 7,199
91-180 days past due EHA91 F 180K 49% 991 487
181-270 days past due EHI181 270K 57% 1,838 1,054
271-365 days past due #HA271 365K 91% 1,009 918
More than 365 days past due 260 BB 365K 100% 100,027 100,027
208,278 115,975
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(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 £ FiEREEREMIAMNA
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

AREE@

(b) fEERR(H)

BEEWRERERAEE (&)
2019
—ZE-NF
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRHAE R E HARHE(E EiERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000

% ARETT ARETT

Current (not past due) BER(R#EH7)
1-90 days past due #HR1Z=90K
91-180 days past due #HIO1 = 180K
181-270 days past due BHA181E270K
271-365 days past due #HR271ZE365K

More than 365 days past due 461 BB 8 365K

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 365 days. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.

1% 154,235 1,642
23% 43,911 10,100
42% 8,813 3,701
53% 16,537 8,765
85% 26,061 22,152

100% 20,629 20,629
270,186 66,889

AHEEXRENBEICSRNERERRL
BETE - WIREE L BIEREBRRNEHE
AL~ RTAR B 7 5 B 58 A ) FE MR
EHTFRRFERANLEIRR =% 2 FHH
EFEETHE
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(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 €@iEMEEREMIAEND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
receivables and contract assets during the year is as follows:

AREE@

(b) fEERR(H)

EZRUFTERSREE(H)
FR - BEFREFEMAREER
BRERNEFHNT

2020 2019

—ECEF —E-NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFT

Balance at 1 January H— A — B84 66,889 16,419
Recognition of loss allowance FAEREEEE

during the year 49,086 50,470

Balance at 31 December R+ _A=1+—B8%&% 115,975 66,889

For other receivables, the management makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking

information.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of other

EREMEEFIR - EEETHR
BES AL BELRUNRA
BE DA ERHRH RO E R
TEEEN  HEAMBKFIERN A
Bl T T @RI FHE

FR - HMEKFEBREBRERD

receivables during the year is as follows: BEAR -

2020 2019
= —FTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Balance at 1 January R— A —BM&Es 17,334 =

Recognition of loss allowance FANERE R
during the year 91,806 17,334
Balance at 31 December R+ B=+—H8&& 109,140 17,334
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(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short-term
investments of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
As at 31 December 2020, the Group has unutilised banking

facilities of RMB406,245,000 (2019: RMB428,810,000).

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period)

and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

28 sRIEREERESRMIANAD
AREE@

(c)

RBESRER
AEBETHENCEERAER
BERSEE EHEBLEH#N
R ERESERAREIEHR
©FK o NEBMER AT HER
ERBESTEREKREEZTES sk
BHXRZESREEE  UrRZ
HEBERANTRHESTERK - R
—E-_ZEF+_-_A=+—H ' &K
EEBEEAPHABTREARE
406,245,0007c( —Z—NE : AR
#428,810,0007T) °

N

<

TRETNREBE AR K ENIEDT
EERABENBTAOIIMER
WTSRIBEE AR RR SR (BIERE
RERMEFENMENTK - fH5
FEME - AREBR SRS HIRAOR
TTRIZR) A Ko 75 5 8 ] 43¢ 22 SRS R 5K
EH&F HAHEFHE

As at 31 December 2020
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

RZBZBE+-R=+-AEHANRRLER
Carrying
amounts
in the
More than More than consolidated
Within 1 year but 2 years but statement of
1 year or less than less than financial
on demand 2 years 5 years Total position
—FRg BE-F BBME AHEHERRR
EEX BORTWE BIREE @t AR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Trade payables EHRNTE 20,282 - - 20,282 20,282
Accruals and other payables Bt R E M fER IR 85,857 - - 85,857 85,857
Lease liabilties HEEE 12,375 2,524 47 14,946 14,630
118,514 2,524 47 121,085 120,769
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 ¢ RiEMEERSRMIANAD
AREE@

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c)

REBE S (#)

As at 31 December 2019

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

R-B-NE+- A=+ RANARRR LRI

Carrying

amounts

in the

More than More than consolidated

Within 1 year but 2 years but statement of

1 year or less than less than financial

on demand 2 years 5 years Total position

—R Hh—F BBmF AFMBIRR

IEER  BIREME  EIRDEF @5t R

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR AEETT

Trade payables B AEMNTIR 13,660 - - 13,660 13,660
Accruals and other payables Bt RE MR TE 81,516 - - 81,516 81,516
Lease liabilities HERR 26,469 12,344 94 38,907 37,440
121,645 12,344 9% 134,083 132,616
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(d)

Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through

sales and purchases which give rise to receivables, payables
and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign
currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional currency

of the operations to which the transactions relate. The

currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Japanese Yen
(“JPY”), United States dollars (“USD”), Hong Kong dollars
(“HKD”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group manages this risk
as follows:

(i)

(i)

Recognised assets and liabilities

In respect of receivables and payables denominated
in foreign currencies, the Group ensures that the net
exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or
selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary
to address short-term imbalances.

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown in Renminbi,
translated using the spot rate at the year end date.
Differences resulting from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency are excluded.

28 sRIEREERESRMIANAD
AREE@

(d)

E¥RR

AEEEERNEFEENINS (AN
RHEENRETREEEAINNE
B FHERM RO - BNFURNMR
EHEMHEHEERRER - EXUER
ROERTERAR X BT
RARET - AERBEZATHAE
BzRR

() CEIBEERAE
ShASNES SHE R R AR IR K 8
NHEME » AEERFEA
B0 T 4z BN HAGE K 8 A =k
EINE AR TR RE A A F & 1B
W FEDARE IR BB H R A R A
BERKFE -

(i) BEER®KO

TR EBR RS BHRE
PR AMERAE BB E B A2
ERTENEEREEXAR
EENEERREAD - L2
mE @ AR OS5I R
F)7R - WERFR AR B B2 BN ER
PERINE o 1IN ERI IR
RMEAREBEZREMmE
EZEZBITREENA -
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 €@iEMEEREMIAEND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AEE@)
(Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) ExmEpS(E)
(i) Exposure to currency risk (Continued) (i) E¥ERE®OE
2020 2019
“ECEE “I-NE
JPY us$ RMB HK$ JPY Us$ RVB HKS
AR ES N B AE Xt ARE BT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'O00 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TR AR%Tn ARETn ARETn ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Other receivables Eftfelzg - 424 - - - 16 - -
Cash and bank balances ReREs - 25 18,094 5,884 4 241 28890 2,624
Accruals and other payables JEit R4
FERZE - (2,948) - - (2,628 (2,306) - -
Other financial assets HrdpaE - - 2 (199) - - - -
Trade payables BSRMTE (252)  (2,880) - - = = = =
Net exposure Bl (528)  (5319) 40,114 5,685 (2.524) 187 28890 2524
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(iii) Sensitivity analysis

28 sRIEREERESRMIANAD
AEEG@E

(d) EHEEEGE)

(iii)

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s loss before taxation and accumulated
losses that would arise if foreign exchange rates to
which the Group has significant exposure at the end
of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant.

BRBMAED T
TRIE » HARERHRE S
REE AR B0 INEE R 7%

AHRES - REMAEME
REBRETE - RIAKERG

BT & R B IRE L rOR)
BED -

2020 2019

il —T-NF
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) loss before (decrease) loss before
in foreign taxation and in foreign  taxation and
exchange accumulated exchange accumulated
rates losses rates losses
HE B BRI
SMNEEER RRER SMNEER  RRFERE
2,/ (md) g8 EICRd) -7
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
USD = 5% (269) 5% 7
(5%) 269 (5%) 7)
RVB AR 5% 2,006 5% 1,445
(5%) (2,006) (5%) (1,445)
HKD ABIT 5% 284 5% 126
(5%) (284) (5%) (126)
JPY HIE 5% (126) 5% (126)
(5%) 126 (5%) 126
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(iii)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ loss before taxation
and equity measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into Renminbi at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including inter-
company payables and receivables within the Group
which are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the borrower. The
analysis excludes differences that would result from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations into the Group’s presentation currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2019.
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B Ot SRR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFII7R)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

28 TRIEREEREMTIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REE@E
(Continued)
(e) Interest rate risk (e) FI=mps

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from its cash
and bank balances with floating interest rates which expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group’s assets and liabilities as at the end of the
reporting period:

AEBZANERRREEKRBIZTD
MERFABWBRS RRITHES - KL
AEEHBERSRNRRR -

FRHR
TRFAVREPREAEEE
ERBEOFEHER

@

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETTT
Variable interest rate LIRS
Financial assets SRUEE
— Cash and bank balances —Re RiIRTTHES 1,079,716 1,422,855
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BREDW
At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a general R-E-_ZEF+_-_A=+—

increase of 50 basis points in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would have increase the
Group’s loss before taxation for the next 12 months by
approximately RMB5.4 million (2019: RMB7.1 million).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate
non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the
end of the reporting period.

H - 45 K& 50
oM EMEHERT
Al st AEEAR+ =
BBRBRFATESEBIEMOAR
MEAEEBT(ZT—NE A
R¥7TABERL) -

=

BgERESTRRAEER
BEMRMFBZEIITAET
BFTEARIRE R RER
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(f) Fair value measurement

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
IFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which
a fair value measurement is classified is determined
with reference to the observability and significance of
the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date.

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 €@iEMEEREMIAEND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

() Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
The fair value measurements of the Group’s financial
assets including investments in unlisted equity
securities, bond portfolios and wealth management
products are categorised into the following level in the
fair value hierarchy:

REE@

(f 2DAREEEGER

) MHURREEFEZEREER

BEGH)
AR EEER(E)
AEENSREE(BRENIE

EignESs  BErEe K8
MERNRE)ARAEBERE
WD RIATER -

Fair value at Fair value measurement
31 December as at 31 December 2020
2020 categorised into
R-Z-EF
+=R=+—-H R-E-EF
ZAREE +ZR=+—-HZAABEFESE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E— -t F=R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET R ARBT T ARBT T NG
Assets gE
Unlisted equity securities EFTRERES 190,000 - - 190,000
Bond portfolios BEHHEE 594,200 183,330 410,870 -
Wealth management products BB ER 193,049 - - 193,049
Fair value at Fair value measurement
31 December as at 31 December 2019
2019 categorised into
RZZE-NF
+=ZA=+—H RZE—NF
ZAnEE TZA=+—B2ZRREBEHENE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F— FH E=M
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR
Assets gE
Unlisted equity securities ¥ LmiERES 163,008 = = 163,008
Bond portfolios Erla 56,769 56,769 - -
Wealth management products 32812 571,398 = = 571,398
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 £ FiEREEREMIAMNA
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AREE@
(Continued)

()  Fair value measurement (Continued) H 2AEEFTEGE)

() Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) URAEEFEZESHMEER
value (Continued) 8E(E)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) RAEEER(E)
During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, HE_ZE—NEFr-_ZE-Z E
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, +—A=+—HLEFE -
or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy %&@%:%&Zﬁaﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value HEE A S A - NEEE
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which HNEBRABEALBEER M
they ocaur. IR A RS HAR R ER

FAEERS -

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair EZRAEEFGEEFAE
value measurement EHT R A B
Investments in bond portfolios are measured at fair REHPBMRREKF - EHAE
values in the consolidated statement of financial BREBRBRIRERNAHRE
position based on quoted price of actively traded EFRHNEBKRUAARLEBES
underlying assets. = °
Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair FE=RAEFEATEFRIE
value measurement BTN g A Bris
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements FE=F AL BETENER
Significant
Valuation unobservable Weighted
techniques inputs Range average
BRI BEATABERARE 8E EVHE
Unlisted equity securities Market comparison Discount for lack of
approach marketability 15% to 23% 19%
FEmERES 5L EUA RS TG RE TR 15%Z23% 19%
Wealth management products Discounted cash flow  Bank quoted expected
approach return 0.6% t0 3.6% 1.8%
B Em BIRRESREE RITFTRATEEI R 0.6%%£3.6% 1.8%
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

() Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair
value measurement (Continued)

The fair value of unlisted equity securities is determined
by reference to the recent transaction pricing for the
entities or similar transactions in similar entities in same
industry adjusted for lack of marketability discount. The
fair value measurement is negatively correlated to the
discount for lack of marketability.

As at 31 December 2020, it is estimated that with all
other variables held constant, an increase/decrease
in discount for lack of marketability by 1% would have
increase/decrease the Group’s loss before taxation by
RMB1.9 million (2019: RMB1.63 million).

The fair value of wealth management products is
determined using discounted cash flow approach. The
fair value measurement is positively correlated to the
bank quoted expected return.

As at 31 December 2020, it is estimated that with all
other variables held constant, an increase/decrease in
bank quoted expected return rate by 1% would have
decrease/increase the Group’s loss before taxation by
RMB1.9 million (2019: RMB5.7 million).

The Group has a team headed by the finance manager
performing valuations for the financial instruments,
including unlisted equity securities and wealth
management products which are categorised into
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The team reports
directly to the chief financial officer and the audit
committee. A valuation report with analysis of changes
in fair value measurement is prepared by the team
at each interim and annual reporting date, and is
reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer.
Discussion of the valuation process and results with
the chief financial officer and the audit committee is
held twice a year, to coincide with the reporting dates.

28 sRIEREERESRMIANAD
AEE@E

U]

AREEFEE)

@

UAREBEFEZESHMEER
EF%@

RO BB FHIE
@&m&%x@#%@
#Lﬁ%éi%%@ﬁﬁ@ﬁ
2EBRBRATENELERTY
ﬁwx%mﬁﬁi%ﬁh
ﬁ’M¢AWﬁi$%MLﬁ

?ﬁuﬁﬂglﬂﬂ% /\-LEFTEE-I—E
B g mB I ER R
IHE, @

R-B-BE+=A=+—
A - R R BB TR
MERT - AR E MR
HEAT3R 7T T RE19% 182
S5 8 10 4 B 1 65 1B 0O
S AR OHET(ZE—A
F ARM1.63EMT) -

B EmA AR EBETIE AR
RBEMELET - AREE
5= BERTTRT R A TE HA R #RAK
1EtE o

R_ZE_ZTEFE+_A=+—
B B EMbEHEETE
HIERT - RITATERATEERE
HMERTYK, EF1%E S AE
E&IBRBATETIBIE N, R A
RE19BET(ZE—NF :
ARESTEHETT) °

AREEA - X AMBEIETE
WEBGHERTA(BRESR
BARES '"k*ﬁ&fi’]#im
BaESMEMER)ETE
8- E%lﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ%?@%

BERREEWME - BRSNS
hEANFERE B RRE O
HEREITAABERZS -

MG B B AR R Rt
o MBRENERZEEE
FRITMAGH(RKE B
e mibEBERER
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

() Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

value (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair

value measurement (Continued)

The movements during the reporting period in the

balance of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as

follows:

tREREERERIANAD

AREE@

H 2REEFEGE)
(i) VPN
EE(E)

REEFEZEREER

FE=RA B BB
ERMEBAZZ (&)

HEREANE=

R EER

EREBNESEINMT

2020 2019
—EEHF —NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T
Unlisted equity securities: FLEHERES
At 1 January R—HA—H 163,008 25,432
Additions B 1,330 160,740
Changes in fair value recognised in ~ FRN{EE 2R
profit or loss during the year NAEBEEZH 35,630 (23,571)
Effect of foreign currency exchange — SNISTE i, Z 5B H) /28
difference (9,968) 407
At 31 December R+—_A=+—8H 190,000 163,008
2020 2019
—EIERF —N&E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Wealth management products: HOER:
At 1 January S—H—H 571,398 809,430
Additions =T 193,501 825,292
Redemptions fE [ (539,337) (1,077,348)
Changes in fair value recognised in ~ FRN{EEzEHERH
profit or loss during the year NREEEE) (284) 64
Effect of foreign currency exchange — YMNESHE 3 Z ARV &
difference (32,229) 13,960
At 31 December R+—_A=+—8H 193,049 571,398
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

() Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair
value measurement (Continued)

Any gain or loss arising from the remeasurement of
the Group’s unlisted equity securities and wealth
management products held for strategic purposes are
recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried
at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were
not materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2019 and 2020.

29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,

including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in note 8 and certain of the highest paid employees
as disclosed in note 9, is as follows:

28 sRIEREERESRMIANAD
AREE@

(i)

UARBEFEZERHEER
& (&
BRI EEFTEREF S
ERMEBAZEZ (&)

EFEAEEBBERAZ
JE LM SRS MIEM Em AT
EE R ERN Bt i

5
17
o ©

iy

WAHRAAABEARNSRE
ERBENDAER
RZE-NEFRZZT_ZTF
+=ZA=+—8  REEZRK
A EHRARTERNSF T A
RRAEEREFEA L BELE
BARER

29 EXEBLRS

(a)

FTEEEASHM
AEBTEEEABNFH - 24
XN FARBEEH KA (RS
BRI RN TETRREFMEERN
R (RHEEOWER) I T

2020 2019

. —T-NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARET T

Short-term employee benefits 5 E B 1R A 12,095 15,274
Post-employment benefits RORAEF 451 384
12,546 15,658

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 6(b)).

FNemEnN 8 TR (R

6(0)) °
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29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 290 EXBEELIXRS @

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Related party balances and transactions (b)
Related party balances
(i) Non-trade balances with related parties:

BB SHRERRX S

BARE TS BR R

() BT AIIFE ZERRE -

2020 2019
—ECEHF —TNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Amounts due from entities controlled fEUFBEIE A ERKE
by members of key management ) B B R IR
personnel 75,033 50,800
Amounts due to entities controlled BNEEEEAEBKE
by members of key management ) B BRI IR
personnel (19,463) (23,683)

The outstanding balances with these related parties are
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed repayment
terms. The amounts due from related parties are
included in “Prepayments and other receivables”
(Note 20) and the amounts due to related parties are
included in “Accruals and other payables” (Note 24).

(i) Trade balances with related parties:

HZERB I WREERES
EIRA - 28 N B E R
HAMR - 8 W R Bt 05 SRIR AT A
[ T8 308 K H A e W 500 |
(Pi5E20) B A< BB RS 05 SRIR AT
Al FERT B E b A< 5738 | (Bt

024) o

(i) BT E ZERRE

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET AREFTT

Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIA 28,282 31,054
Trade payables B S e FRIA (336) (1,167)
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29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 290 EXBEELIXRS @

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Related party balances and transactions (Continued)
Related party transactions
The following is a summary of material related party
transactions. In the directors’ opinion, these transactions
were carried out in the ordinary course of business.

(b)

BB SBRERR S ()
BBE X5
UTRERBBIZXSHME -EF

R ZEXSHINBERBBE

(T o
2020 2019
—g-®F —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARETTT

Video production (Note) RAIBRE(F7E)
Advertising service revenue & & BRFS A
Advertising service cost E S ARG R AR
Recognition of impairment loss on IEMBE ETE IR

prepayments for non-current assets R EEE
Recognition of loss allowance on BLE A EUGRIE

other receivables EREIERE
Technical service fee income MR ERA

Note: The Group engaged an associate to produce videos during the
reporting period.

419 2,253

- 23,333

- 243
42,670 =
36,760 =
335 234

MiaE - RBMEHA - AEERE—
IR & A B BLEAR SR
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30 COMPANY - LEVEL STATEMENT OF 30 QAREMIBRRE

FINANCIAL POSITION

2020 2019
—EBCEF —E-NF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B AR®T T AREFIT
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries B A TREE 188,537 201,578
Other financial assets HihepidE 219,915 143,410
408,452 344,988
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries TEUS T B B Y 3R I8 1,000,818 540,083
Prepayments and other receivables TEA FRIE Je FoAth FE IR IR 115,082 141,647
Other financial assets Hih e & E 358,096 488,334
Cash and bank balances e NMIRITHER 647,630 1,021,875
2,121,626 2,191,939
Current liabilities nREAE
Amounts due to a subsidiary & — R B A R ZIA 135,938 =
Accruals and other payables FEET R E At B RRIE 268 888
136,206 888
Net current assets rnBEEFE 1,985420 . 2,191,051
Total assets less current liabilities #ZEERADERS 2,393,872 2,536,039
Net assets EEZHE 2,393,872 2,536,039
Equity R 27
Share capital A% 1,153 1,158
Reserves G 2,392,719 2,534,881
Total equity ERBE 2,393,872 2,536,039
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31

32

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform
with the current year’s presentation. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the current year’s presentation would better
reflect the financial performance of the Group.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the IASB has issued a number of amendments
and a standard, which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2020 and which have not been adopted in these
consolidated financial statements. These developments include
the following which may be relevant to the Group.

31

32

Ay e

ETHREHEHEHNOE  URFEARFE
B2 2%  RABERRA  NFENE
51177 A BEE 43 RAR AR S B RO B TR 3R -

E=S-BF+-A=+-
1L 4 [ B 48 448 1 2 3
BT A REROHEY

HERFAHMGmERIERR  BRg
STEAEEEEEMZEENZET R
—IHIER - BEEE_T-TF+=A
=+—ALFENRER - BMARKE
B ISHREREM - BIEA TS IEA] R
REEBBANEBEE
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32 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 32 #Zz=-Z-_ZFf+-A=+—

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 (Continued)

HIEFECBEMEERERD
g‘ﬂ CHEARBRENEES
= (&)

IFRS 17
BIpR B i R S AE RIS 1 755
Amendment to IFRS 16

BRI 75 3 2R R 5B 1655 2

Amendments to IFRS 3

Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments!
Rbz & R M ABRIERT

COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions*

FALE RS S AR 2 HE TR

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

PR B T 5 2RI SB35k 2 (85T BESHESR 2 fRitie
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 25

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7,
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

BIFR B RS ERIF IS - BREFHER| PSR BN —

395 - BRI MELRETIE -
BIFR B F5 2R R R SR 45%R K
BIFR M H5 3RS 2E RSB 1655 2 18R]

Be

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

BIFR M F5 3R 5 RIS 105k I
B & ET R 285k 2 &RT

Amendments to IAS 1

B S ERIFE 1R ZERT

Amendments to IAS 16
REETRERE 165 28
Amendments to IAS 37
Rt ERIEITR 2B
Amendments to IFRSs

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
WEEREBENFNAEEPE L HANEENEIEES

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current!
MENRIEMEBEN R

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use?
M RS KR — 1EHEE R AT B0 TS SRIR2

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a Contract?
BEEH—BITE R

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-20202

BIFR I TSR 2R ZER]

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

8 Effective for annual period beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments and a new standard is expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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Definitions and Corporate Information

BERRAER

“AGM”
[BERBFAE ]

“Alibaba”

[FEEE]

“Articles of Association”
(44 E=F240A) ]

“associate(s)”
B INI

“Audit Committee”
[EZZEE ]

“Auditor”
Kt il

“BabyTree BVI”

[BabyTree BVI]

“BabyTree Hong Kong”

[BEHEE]

“BabyTree Information”

[EEHHMER

“Beijing Lujin”

[IERESE]

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on June 10, 2021;
RRABER B —FRATERITHRRBERE :

Alibaba Group Holding Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands,
and listed on the New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: BABA) and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 9988), including, where the context requires,
any of its subsidiaries;

Alibaba Group Holding Limited(fT EEEBEEIFRBRAT]) - —RNHEHS
FEMBCAL - WRARKIE SR Z PR (BRID SR : BABA) RE BB P (ARID L5
9988) FH) AT - BIE(EXEME) HIEMHE AR

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time;
NAREEERMA - CTRHERT 5

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules;
BB AR TR

the audit committee of the Company;
RARIEZEZES

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, the auditor of the Company;
REBEBGTMEBABERAT » ANREZBED

BabyTree Holdings Limited, a business company incorporated under the laws of
the BVI on February 9, 2018 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company;
BabyTree Holdings Limited * —RRZZE— \FZANBIRBELABEBR S X
FEAMKIHNEEAR - RAARNEENEAG]

BabyTree Group Hong Kong Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of
Hong Kong on March 5, 2018 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of BabyTree BVI;
EEMERBSERAT  — KR 22—/ \F= AW ARBES LML
HJA T ABabyTree BVIK 2 EKB AT :

BabyTree (Beijing) Information and Technology Co., Ltd. (BE (1L )= R 1T
AR A7]), a company established under the laws of the PRC on August 8, 2007
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of BabyTree Hong Kong;
EEMQLR)EERMERAR  — KR F/\ A\ BRBEPEVEER
NHRR]  REBHEEN2EWNERA

Beijing Lujin Technology Development Co., Ltd. At RE£REHEBBRAT), a
company established under the laws of the PRC on May 28, 2013;
TRESREERAERAT  — XN - E—=FRA -+ /\BREFRBEEK
hva: /NG
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BERRAER

“Board” the board of Directors;

[EEg ] EEg

“BVI’ the British Virgin Islands;

[REER RS EEERRES

“CG Code” the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules;

[EERTA

ETRRIM SR+ TP E R E AT A

“China” or “PRC” the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires and
only for the purpose of this report, excluding Hong Kong, the Macau Special
Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan. “Chinese” shall be construed
accordingly;

[ REARKANE - MEXEMEREREAREMS - TEEEE - FEURPIRE

“close associate(s)”

[EZHEA

“Companies Law”

AITHER K A& » [P Bl EFLARRERRE -

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules;

BB EWARRIE TR ARRE

the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of

the Cayman Islands, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time;

[ARDE] SRS EDFE2R2ERANA(—NR—FEIFRED - K456 RIER]) - KT
&3] ~ FFE sk AE 5 B

“Companies Ordinance” the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;

[~ EHER CRRMEBID(BEEDIZE622F ) « LETREET » sk AR M B0k

“Company”, “our Company”, BabyTree Group (E &% &), a company incorporated under the laws of the

“the Company”, “BabyTree” Cayman Islands on February 9, 2018. The term “BabyTree” used by itself shall

have the same meaning unless the context requires otherwise;

[T [BEH ] ,\,\WEI(BabyTree Group) ' —FKR-ZE— \F-_ANBRERSHEEET
MARZH AT - RXESEEI  BRANIEER | —FAAEGHERNEE

“connected transaction” has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules;

[RAER 5] BB R T Z AR RE

“Contractual Arrangements” a series of contractual agreements reached to consolidate our interest in

Zhongming entered into among BabyTree Information, Zhongming and its

Registered Shareholders during Pre-IPO Reorganization;

BRILHE] %Ef?ﬁﬂ%% C RIS REE LR ERARE SR EAPR A AA H M
MRSV TIEXE — RF & D
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BERRAER

“Consolidated Affiliated Entity”

[AHBEERE

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Dragon Cloud”

[ Dragon Cloud ]

“Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement”

(CBREBAERR)
[CBREHA (e

“Exclusive Option and
Equity Entrustment Agreement”
(CBRBEE MREEE HE))
[CBXRIEEELIRETE R H)]

“FIL”
[CHNEIRE X))

“Fosun”

(B2 ]
“Fosun Health”
[E21@Rz]

“Fosun International”

[TE2BE ]

the entity we control through the Contractual Arrangements, being Zhongming;
HFEBEOTEHEHIRESR - BIRIE

the director(s) of the Company;

RRRESE:

Dragon Cloud Investment LLC, a company incorporated in Delaware and wholly-
owned by Ms. TANG Yu, who is the spouse of Mr. WANG Huainan;

Dragon Cloud Investment LLC » — KRR ZEM M HAF] - BTANG Yu
ZETE2EHRE - MTANG Yum+ AT IZEEERERRS

an exclusive business cooperation agreement dated May 23, 2018, entered
into by and among BabyTree Information, the Registered Shareholders and
Zhongming;

EBERER  BERREBRBZEFI VN R - \FAAZT=BHKE
REBAERZ)

an exclusive option and equity entrustment agreement dated May 23, 2018,
entered into among BabyTree Information, the Registered Shareholders and
Zhongming;

EBRER  BERREBRB B VN R - \FAAZT=BHKE
KB ERLRETE &)

the Foreign Investment Law ({F A RAEFMBISNE R EIE) );
(REARKMBEINGIREE)

Fosun International Limited and its affiliates, including Startree (BVI) Limited;
BEEBRBRERATIREBE AL - BiEStartree (BVI) Limited

Shanghai Fosun Health Industrial Holdings Limited (/518 2 (@ i ¥ A
fR 2 ®]), a company incorporated in the PRC and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Fosun International;

PEEERREEZERBERAGR  —KNPBEGFEMKZIAANR - REEBREREHN
EE2EWE AR

Fosun International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
00656);

EREBBRAR - —KNEBTMIH AT - BERGEERFTER (&
PSR - 00656)
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BERRAER

“Fosun Pharma”

“Global Offering”
[2EREE ]

“Group”

[ H

“Haitun International”

[ 5 [ B

“Hong Kong”

(&8

“IFRSs”
[EER A 35 s 2R AL

“Latest Practicable Date”

[SEERAITRH

“Lingheng Investment”

[EERE]

“Listing Rules”

[ AR A

268 Annual Report 2020 | BabyTree Group

Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd., a healthcare company
incorporated in the PRC, the shares of which are listed both on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 02196), and the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600196)

PEEERE(GEE)ROHABRAR - —KOFBEIEMAZMBERR - Hikip
PR P E AR (AR 5% - 02196) Ko HiBFE 532 H BT (B X5k - 600196) £

the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the Shares;

BIDNEBRFHRERBEFREE

our Company and all of our subsidiaries and the Consolidated Affiliated Entity
or, where the context so requires, in respect of the period before our Company
became the holding company of its present subsidiaries and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entity, the businesses operated by such subsidiaries and the
Consolidated Affiliated Entity or their predecessors (as the case may be);
RRABREMOAEMB AR RE B BRI EMER AR AR BHER
BB AR REHBEERNIZERARANIEMNS - AEEENEARIRE
HEEBERNHA S (REABBERAME )KL LNER

Haitun (Shanghai) International Trading Co., Ltd. (5[ /8B Z 5 AR A7),
a company incorporated in the PRC and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company;

HE EEBBRESERAR - —RPEFBIFMKZMAE - AEARBIMNEEE
ARBAT

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;
hEARAMBEEERHITTHRR

International Financial Reporting Standards;
B B 15 s 22 B

April 16, 2021, being the latest practicable date prior to the bulk printing and
publication of this annual report;
ZE-—FUATRE - IARFEREHENRRFENNREERAIITAL

Lingheng Investment Holdings (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (ZiE1&&ERALR)BRA ),
a company established under the laws of the PRC on October 29, 2015;
EEREEROER)ERAR - — KR ZE—AF T AT BRBEPBIERE
D AvA: VNCII

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time;
(BEEMERGMBRARRZS EHHRADE T RETMER)



Definitions and Corporate Information

BERRAER

“Main Board”

[ 4R

“Meitun Mama”

[ SRS |

“National People’s Congress”
[2BRARKREKARE]

“Ningbo Baoshu”

[ER B

“Ningbo Honghu”

[ZER %45 |

“Ningbo Yimengweima”

[BERAZRE]

“Ningbo Zhishan”

[ERE

“Nomination Committee”

[fRRZEE]

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel with GEM of the
Stock Exchange;

MBI ENEBEAFR ZA(TBIEIETS) - BN GEM @ (BEE
SEACE

Meitun Mama (Shanghai) E-commerce Co., Ltd. (EE 515 ( /&) EFEEER
/2 |]), a company established under the laws of the PRC on October 11, 2014,
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of BabyTree Information;
EEGEH(D8)EFEAKARARF  — KR ZE—OF+A+—BREFEDE
FERUHRE REBERMEENEEMBEAR

the National People’s Congress of People Republic of China (FF# A R £ FE &
BEARREARR)
FEARENMBEEARKERE

Ningbo Baoshu Investment and Management LLP (BRE#1R EE RSB Y
(BFRA %)), a limited liability partnership registered in the PRC on December 16,
2015, our employee shareholding platform;
EREHREEBEAECE(ARER) SR —RF+_A+BEF
Bl MHERE%EE  ARMHEIFKRTS

Ningbo Honghu Investment and Management LLP (B8 eI EE R A B
(BFRA %)), a limited liability partnership registered in the PRC on December 16,
2015, our employee shareholding platform;
ERBRRETEaBCEX(ARER) SR —RF+_A+BEF
Bl MEERE%EE  AEMHEIFKRTS

Ningbo Yimengweima Enterprise Management Center LLP (Z)F IAZ A B P EE
B O\(ERASE), alimited liability partnership registered in the PRC on January
5, 2017;

ERNSLAELEBTRTL(ARER)  —FR_T—tF—ARABEHRET
MEBREREE

Ningbo Zhishan Zhizhen Investment and Management LLP (223 & = F %54
BTEABMOEEREE)), a limited liability partnership registered in the PRC on
December 16, 2015, our employee shareholding platform;
EREELEREEEABLEAEREE)  — KR —RAF+=A+~H
EFREFMOEREELE  REMNEIHRKRTYA

the nomination committee of the Company;

ARBREEREE ¢
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BERRAER

“Powers of Attorney”

[Z7EE]

“PRC Legal Advisors”
[P B A2 B

“Pre-IPO Reorganization”
[BRAFZEEREE]
“Prospectus”

[T ERE

“Registered Shareholder(s)”

[ERCRIR

“Remuneration Committee”

[FHEEE]

“RMB”
[ARE]

“SFO”

“Share(s)”
[ &t5 |

“Shareholder(s)”
[P&ER |
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an irrevocable powers of attorney dated May 23, 2018 entered into between
each of the Registered Shareholders and BabyTree Information;
BECREREEMEEYMARA—S - \FRAA T =B TAIHEZ

Commerce & Finance Law Offices, being the legal advisors to the Company as
to the PRC laws;
IERTREEMERA - RAREEBTEDEEAEEER

the corporate reorganization of our Group in preparation for the Listing,
particulars of which are set out in the section headed “History, Reorganization
and Corporate Structure” in the Prospectus;

REBRERG ITMETHAREE  AEFBEHNBRERIESL BEAKA
ARG | —8n

the prospectus of the Company dated November 15, 2018;
ARBEPR-_ZE-N\F+—AT+HBHNBERER :

the shareholders of Zhongming upon completion of the Pre-IPO Reorganization,
being Mr. WANG Huainan, Lingheng Investment, Mr. SHAO Zhenping (Bl &
), Ningbo Zhishan, Beijing Lujin, Mr. WANG Yawei (F35{&), Ningbo Honghu,
Ningbo Baoshu, Ningbo Yimengweima and Mr. WANG Changying (£ & £8);
BRARBERNEETHERBORE - EEREE  RERE - BHRTE
FEREE CIERES  TRESAE  ERBR ERES  BERNERSE
RERBERE

the remuneration committee of the Company;
AARFHMEES

the lawful currency of the PRC;
HREDEEEH

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;

(BHLEHEGRID(EBEDIESTIE) » LTRHER] ~ MFAIAE T A&

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a par value of
US$0.0001 each;
RA R G IR EE0.0001 E TR & 3EAK

holder(s) of the Share(s);
B SuESZ =N



Definitions and Corporate Information

BERRAER

“Share Pledge Agreement”
(CBRAEE R
AR Hi7)

“State Council”
[ B9 74P

“Stardoctor”

“Startree”
[ Startree ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 32 P

“Strategic Committee”

[BREEE
“subsidiary” or “subsidiaries”

IE0SPNCI

Bl
al

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”
[FZERRR

“U.S.” or “United States”

ES=0

“U.S. dollars” or “US$”
EM

a share pledge agreement dated May 23, 2018, entered into among Zhongming,
the Registered Shareholders and BabyTree Information;

RIE  BRRRRBESMEECET VN ARA S \FAA-T=B8K
B

the State Council of People Republic of China ({3 A R FNEI A 52 A ERERAT);
hE ARAMBEEBE |

Shanghai Qinmiao Technology Company Limited (/838 ERHEER AT, a
joint venture company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability, shares of
which are held by Haitun International as to 50%, Fosun Pharma as to 10%, and
Fosun Health as to 40%;

FERERREARAR - — KPP EFMRIAEERF] - HhIHEEEIE
BEBENEERERAHELS0% * 10%K40%M 10

Startree (BVI) Limited, a substantial shareholder of our Company
Startree (BVI) Limited * ANARIMEBRE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;
BERBaRSMBRAR

the strategic committee of the Company;
AARBEEE S

has the meaning ascribed to it thereto in section 15 of the Companies
Ordinance;
BB REMEDIE15EM T ZAeRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules;

BB EWARRIE TR RARRE

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject
to its jurisdiction;
ENBERE  EELIRBHMEXZEGZEENEHTE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States;
EBEFEEBET
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BERRAER

“we,” “us” or “our” the Company or the Group, as the context requires;

[ 5 RABIAEE (X EAIE)

“Zhongming” Beijing Zhongming Century Science and Technology Co., Ltd. (It R BBt 42 k&t
BB AT, a company established under the laws of the PRC and a subsidiary
of the Company.

[R5 ] IRFRHELREERAT - —KRPREEMK AT - RARTNERA -
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BERRAER

Board of Directors
EEg

Executive Directors

BITES

Non-executive Directors

FHITESE

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHITES

Joint Company Secretaries

BEARME

Authorized Representatives

REAE

Mr. XU Chong

TR

Mr. PAN Zhiyong (Chief Executive Officer)
EEBAETIRE)

Mr. WANG Huainan (Chairman)
FTlEmEE(ERE)

Mr. QIAN Shunjiang

FRIET SR

Mr. GAO Min (Vice Chairman)
=L (BIERF)

Mr. WANG Changying
FTRALE

Mr. WU Ying

REgLE

Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN
Christian Franz REITERMANN 4

Mr. CHEN Guanglei
PRES LA

Mr. De-chao Michael YU
AfEERE A

Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu
Boh&EsE

Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang
ZHANG Hongjiangst 4

Ms. MA Lie
Bt

Ms. WU Miu Wah
AP ERL L

Mr. XU Chong
RIS LE
Ms. MA Lie
BJRlL L
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BERRAER

Audit Committee

EREES

Remuneration Committee

¥HEEE

Nomination Committee

REEES

Strategic Committee

BREEE
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Mr. CHEN Guanglei (Chairman)
PRESR LA (EFE)

Mr. De-chao Michael YU
AL E

Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang
ZHANG Hongjiang %t 4=

Mr. CHEN Guanglei (Chairman)
PREELE(ERE)

Mr. XU Chong

TR

Mr. WANG Huainan
FEAEE

Mr. De-chao Michael YU
BB &

Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang

ZHANG Hongjiang %t 4

Mr. WANG Huainan (Chairman)
FTEmEE(ERE)

Mr. CHEN Guanglei
PRESRTHE

Mr. De-chao Michael YU
AL E

Mr. WANG Huainan (Chairman)
ERE L (ER)
Mr. XU Chong
TR E A&

Mr. PAN Zhiyong
BEBRE

Mr. QIAN Shunjiang
FEIET S A

Mr. WANG Changying
FTRELSE

Mr. WU Ying
REFE

Mr. CHEN Guanglei
PRESR S E

Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu
BolBEE
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BERRAER

Independent Auditor
B E A

Hong Kong Legal Advisor
BREEER

Registered Office
AR EE

Corporate Headquarters

NEBE

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance
with the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

2nd Floor, 625 King’s Road

North Point

Hong Kong

ABERBEMEHAERLE

PACEA T B 3R R A6k 1) T O RE I A SR A 25 B 8 AR B

BB
1A
W2 EE255R21E

Miao & Co. (in association with Han Kun Law Offices)

Room 3901-05, 39/F

Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong
BREMSBH AT CLEREMEBEE)
BB

ERREBP155%

EiEISNEKRNE

39183901-05F

The Offices of Maples Corporate Servcies Limited
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

Maples Corporate Services Limited#3i = &
P.0.Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

6th Floor, Building A, Borui Plaza

No. 26 North Road of East Third Ring
Chaoyang District

Beijing

PRC

a3

i

HBE

R=RIALEK265%

183m K EAREGE
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BERRAER

Principal Place of Business
in Hong Kong
ERTETEE NI

Principal Share Registrar
in Cayman Islands
HEeRSRMBFETHERE

Hong Kong Share Registrar
BERNBFERTE

Principal Bank
FEARBIT

Company’s Website
DA
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Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong
B
SRAKBR1835E

B L541E

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square, Grand Cayman

KY1-1102, Cayman Islands

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square, Grand Cayman

KY1-1102, Cayman Islands

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor
Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong
ERPREBFBLZERAA
&

27

2RABR1835

AFF L
17181712-17165% 48

China Merchants Bank, Beijing Guanghua Road Branch
F2 Kerry Shopping Mall

No. 1 Guanghua Road

Beijing

PRC

BERTI RS THERIIT

i

1=

FEEERR5R

RER52ME

ir.oabytree.com
ir.babytree.com



EEH

¢~?boby’rree

BRIV A EE

We are where FAMILIES are.
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